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PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION,

It cannot be expected in the history of a town situated in the
interior, like Spencer, that many facts or incidents would have
happened, connected with its earliest settlement, and but few
events in the succeeding stages of its existence, would excite
much interest in the general reader ; and much less could this be
expected of any thing relative to the present state of the town or
its inhabitants. It may, however, lay some claim to antiquity, by
being once a component part of Leicester, but the annals of its
earliest period can exhibit no details of bloody conflicts with the
Indian, nor can it boast of having produced any great and illus-
trious characters, either in peace or war. No exciting or inter-
esting details of this kind, will form any part of this history.

These pages are the humble effort of a native citizen of
Spencer, and have been especially prepared for the benefit and
gratification of his fellow citizens of the town. The writer of
these sheets makes no pretension to the character of an accom-
plished writer, and indeed, the execution of such a work does not
require much talent, or literary acquirements. All that is neces-
sary, and all that may be expected, is a faithful detail of names,
dates, facts, incidents and events, such as have occurred with little

variation, in most of the towns of New England. The brief
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notices and genealogies of families, will undoubtedly be dull and
even tedious to the general reader, while others, and perhaps
most of the native inhabitants, will esteem this the most inter-
esting part of the work. However satisfactory or acceptable this
may prove, or however it may be esteemed, it has cost a great
deal of time and labor, indeed so much, that had it been known
and realized at the commencement, it would have been abandoned
before it was undertaken. The writer has aimed at the truth,
and every statement and fact of any importance, may be strictly
relied upon. For materials, access has been had to the County
Records of Suffolk, Middlesex and Worcester ; to the Council
and Legislative Records of Massachusetts; to histories of other
towns; to the town, church, and proprietors records of Leicester
and Spencer ; to Magazines, files of Newspapers, and occasional
sermons ; to ancient manuscripts, deeds, and other authentic
documents ; to the memories of aged people ; and even the tomb-
stones have furnished sources of information from which some-
thing has been gleaned. In the hope that it may be of some
benefit, and acceptable to the parents and children of his native
town, the author cheerfully submits it to their candor and intelli-
gence.



PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION.

The former edition of this work, written some twenty years
since, has long been out of print, but three hundred copies hav-
ing been published. This little publication having been received
with more favor than was expected, many calls have been made
for copies, and as none could be supplied, at the urgent solicita-
tion of many of his friends, the author has been induced to re-
write the book with additions and improvements. It will still,
undoubtedly, be found to contain imperfections, and probably
some errors, though none it is hoped of much importance. In
addition to other sources for materials in the compilation of this
work, it is with pleasnre I hereby acknowledge the assistance I
have from received Gov. Washburn’s valuable history of Leicester,
lately published. The genealogical department contains the list
of more than five hundred families, including the names of some
who had no children, and some, the names of whose children
could not be obtained, and including, also, some adult single
persons, who died unmarried. In many instances, the marriages
of the children are given with the lists of their births under the
parental head, and again, when they were actually married and
became the heads of families themselves. This repetition will
facilitate, rather than embarrass those who are seeking for this
particular information. 'Without further apology or explanation,
the compiler again cheerfully submits it to the candor and intelli-
gence of his fellow citizens.






INDEX.

As but few biographical notices are given in this work, the names of
persons, generally, will be found in alphabetical order, in the genealogical
department.

A.
Associates, names of, 15. Assessors, 148.
Agriculture, products of, 124.
B.
Boundaries of Leicester and Spen- Burgoyne, surrender of, 53.
cer, 24. Buildings in the centre village, 73.
Bunker Hill, battle of, 50. Baptists, 111.
C.
Census, 44. Cemeteries, 125.
Cornwallis capitulated, 59. Contagious Diseases, 1217.
Celebration of Mrs. Pope's 100th Cold Winter, 133.
birthday, 97. Cold Summers, 135.
Crosby, Rev. Stephen, 104. Committee of Correspondence, 136.
Catholics, 114. Casualties, 156.
D.
Dced, Indian, 10. Dodd, Rev. Stephen G., 107%.
Dudley, Joseph, 18. Dark Day, 133.
Division of lots in Spencer, 1st, 22. Delegates relating o the Constltu-
“ “ “ 2d, 23. tion, 146.
DeWarrville’s description, 70. Deaths of aged persons, 153.
E.
Ecclesiastical, Leicester, 79. Epidemic Discases, 128.
“ Spencer, 88. Earthquakes, 133.
Eaton, Rev. Joshua, 90. Eclipse, Solar, 134.
G. '
Grant, Original, of Leicester and Goddard, Rev. David, 817.
Spencer, 9. Graduates of Colleges, 143.
Gale, Henry, 66. Genealogies, 159.
H.
House lots located in Leicester, 19. High Winds, 134.
1.
Indians, petition respecting them, 30. Independence Declared, 50.
Incorporation of Spencer, 40. Industry, products of, 122, 123.
J.

Justices of the Peace, 144.
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L.
Lands allotted, 22, 23. Localities, 118.
Livermore, Abijah, rash conduct Lawyers, 141.
of, 66.
M.
Manners &c. of the people, 67. Methodists, 113.
Morals, 76. Minerals, 124.

Meeting houses built, 29, 79, 89, Money, depreciation of, 56.
111—114.
N )

Names of officers and soldiers, 273. Old tenor, 89.
P.
Proprietors of Leicester and Spen- Ponds, 119.
cer, notices of, 15. Post Offices, 121.
Population, 44. Products of Industryand Agricul
Prices of Commodities, 51. ture, 122-4.
Parsons, Rev. David, 79. Property of our ancestors, 137.
Pope, Rev. Joseph, 94. Physicians, 139.
Packard, Rev. Levi, 105.
R.
Roads located in Spencer, 36. Remarkable Phenomena, 132.
Roads, description of, 114. Representatives, 145.
Revolution, 45, Revolutionary Pensioners, 155.
S.
Settlement of Leicester and Spen- Streams, 120.
cer, 28. Seil and productions, 124.
Shays’ Insurrection, 60. Snow Storm, 132.
Seventy-five years ago, 74. Slavery, 130.
Sports of the people, 75. Senators, 146.
Schools and School Houses, 76. Selectmen, 146.
Singing, 108.
T.
Town Meeting in Leicester, first, 28. Town House, 121.
Tenor, old, 89. Town Clerks, 149.
Town officers, first chosen, list of, 42. Town T'reasurers, 150.
U.
Universalists, 112.
V.
Valuation for taxes, 52. Votes for Governor, 150.
W.
‘War closed, 59. ‘Washington, 135.

Wind High, 134.
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ISTORY OF SPENCER.

THE town of Spencer is situated cleven miles a little to
the south of west from Worcester, and about fifty miles in
the same direction by the nearest road from Boston, though
ten miles further by the Western Railroad. It is bounded
east, by the towns of Leicester and Paxton; north, by Pax-
ton (formerly a part of Rutland), and Oakham ; west, by
the towns of North Brookfield and Brookfield, and south by
the town of Charlton.

As Spencer was once a component part of Leicester, it will
be proper to give a sketch of Leicester, while it included
Spencer, until the latter became an organized town itself,
in 1753.

ORIGINAL GRANT.

In the latter part of the seventeenth century, and the
beginning of the eighteenth, certain wealthy and respectable
gentlemen belonging to Boston and vicinity, were in the
habit of purchasing large tracts of unsettled lands in the
interior of the State, containing a certain number of square
miles, with loose and indefinite boundaries, and then apply-
ing to the governor and council for a confirmation of their
title, in order to settle a ¢ plantation ”” thereon. Their ap-
plications to the State authorities were generally successful,

2
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and always upon the same conditions, viz: to settle a cer-
tain number of families within a certain number of years,
reserving a portion for the support of the ministry, and for
schools, then of course, the remainder would be theirs, to
dispose of to the best advantage to settlers. Leicester, Rut-
land, Hardwick and other towns were thus purchased, and
then disposed of.

One example may suffice to illustrate the operation of
these speculations. On the 22d of December, 1686, they
purchased of Joseph Trask, alias Puagastion, and other In-
dians, a tract of land twelve miles square, for twenty-three
pounds, which was confirmed to them by the General Court,
on condition that within seven years there then be 60 fami-
lies settled thereon, and sufficient lands reserved for the use
of a gospel ministry and schools. The town to be called
Rutland, &e.

In order to comply with the requisition of the General
Court, and to settle 60 families on the territory, they set
apart six miles square on the south-east part for that pur-
pose, which is now Rutland proper, except a part since being
set off, to help form the town of Paxton. When all this
was done, they had left for their own disposal, about seventy
thousand acres, since forming the large towns of Barre and
Hubbardston, the town of Oakham, and the most part of
Princeton.

These gentlemen, or a part of them, purchased of the
Indians, in the same manner, the town of Leicester. The
following is a copy of the Indian deed.

“ Know all men by these Presents, that we, the heirs of
Oraskaso, Sachem of a place called Toutaid, situate and
lying near the new town of the English called Worcester,
with all others which may under them belong unto the same
place aforesaid. These heirs being two women with their
husbands newly married, which being by name called Phillip
Tray with his wife Momokhue, and John Wampscon and
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Waiwaynom his wife, for divers good causes and considera-
tions us thereunto moving, and more especially for and in
consideration of the sum of fifteen pounds current money of
New England, to us in hand paid by Joshua Lamb, Nathaniel
Page, Andrew Gardner, Benjamin Gamlin, Benjamin Tucker,
John Curtice, Richard Draper and Samuel Ruggles, with
Ralf Bradhurst, of Roxbury, in the county of Suffolk in
New England ; the receipt of which we do fully acknowl-
edge ourselves to be fully satisfied and paid, have given,
granted, bargained, sold, alienated, infeoffed and confirmed,
and by these presents do fully and absolutely give, grant,
bargain, sell, alienate, infeoff and confirm, unto the said
Lamb, Page, Gardner, Gamlin, Tucker, Curtice, Draper, Rug-
gles and Bradhurst, their heirs and assigns, a certain tract
of land containing eight miles square, lying and being near
Worcester aforesaid, abutting on the lands of Joseph Dud-
ley, Esq., lately purchased of the Indians, and westerly, the
most southernmost corner upon a little pond called Paupok-
quamecok, then to a hill called Mossonachuds, and unto great
hill, called Aspomsok, and so easterly upon a line until it
comes against Worcester bounds, and joins unto these bounds,
or howsoever otherwise butted and bounded, together with
all and singular the rights, commodities, liberties, privileges
and appurtenances whatever to the same belonging, or how-
ever otherwise appertaining, to have and to hold the said
tract or parcel of land, situating, containing and bounding
as aforesaid, to the said Lamb, &c., their heirs and assigns, in
common tenancy, to their only proper use, sake of and ben-
efit forever. And the said Phillip Tray and Momokhue
and John Wampscon and Waiwaynom their wives, with all
others under them as aforesaid, do covenant, promise and
grant for themselves, their heirs, exccutors and administra-
tors, to and with the said Joshua Lamb, &c., their heirs and
assigns, that they will the above granted and bargained
lands, and every part and parcel thereof, with their and
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every of their appurtenances, warrant and defend from all
and every person and persons whatever, claiming any right
or title thereunto, or interest therein, from, by or under us.

In witness whereof, the said Phillip Tray and Momokhue
and John Wampscon with Waiwaynom their wives, hereunto
set their hands and seals this twenty-seventh day of Janu-
ary, Anno Domini one thousand six hundred and eighty-six.

Signed, sealed and delivered \ Phillip Tray ©) bhis mark (seal)

in presence of us, Momokhue Tray 1 her mark (seal)
Tom Tray © his mark. John Wamscon. (seal)
Nonawano o~ his mark. Waiwaynom Wamscon 1 e (seal)
Capt. & Moogus his mark. ~ Wandwoamag % the deacon Mis (seal)
Andrew 8 Pitteme his mark. Jonas his O wives mark (seal)

Phillip Tray, Momokhue his wife, Waiwaynom and Wan-
dwoamag, all personally appearing before me the under-
written, one of his Majesty’s Council of his territory and
Dominions of New England, June 1, 1687, did acknowledge
this instrument to be their act and deed.

William Stoughton.

Recorded, March 8th, 1713-14.
Pr. John Chandler, Town Clerk.”

The lands of Joseph Dudley, Esq., referred to in the above
deed as one of its boundaries, is a gore about one mile wide,
lying south of Leicester and Spencer. So much of this gore
as lay south of Spencer, was one or two years taxed to Spen-
cer, and when Charlton was incorporated, became a part of
that town. The eastern end of it, was in 1778 made a part
of Ward, now Auburn, and the remainder, in 1838, was an-
nexed to Oxford. The hill as another of its boundaries,
called ¢ Aspomsok,” is probably what is called ¢ Bumskit,”
and lies in the south-east part of Paxton, on the line between
that town and Holden, and called in some ancient documents
by the name of “ Hasnebumskit” or * Asnebumskit,” and
is the highest land in the county of Worcester, excepting
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Wachusett in Princeton. The date of the deed, January 27,
1686, to conform to the new style, should be Feb. 8, 1687,
‘that is, twelve days later. The acknowledgment of the deed
being dated March 8, 1713-14, is double dated, and should
be March 20, 1714.%

Nothing further is heard of this tract of land for more
than twenty-six years. The towns earlier settled, suffered
so much from the barbarous incursions of the Indians, that
instead of going forward in prosperity, their settlements
were broken up, themselves and families murdered, captured
or driven away, and their fields and improvements deserted,
exhibiting a scene of ruin and desolation.

Lancaster, the first settled town in the county, was in 1676
invaded in the night by King Philip at the head of 1500
savage warriors, and every inhabitant murdered, taken cap-
tive or obliged to flee for their lives. Every house but two,
out of more than 50, burnt, and the town lay entirely des-
olate, without an inhabitant, for more than three years.
Again, in King William’s war, and Queen Anne’s which fol-
lowed soon after, Lancaster was again invaded by the sava-
ges, many of the inhabitants murdered, and improvements

* There are many instances of double dating in ancient records previous
to 17562, between January 1st, and March 25th. Before that date, the year
commenced on the 25th day of March, and is called old style,—since the year
commenced on the 1st of January, and is called new style. Without going
into a more particular explanation, suffice it to say, that by adding ene day
to February, every fourth year, called leap year, was found to be a fraction
over the exact time of the earth’s revolution round the sun, and that in
about 1600 years, this fraction of time amounted to eleven days, and conse-
quently carried that number of days of spring, into the summer months.
In order to correct this error of the calendar, and bring it so as to corres-
pond with the time of Julius Ceesar, a period about 50 years before the
Christian Era, Pope Gregory XIII, in 1582, ordered 11 days to be stricken
from September, making the third day of that month the fourteenth., This
correction was not adopted in England or the American colonies, until 1752,
when it took place by an act of Parliament. In 1800, another day was
omitted, making 12 days, eo that to bring old style in new, 12 days must be
added.

2%
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greatly impeded or destroyed. Brookfield, in 1675, shared
the same fate, many of the inhabitants murdered, every
house burnt, and the town lay desolate, without an inhabit-
ant, for several years. Worcester, in 1675, there were six
or seven log houses, but when King Philip’s war broke out,
the inhabitants all deserted. After they returned, afid con-
siderable improvements had been made, in 1701 the town
was again entirely depopulated. Mendon, in 1675, July 14,
was attacked, and five persons killed ; the remainder through
fear abandoned the town, and Mendon, also, was without an
inhabitant for some time. Sutton was much retarded in its
settlement by the movements of the Indians; and Oxford,
settled in 1686 by the French Huguenots, were in a few years
wholly dispersed, and none ever returned, and this town also,
lay without an inhabitant until about 1714 or 1715.

During all this time, Leicester was an entire wilderness,
without a single white inhabitant, so that at the conclusion
of peace in 1713, she was ready to start an almost even race
with her earlier sisters, and was soon on an equality
with them in population, physical resources, and refinement.

At the close of the war, the proprietors, after waiting so
long, presented o the General Court a petition, praying a
“ confirmation of thesaid tract to them and their associates;
that they may be encouraged to proceed to settle the same
with inhabitants, under such directions and reservations as
may be thought meet.” Accordingly, on the 15th of Keb-
ruary, 1713-4, it was “ordered that the prayer of the pe-
titioners be granted ; provided that within seven years time,
fifty families settle themselves in as defensible and regular
way as the circumstances of the place will allow, on part of
said land ; and that a sufficient quantity thereof be reserved
for the use of a Gospel ministry there, and a school. Pro-
vided, also, that this interfere with no former grant, and
this grant shall not excced the quantity of eight miles
square. The town to be called Leicester, and to belong to
the county of Middlesex.”
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On the 23d of the same month of February, the original
grantees admitted thirteen other gentlemen as associates
and proprietors of the said township. The following are
the names of all the proprietors at this time, viz: Joshua
Lamb, Samuel Ruggles, Benjamin Gamlin, Benjamin Tucker,
Jonathan Curtice, Ralf Bradhurst, Richard Draper, Thomas
Gardner, Nathaniel Page, Jeremiah Dummer, Paul Dudley,
John Clark, Addington Davenport, Thomas Hutchinson,
John White, William Hutchinson, Francis Wainwright, John
Chandler and Thomas Howe as one, and Daniel Allen and
Samuel Sewall as one, and William Dudley, making twenty-
two proprietors for twenty shares.

These proprietors were gentlemen of wealth and respect-
ability, and many of them of high standing in the commu-
nity, and whose public transactions have found a place in
history.

JosuUA LAMB, belonged to Roxbury, was Colonel of one
of the Suffolk regiments, a magistrate and a great land-
holder; was one of the proprietors of the town of Hard-
wick, and for whom the town, before its incorporation, was
called Lambstown. He is said to be the ancestor of all of
the name of Lamb, who first settled, or are now living in
Spencer.

SAMUEL RucGLES, also belonged to Roxbury. He was the
grand-father of the celebrated brigadier Timothy Ruggles,
of Hardwick. Samuel Ruggles died 17186.

BENJAMIN GAMLIN, was also from Roxbury, and was the
grand-father of the first wife of the late Stephen Rogers of
this town. Mr. John A. Barclay is one of the sixth gener-
ation from Mr. Gamlin, and now inherits the estate.

BensamIN TUCKER, from Roxbury also. He died in 1728.
Samuel Tucker, one of his sons, lived and died in this town,
where Mr. Amos Bemis now lives. The wife of Mr. Bemis
is one of his grand-daughters.

JoNATHAN CURTICE, (the name now written Curtis,) was also
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from Roxbury. Two of his sons, John and Jonathan, came
to Leicester or Spencer. John died in. Spencer, and a notice
of him will be found in this work.

RALF BRADHURST, also belonged to Roxbury. Nothing in
particular is known of him. This name was afterwards
written Bradish.

RricaARD DRAPER, was a merchant of Boston. He was from
Boston in England. He sold all his right in the purchase
to the Rev. Joseph Parsons of Boston, in 1714 or 1715, be-
fore the shares were surveyed and allotted to the proprietors.
He died without leaving any posterity.

THOMAS GARDNER, son of Andrew Gardner, one of the
original grantees from the Indians, was from Brookline.
He died 1757. One of the name of Andrew Garduner, was
minister of Worcester, and he afterwards, or one of the
name, was minister of Lunenburg.

NATHANIEL PAGE, belonged to Billerica. He was one of
the proprietors of Hardwick, where many of bis posterity
still remain.

JEREMIAH DUMMER, was born in Boston, and educated at
Harvard College. He was agent for Massachusetts, from
1710 to 1721, and was also judge of the Supreme Court.
He was distinguished for talents and learning, being an
author of reputation. He was called in history “a great
man.” He died in 1739.

PauL DupLey, was son of Gov. Joseph Dudley, and grad-
nated 1690, at the head of his class, as was, also, Jeremiah
Dummer. At this period, students at college were not
placed in alphabetical order as at present, nor according to
their literary attainments, but according to their rank in
society. The highest in dignity placed at the head of the
class. But there was an aristocracy in those days, while
connected with Great Britain, which in these days of liberty
and equality, would be obliged to hide its head in obscurity,
although the Hon. Paul Dudley was a worthy gentleman.
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He was appointed by Queen Anne, Attorney General of
Massachusetts in 1702, and also, Chief Justice of the Su-
preme Court. He died in 1751, aged 78.

JOHN CLARK, was graduated at Harvard College in 1687,
was a representative to the General Court from Boston, and
chosen Speaker in 1721. He died December, 1728, aged 61.
His son of the same name, an eminent physician in Boston,
inherited his father’s estate in Spencer.

ADpDINGTON DAVENPORT, was of Boston; was one of the
Judges of the Supreme Court; elected one of the Council.
Was graduated at Harvard College in 1689. Died 17386,
aged 60.

Tromas HuIcHINSON, was a distinguished merchant of
Boston, Colonel of a regiment, many years a Counsellor, and
father of the late Governor Hutchinson. He was the man
who personally seized the notorious privateer, Capt. Robert
Kidd, when he offered violence to all who approached him.
He died 1739, aged 65.

JoHN WHITE, was for many years clerk of the House of
Representatives. He died of the small pox, 1721,

WitLramM HurcHINSON, was a man of large fortune, was
a Representative from Boston to the General Court. He
died about 1721.

FraNcis WAINWRIGHT, was a merchant of Boston. He
sold his share to Samuel Bannister, a merchant of Boston,
March 10, 1717.

JOHN CHANDLER, belonged to Woodstock, Conn., then con-
sidered as belonging to Massachusetts. He was one of the
Council, one of the proprietors of Oxford, Chief Justice of
the Court of Common Pleas, of the first Court established
at Worcester, also, first Judge of Probate for said County,
and Colonel of a regiment. He died 1743.

Tnomas Howk, was a gentleman of Marlborough, and a
leading man of that town, and ancestor of the numerous
families of that name in that town and vicinity.
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DANIEL ALLEN, was a merchant of Boston.

SAMUEL SEWALL, was a gentleman belonging to Brookline.

WriLLiam DupLEY, belonged to Roxbury, son of Governor
Joseph Dudley, and younger brother of Hon. Paul Dudley,
was speaker of the House of Representatives, an active officer
at the taking of Port Royal, in Nova Scotia, Colonel of a reg-
iment, and one of the Judges of the Court of Common Pleas.
Died 1743, before his elder brother.

Josepn DupLey., Having thus given brief notices of all
the original proprietors of the town of Spencer, it may not
be improper to add a notice of Gov. Joseph Dudley, father
of Paul and William, as he has been mentioned in the ancient
Indian deed as owner of the South Gore of land, previously
described. He was a younger son of Thomas Dudley, first
Lieut. Governor of Massachusetts in 1630. He was ap-
pointed Governor of Massachusetts by King William in
1701, which office he held until 1716. He had been pre-
viously a member of Parliament in England, and Lieut.
Governor of the Isle of Wight, and was appointed by King
James, in 1686, President of the Council of Massachusetts.
He was also appointed by King James Chief Justice of the
Province of Massachusetts, and was appointed by King
William, Chief Justice of New York: this last office, how-
ever, he did not accept. He was graduated at Harvard
College in 1665. He died in 1720, aged 73.

On the same date of the last deed, Feb. 23, 17134, the
proprietors met at Boston and voted ¢ that one-half of the
Township of Leicester be disposed of, or sold to fifty fami-
lies that shall settle and establish themselves there accord-
ing to the injunction of the General Court. That the
other half shall be divided to and among the twenty pro-
prietors, into twenty thousand acre lots, to contain one
thousand acres or less.” ¢« That Col. Dudley, Capt. Chandler,
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Capt. Lamb, Capt. Howe and Capt. Ruggles, be the com-
mittee to determine the half for the proprictors and the
half for the settlers of the said town.”

The said committee concluded to appropriate the eastern
half for the settlers part, and on the 15th of May, 1714,
they repaired to the easterly half of Leicester for the jur-
pose of locating house lots, to such persons as chose to take
them on the prescribed conditions. These conditions were,
that one shilling per acre should be paid for cach house lot,
and that a family should be settled on each of them within
three years, or else be forfeited and returned to the propri-
etors. These house lots contained generally forty acres, but
some lots contained fifty acres, and some only thirty, and
every house lot was entitled to one hundred additional acres,
to be taken up in some other part of the town, to every ten
acres of house lots. Thus, by paying forty shillings, a
settler was entitled to a house lot of forty acres, and four
hundred acres in addition. Roads were located between the
ranges of housc lots, and two of those, one running north
and the other south, from the present village, still remain
substantially where first located.

The first house lot was granted to John Stebbings, of whom
mention will hereafter be made. This was located on
Strawberry Hill, the present site of Leicester village, and
extended principally south of the present Main street.

Several failed to comply with the preseribed conditions,
so that more than eight years expired before fifty families
were permanently settled on the territory, when, at a meet-
ing of the proprietors at the ¢ Green Dragon tavern,” in Bos-
ton, on Monday the 23d day of July, 1722, it was voted,
“ That Col. Wiliam Dudley, Lieut. Col. Joshua Lamb,
Nathaniel Kanney, (since written Kenney), Samuel Green,
and Samuel Tyley, be a committee, and fully authorized and
empowered to execute good and sufficient deed of convey-
ance in law, by order and in the name of the proprietors of
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Leicester, for the one half of that township, viz. the easterly
half, to the first grantors or settlers thereon.”

On the 11th of January, 1724, (Feb. 23, 1725, N. S.))
a deed of the easterly half of Leicester was executed by
the committee, conveying it to the following persons, they
having settled their own families, or placed others thereon,
viz. John Stebbings, Joseph Stebbings, James Wilson, Sam-
uel Green, Arthur Cary, Moses Stockbridge, Hezekiah Russ,
John Peters, William Brown, Thomas Hopkins, Daniel Den-
ney, John Smith, Ralf Earle, Nathaniel Kanney, Samuel
Stimson, Benjamin Woodbridge, John Lynde, Josiah Wins-
low, Josiah Langdon, Joshua Henshaw, Mr. Joseph Parsons,
Nathaniel Richardson, John Menzies, Esq., Thomas Baker,
Richard Southgate, Samuel Prince, Dorothy Friar, Thomas
Dexter, William Keen, James Winslow, Stephen Winchester,
Paul Dudley, Esq., Joseph Sargent, Daniel Livermore, James
Southgate, Daniel Parker, Esq., and John King, being 37
persons, only ; but some of these settled two or three fami-
lies in different parts of the town, making fifty families in
the whole. Several of these families have left numerous
descendants, such as the Greens, the Dennys, the Earles,
the Henshaws, the Southgates, &e.

Nathaniel Kanney, Josiah Langdon, Josiah and James
W.nslow, Samuel Prince, Joseph Parsons, Thomas Baker
and Paul Dudley, were never residents of Leicester, but set-
tled other families there.* John Stebbings, and James

% Nathaniel Kanney and Josiah Langdon belonged to Boston, as did Mr.
Joseph Parsons, and the name was sometimes written ‘ Rev. Joseph Par-
sons.” Josiah and James Winslow were probably from Freetown, County of
Bristol, as John Winslow of Freetown was a large landholder in Spencer,
in the first settlement of the town. Thomas Baker was called * Capt.
Thomas Baker, of Brookfield.” Paul Dudley belonged to Roxbury as before
mentioned. Samuel Prince, Esq., was from Middleborough, afterwards of
Rochester. Died 1748, aged 80. He was the father of the Rev. Thomas
Prince, Minister o‘t“‘&f Old South Church, Boston, and a distinguished
author ; in honor &f oth; the town of Princeton took its name.
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Wilson soon removed from the eastern part of Leicester,
and were some of the first settlers of Spencer.

In the meantime, the Proprietors having disposed of their
interest in the eastern part of the township, turned their
attention to the sale and settlement of the western part.
Previous to this date, 1725, three families had settled in
that part of the town, viz: Nathaniel Wood, Samuel Bemis
and John Greaton. October 11, 1716, the proprietors met
at Boston, and voted,

Ist. That the western half of the township of Leicester,
be divided among the proprictors in as speedy time as may
be.

2d. That all tracts of meadow of twenty acres and up-
wards, be first surveyed and laid out in equal proportions to
the proprietors.

3d. That the large pond called Moose pond, (now Whit-
temore pond,) lie and be in common for all the proprietors,
and convenient highways be laid out thereto.

4th. That all cedar swamps lic in common for the pres-
ent, saving that no person be allowed to sell, dispose or
destroy, any more than for his own use.

5th. That 10,000 acres of this western half, be laid out
in two distinct divisions or allotments, of 5000 acres each
division, and allotted out to and among the respective twenty
proprietors, viz: 250 acres in each allotment or division, as
soon as may be.

6th. That as soon as twenty-five families are settled
within said township, the proprietors, as an encouragement
to the settlement of religion among them, will advance and
give the sum of forty pounds, towards the building a meet-
ing house,.

These 40 lots were surveyed, and an additional one for
the use of schools and the ministry, under the direction of
the committee, by Capt. William Ward, surveyor, being 500
acres for each share, in two lots of 250 acres each.

3
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The proprietors again met in Boston, June 6, 1717, to
make the division among themselves. Having put two
numbers on each piece of paper, each number representing
250 acres, they proceeded to draw lots, and the result was
as follows:

Eliakim or William Hutchinson, drew No. 15 & 16.
John Clark, Esq., “ 4« 20 & 22.
Addington Davenport, Hsq., “ o« 17 & 30.
Thomas Hutchinson, Esq., “« «  6& 35.
Paul Dudley, Esq., «“ « 29 & 30.
Jeremiah Dummer, Esq., “ o« 4 & 39.
William Dudley, “ o« 5 & 32

Samuel Prince & Daniel Allen as one, « o« 2& 31,
John Chandler & Thos. Howe, Esqs., as one, ¢ « 8 & 9.

John White, Gent, « o« 13 & 14.
Joshua Lamb, « o« 10 & 18.
Benjamin Gamlin, “ o« 11 & 12,
Capt. Samuel Ruggles’ heirs, ¢« 97T & 28.
Jonathan Curtis, “ o« 33 & 4.
Francis Wainwright, «“ o« 37 & 38.
Benjamin Tucker’s heirs, oo« 7T&19.
Andrew Gardner’s assigns, “ o« 1 & 25,
Richard Draper’s assigns, “ o« 3 &40.
Nathaniel Page’s heirs, “ o« 24 & 26.
Ralf Bradhurst, «“ o« 21 & 238.

These 10,000 acres comprise about one-half of Spencer,
taking nearly all the land north of the great Post road,
with only three or four lots south of it. The first settle-
ments commenced on these lots. This was called the first
division, and many of these lots were one mile in length,
and 125 rods in width.

After the first division was made, but little had been done
toward settling inhabitants thereon, when another meeting
of the proprietors was held at the Green Dragon tavern in
Boston, November 23, 1726, when it was voted that the re-
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mainder of the upland, together with all meadows not ex-
ceeding twenty acres, be divided into 40 lots, and that all
the meadows exceeding twenty acres, be divided into twenty
lots, and the cedar swamps be left in common for the use of
all the proprietors. And it was further voted, that ¢ Capt.
William Ward, surveyor, together with Thomas Green,
Steward Southgate and Benjamin Tucker, Jr., be the commit-
tee to survey and lay out the proprietors’ uplands and mead-
ows, according to the foregoing vote.”

Said committee having performed the services assigned
them, made their report of their doings, May 7,1730. The
result was, that the uplands were divided into 40 lots, each lot
containing 240 acres, amounting to 9600 acres; 20 lots of
meadow, each lot 9 acres, being 180 acres ; the cedar swamp
77 acres, 20 acres of upland to be added to the meadow, one
acre to each lot, all these together with the school and minis-
try lot, containing 250 acres, made the whole of the second
division according to these numbers, to be 10,127 acres.
The upland lots were numbered from 41 to 80 inclusively,
and the meadows from one to twenty. Two numbers of
upland and one of meadow were placed together on twenty
picces of paper, one for each proprietor.

July 28, 1730, a meeting of the proprictors was held at
the Widow Bayley’s in Roxbury, “to draw lots for their re-
spective shares in the second division.” The result was as
follows:

Proprietors. Meadow lots. No. Upland lots. Nos,
John Chandler & Thos. Howe, Esq., assigns, “ 1, ¢« 41 77.
Mr. John White’s heirs, «“ 20« TG 42,
Jeremiah Dummer, Esq., heirs, “ 3, “ 43 44,
Josiah Willard, Esq., « 4« 59 45.
Eliakim Hutchinson, Esqr’s heirs, “« b, ¢« 8075,
Paul Dudley, Esq., “ G, ¢« 4T 46.
Benjamin Tucker’s heirs, «“ 7, <« 506 53.
Andrew Gardner’s assigns, “« 8, <« 7452,
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Proprietors. Meadow lots. No. Upland lots. Nos.
Mr. Benjamin Gamlin, “y, « 7255
Ralf Bradhurst’s heirs, “ 10, ¢« 50 68.
Richard Draper’s assigns, “ 11, ¢« 73 64.
Jonathan Curtice’s heirs, “ 12, « 79 67.
William Dudley’s assigns, “ 13, « 49 65.
Capt. Samuel Ruggles’ heirs, “ 14, ¢« 48 57.
Thomas Fitch, Esq., “« 15, ¢« 69 66.
John Clark, Esqr’s heirs, “ 16, « 6278.
Nathaniel Page’s assigns, “ 17, « 60 54,
Addington Davenport, Esq., “ 18, « 71 63.
Thomas Hutchinson, Esq., « 19, ¢« 6170.
Lieut. Col. Joshua Lamb, “ 20, « 58 51.

It will thus be seen, that of the twenty-two original pro-
prietors, five only retained their shares, nine had assigned
to others, and eight deceased, even while their shares re-
mained in common and undivided.

The 180 acres of meadows in the division, comprised sev-
eral detached pieces, being seven-mile river meadow, com-
monly called the “ Great meadow ;” Branch meadow in the
north-east part of the town; Cranberry meadow in the south
part, now overflowed, and the meadow north of and adjoin-
ing Cedar swamp.

BOUNDARIES OF LEICESTER AND SPENCER.

In 1714, John Chandler, Esq., by order of the General
Court, made a survey of the whole town. His return, ac-
companied with a plan, was made June 19 of the same year,
and established by the court as the legal bounds of the
town. According to his survey, the east line on Worcester,
was north and by west, 8 miles and 20 rods; north on Rut-
land, west 7 deg. north, 7 miles and 100 rods; west on
Brookfield, due north and south, 8 miles ; south on the gore,
east 4 deg. south, 9 miles and twenty rods, eontaining
« forty thousand nine hundred and sixty acres, being the
quantity of eight miles square.”
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This was, without doubt, an incorrect survey, and the
inhabitants of Brookfield were dissatisfied with the line
against their town, and the selectmen notified the selectmen
of Leicester to unite with them in running a new line
between the two towns, claiming to extend the line several
rods further East. This claim caused no little alarm with
the owners of the soil; because, if admitted, they would
not only lose a portion of land which they supposed was
honestly theirs, but would entirely unsettle the whole divi\-
sion and location of their lots, as they were surveyed accord-
ing to the line made by Col. Chandler.

The selectmen, or rather others more interested, of the
town of Leicester, instead of courteously responding to
this notification, appealed to higher authority. At a session
of the Legislature, June 2, 1727, the proprietors and inhabi-
tants of Leicester presented a petition praying that the
proceedings of the selectmen of Brookfield might be stayed
for the present, as “ they apprehended that the proceedings
of the selectmen of Brookfield design, under pretence of a
line run and marks lately made by them, to encroach very
much wpon the Township of Leicester.”” The prayer of the
petition was granted.

This petition from the proprictors, was substantially, a peti-
tion to themselves, so far as the highest branch of the legis-
lature consisted, being the Governor and council, who sat in
one room and resembled the Senate in these days. Itmay
perhaps, be pardoned, if a digression be made, to give the
names of a part of those who composed this branch of the
legislature when this petition was presented.

Present, William Dummer, Lieut. Governor.

Penn Townsend, Addington Davenport,
Thomas Fitch, Paul Dudley,
Meletiah Bourne, John Clark,

Thos. Palmer, Edward Hutchinson,

John Chandler, and others of the Council.
3%
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Every one of these gentlemen, including the Lieut. Gov-
ernor, were either owners of land or otherwise interested at
this time, in the westerly part of Leicester. But their de-
cision was honorable and disinterested, nevertheless, as the
sequel will show.

At the next session, John Chandler again, with two other
gentlemen, were appointed a committee, who together with
Capt. William Ward as Surveyor, repaired to the scene of
contention in order to set the matter right. There was no
dispute as to the northern bound, as this had been fixed by
a * Capt. Hawley,” when he ran the line for Brookfield in
1701, and was acquiesced in by Brookfield, Rutland, (now
Oakham,) Leicester, (now Spencer,) and Braintree Farms,
as New Braintree was then called, and still remains the true
bound. Capt. Hawley in 1701 commenced here and ran the
line south, but it was found to be incorrect. Col. Chandler
in 1714, run the line, as he pretended, due north and south,
but he was undoubtedly an incorrect surveyor. Capt. Wil-
liam Ward, when he protracted the lots for the proprietors
in 1715, admitted this to be the true line. But the select-
men of Brookfield procured Capt. Timothy Dwight, in 1719,
to run the line anew, and his course was south 2 deg. east.
By this course, a triangular piece of land, 40 rods wide at
the south, running to a point at the north, was taken from
what was supposed to be Leicester, being 22 rods at the
great post-road, and taking seventeen acres from the farm
of Nathaniel Wood, though he was allowed still to keep pos-
session of the dissevered tract.

The first division of lots only had been made at this
time, so that the south part of the town was not affected
much by this new line, but it created difficulty in the lots
of the first division. Steward Southgate, unauthorized it is
said, protracted these lots anew. But the owners would not
all agree to the alterations thus made, much difficulty ensued,
and some expensive law-suits were the consequence. It will
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be perceived that the report of the committee was in favor
of the line made by Mr. Dwight, and was accepted by the
General Court.

It is not strange that such discrepancy should result in
the doings of the several surveyors, in trying to find or make
a divisional line between the towns, as they were obliged to
carry on their operations with no sure guides. The loose
and indefinite boundaries in the Indian deed to Leicester
have been given, but the boundaries given in the Indian
deed to Brookfield, in 1865, are still more obscure and unin-
telligible.

In 1880, the town of Spencer was surveyed by William
Baldwin, Esq., and the following are the lines and courses
of his survey: Beginning at a stone monument, it being the
south-west corner of Spencer on Brookfield line, from thence
running on Charlton south 8 deg. east, four miles and
forty-three rods to a stone monument on Leicester line;
thence on Leicester, north 2 1-2 deg. west, six miles and one
hundred and forty rods to a stone monument, being the
south-west corner of Paxton; thence same course two miles
and ten rods to a stone monument on the Rutland line;
thence on Rutland (now Paxton) line south 85 deg. west,
one mile and forty-one rods to a stone monument, being the
south-cast corner of Oakham, thence same course on Oakham
two miles and two hundred and ten rods to a stone monu-
ment, being the north-west corner of Spencer, the south-
west corner of QOakham, the south-east corner of New
Braintree and the north-east corner of North Brookfield ;
thence south 1-2 deg. east on North Brookfield, four miles
and one hundred and twenty rods to a stone monument, be-
ing the dividing point between North Brookfield and Brook-
field; thence same course on Brookfield four miles and sixty-
six rods to the place of beginning, containing 21,594 acres.

In tracing the lines between towns, owing either to the
imperfection of the instruments, the blunders of surveyors,
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the variation of the needles, or the misplacements of the
intermediate monuments, scarcely any two surveys agree, so
that at last, we obtain only an approximation of the true
course. For instance, the line between the towns of Spen-
cer and Leicester on the north, and Charlton and Oxford on
the south, is one continued straight course. Col. Chandler’s
line in 1714, makes this course east 4 deg. south, or what
is the same, south 86 deg. cast. The line of Wm. Baldwin
in 1880, is south 88 1-2 deg. cast, the same line made by
the surveyors of Leicester in 1855, is south 87 deg. east.

SETTLEMENT OF LEICESTER AND SPENCER.

The first town-meeting on record, was held March 6,
1721, for the choice of town officers. It is known, however,
that there must have been a town-meeting, the year previ-
ous, and town officers chosen, for at a meeting in May, 1721,
a vote was passed choosing ¢ the present selectmen a com-
mittee to reckon with the last year’s treasurer for monies
already raised, &c.” I have lately ascertained, not only
that a town-meeting was held previous to the one on record,
but the very day on which it was held, as the following doe-
ument, copied entire from the records of the Governor and
Council, will show.

“July 21, 1720.

“ A petition of Wm. Dudley, Esqr., for and in behalf of
the town of Leicester, shewing that said town on the 9th
day of March last, being legally warned to raise money to
defray town charges, which are arisen or may arise in fin-
ishing the Meeting-house, and doing what is necessary to be
done. Voted, that the sum of 5 shillings be raised and
levied on each poll or head in the town, and the sum of two
pence on each acre of land, both divided and undivided, in
the said town of Leicester, be levied by the selectmen, and
both these rates to be made as soon as may be, in order to



HISTORY OF SPENCER. 29

pay the debts, &e. Praying that the said vote may be rat-
ified, &e. The town at present not having the power to put
1t into execution.

In the house of Representatives, ordered that the prayer
of the petition be granted.

In Council, read and concurred.
Consented to  SAMUEL Snute.”

By this document it is made to appear, that a previous
meeting had been held, and town officers chosen; that a
meeting house was already erected, though unfinished. That
the proprietors assessed the inhabitants towards the expense
of building the house, (as they afterwards did the people of
Spencer for the same object,) and other “debts,” and that
although they had so far exercised elective franchise as to
choose municipal officers, and even elect a representative,
yet they were destitute of the power to assess and collect a
tax. Accordingly, June 14, 1722, John Minzies, with the
other selectmen, presented a petition to the General Court,
“ praying that the town may be confirmed in the enjoyment
of the powers and privileges of a town, and be enabled to
collect a tax, &c.” ¢ Granted, and Daniel Denny author-
ized to collect taxes as constable, &ec.”’

Judge Minzies represented the town in 1721, although
there is no record of it, but at a town-meeting, May 5, 1722,
the town voted ‘ to pay his honor, Judge Minzies, Esq., for
his serving us in the General Court the year 1721.” But
Judge Minzies declared himself satisfied without any pay,
whereupon it was voted ¢ that Judge Minzies be our repre-
sentative for the year 1722.”

The same year, the town voted, that if Joseph Parsons,
Esq., would build a corn mill for the use of the town, it
should be free from taxes. It was accordingly built, and
stood, as tradition says, about half a mile west of the
meeting house, near the site of the brick card factory.
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In 1723, Judge Minzies was again elected a representa-
tive, and again refused to receive any remuneration for his
services, declaring he was * fully satisfied and paid.” The
next year, 1724, being again assembled for the choice of a
representative, they passed a vote of thanks to Judge Minzies
“ for his good service as a representative the year past, and
whoever should be chosen this year, should be paid the same
as Judge Minzies, and no other.” They then made choice of
Lieut. Thomas Newhall ¢ to serve on the above conditions.”

It has been mentioned, that after the peace between the
English and French, in 1713, the incursions of the Indians
and their murderous attacks upon the inhabitants of New
England ceased, except upon the extreme border towns, and
the town of Leicester not being settled until after that
period, escaped any actual hostile incursions from these sav-
ages; the earlier settlers of the town were frequently
alarmed and disturbed by small parties or individual Tndians
prowling about the neighborhood or through the town.
Garrisons for the safe-guard and protection of families were
established in various parts of the town, and one around the
house of the Rev. Mr. Parsons, near the meeting-house.
The following document will show the situation and feclings
of the people at this time.

“ Leicester, April 30, 1725.
“To his Honour the Lieutenant Governor.

“ With all dutiful respect, these are to acquaint your
Honour, that just now there came news to us of two com-
panies of Indians between us and the Wachusetts, which is
very surprising considering our inability for our own safe-
guard. As to the truth of the report, with the circum-
stances, we are altogether at a loss: but we hear there is a
Post gone down to your Honour about it. Your Honour hav-
ing always been ready to keep us, and we having had some
encouragement upon our late petition, we are encouraged to
besecch your Honour, if it may be that we have some speedy
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assistance of Soldiers to defend us. Our number of inhabi-
tants is very small, and several were much discouraged. It
was so late the last summer before we had Soldiers that we
were exceedingly behind with our business. So wishing
your Honour all happiness, and confiding in your Honour,
and rather from our experience ; we are your Honours in all
gratitude and obedience,

Thomas Newhall, John Smith,
Richd. Southgate, James Southgate,
Benjamin Johnson, William Brown
Ralf Earle, Nathl. Richardson.

John Lynde,
“To the Honourable William Dummer, Licutenant Gov-
ernor, dwelling in Boston, for his majesty’s scrvice.”

In 1722, scouts were posted in Leicester, under the com-
mand of Major John Chandler, and in 1724, twenty-nine
soldiers from Capt. William Chandler’s company, were
posted there as a guard for the protection of the inhab-
itants. *

The same year, the selectmen presented a petition to the
General Court, ¢ setting forth that the said town is a Frontier,
and has been very much exposed and reduced to very low
circumstances by the late Indian War, and therefore praying
that this court would compassionate their distressed case,
and abate their proportion of the Province tax the present
year.” Thismust have been an exaggeration. The tax was,
however, abated. }

In 1726, the garrison around Mr. Parsons’ house was
repaired and put into a defensible state, by a vote of the
town. In 1726, a committee was chosen, again to repair
the same garrison. After this there is no more heard of
trouble by the Indians.

@ Lincoln’s History of Worcester, Pages 51-53.
T The town’s proportion of the province tax for 1725, was seven pounds.
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Though the good people of Leicester had no more trouble
from their old enemy, yet there was another enemy, among
themselves, which they determined should be wholly exter-
minated, and for this purpose, the town, March 27, 1729,
voted to allow three pence for each rattlesnake killed within
the limits of the town; and January 11, 1787, Benjamin
Richardson was allowed eleven shillings for killing twenty-
eight rattlesnakes.

1732, the town was presented at the quarter sessions in
Worcester, for want of a standard of weights and measures,
and in 1740, the town was again presented for the same
delinquency. This year it appears the town had not suc-
ceeded in exterminating all the rattlesnakes, and the
squirrels and birds were troublesome, and they voted to allow
six pence per head for killing grey and red squirrels and
rattlesnakes, three pence per head for killing jays, red-
headed woodpeckers and blackbirds. The whole amount
allowed for killing these animals this year was £41 Os 3d,
divided among 63 claimants. Jonathan Witt received £5 15s
9d, Thomas Smith £4 1s 3d. The town increased rapidly,
in population and wealth, especially the eastern, or settlers
part. This part was settled under favorable circumstances,
similar, however, to other new settlements. The grantees
having paid merely a nominal price for their lands, a sum
barely sufficient to defray the expense of the survey and
other incidental charges. But the inhabitants of the west-
erly part were not thus favored. The proprietors having
given away one-half of their lands, in order to comply with
the conditions of their grant, retained the other half in their
possession until they could dispose of it to the best advan-
tage. Consequently, the progress of settlement of this
part was a slow process, and as late as 1740, there were not,
probably, more than one hundred and fifty inhabitants in
that part of the town. They were, however, taxed for all
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purposes, whether municipal, parochial, or otherwise, in the
town.*

The inbabitants of the westerly part labored under many
disadvantages. Noroads had been located for their particular
accommodation, and this impediment, together with the
distance, prevented the attendance of but few at church,
and they received no Dbenefit whatever from what they
paid for the support of schools. They felt themselves,
merely as an appendage to the easterly part of the town,
and perhaps thought themselves a little neglected, but
still they struggled on; and I know not as there was
the least spark of disaffection that rankled in their breasts
and if there was, it has long since entirely disappeared,
as their mutual intercourse has always been friendly and
amicable, and they unite in electing a representative to
the legislature with entire harmony and cordiality. Though
their numbers were few and their resources slender, yet
like a young heir, who longs to attain his majority and
act for himself; so the inhabitants of the westerly part,
and many of the proprietors, who still held lands there,
desired a separation, and to be constituted a town and be
independent.

In 1736, all the lands, whether belonging to the proprie-
tors or other individuals, were subjected to a tax of onc penny
per acre towards the support of a minister, the town being
about to settle the Rev. Mr. Goddard. The proprictors and
settlers of the westerly part, unitedly petitioned the General,
Court, that their part of the tax might be applied towards
the support of preaching in that part of the town. The
petition was presented June 18, 1736, ¢ Praying, that the
late tax of one penny per acre lately laid on the proprictors

% In 1731, three persons, only, living in the westerly part of the town,
appear to be taxed, viz., Samuel Bemis, Jonathan Lamb and John Greaton,
In 1733, five persons were taxed, viz., Samuel Bemis, Jonathan Lamb, John

Greaton, James Ormes and Jonathan Ormes. In 1739, seventeen were
taxed. In 1742, forty-one were taxed.

4
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of the westerly part of Leicester may be applied for and
toward the support of preaching in that part of said town,
as entered in the House of Representative the 27th of March
last.”

The House of Representatives ordered the petitioners to
serve the adverse party with a copy, &c. But the Council
nonconcurred, and excused themselves by a quibbling techni-
cality, « forasmuch as the petition is not directed to the
Court.”

In 1741, the inhabitants of the West Parish presented a
petition to the town at their annual meeting, requesting
to be exempted from paying taxes for the support of the
minister or the schools. This was denied to them. Though
the request may appear equitable, yet it is doubtful whether
the town could legally make the exemption. At a subsequent
town-meeting the same year, they requested to be ¢ set off ”’
as a distinct town, and this request was granted. Applica-
tion was immediately made to the General Court for that
purpose. This request was readily granted, and a bill for
the same passed both Houses, but was vetoed by Governor
Shirley. This result produced a general dissatisfaction, as
the westerly part and the proprietors were all desirous, and
the easterly part had consented, that a separation should
take place. Accordingly, the proprictors and some of the
inhabitants of the westerly part met at the Royal Exchange
Tavern, in Boston, February 15, 1745-4, and voted * That
Col. Samuel Willard, Thomas Hutchinson and Eliakim
Hutchinson, Esqrs., Messrs. Nath’l Cunningham, Samuel
Hunt and Grafton Feveryear, be a committee in behalf of
the proprietors and settlers to wait on his Excellency the
Governor, and inform him of the difficultics they labor under
for the want of his Excellency’s consent to a petition, by
them presented to the General Court, for making them a
separate town from the easterly half of Leicester, which
has passed both Houses, but his Excellency was not then
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inclined to give his consent thereto, and to use their best
endeavors to obtain his Excellency’s consent that the same
may be made a separate township.” Governor Shirley,
perhaps, was as popular a Governor, and as condescending to
the people, as any of Royal appointment, yet he would not,
during the period of his government, consent to the bill.

The parties, though disappointed, and, perhaps, a little
chagrined, acquiesced with this state of things with as much
grace as they could, making a virtue of necessity. They
became resigned to what they could not prevent, and the
matter was suffered to rest fourteen years.

At length, the inhabitants of the westerly part, still
feeling dissatisfied with their position, determined to make
another effort to effect their object; they employed Mr.
John Ormes, one of their own people, for that purpose. May
30, 1744, he presented a petition to the General Court,
representing “ that the difficulties which moved him to
apply that they should be a distinct township do still subsist,
and may in a great measure be removed by their being
made a Precinct.” This request was granted. This was
some relief, as they were about settling the Rev. Mr. Eaton
as their minister, and they became a Parish, by an act of
incorporation, July 18, 1744.

In 1749, four of the selectmen belonged to the East
Parish, and one only, Moses Smith, belonged to the West
Parish. They were requested to locate certain roads in the
West Parish. This was thought reasonable, as the town,
including both Parishes, had been at considerable expense
for two or three years previous, in making several new roads
in the East Parish. Buta majority of the selectmen thought
proper not to comply with this request. The West Parish
then, by their committee, John Newhall and Moses Smith,
petitioned the Court of Scssions, at Worcester, to lay out
suitable roads for their accommodation. The selectmen
were cited to appear, to show cause why the prayer should
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not be granted. This caused some excitement in the town,
and they chose a committee to appear at court to oppose
granting the petition. A compromise was, however, effected,
and the next year, the selectmen were generous enough to
locate cleven roads in the West Parish, constituting what
are still some of our most useful roads.

The east part of the town had hitherto appeared willing,
or rather indifferent, with respect to the separation, but this
coercive measure of the west part aroused them from their
supineness, and they were now determined to take an active
part themselves to effect that object.

Accordingly, November 22, 1749, the following petition
was presented to the General Court, or rather, to the acting
Governor.

“ Petition to the Honorable Spencer Phipps, Lieutenant
Governor, by the subscribers, a committee of the town of
Leicester, stating that the inhabitants of the westerly part
of said town have built a meeting-house and settled a min-
ister, and stating further, that about eight years ago, moved
to the town of Leicester to be set off and made a distinet
town, which was readily granted. Whereupon application
was made to the court about three years afterwards for the
same, but instead of being made a town, was made a pre-
cinct only, which was very grievous to both, nor had the
town any opportunity given them to offer any reasons to
the Honorable Court to the contrary, although they had
many to give, and one was, that the west part called upon
the selectmen of Leicester to lay out roads for them, upon
the joint expense of both parts of the town, so that the
inhabitants of the west part might get to meeting, &ec.
They further state, that when the land in the easterly part
was laid out, sufficient land was appropriated for roads, but
when the west part was divided, it was laid out into lots,
and no land left for roads, and now the east part was called
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upon to be at their proportion of the expense, which they
considered unjust. That the inhabitants of the west part
preferred a complaint to the Court of Sessions for a com-
mittee to lay out roads for their accommodation. They
therefore pray the Court to erect the west part of Leicester
into a distinct and scparate town, &e.

Daniel Denny,

Steward Southgate,

John Brown.”

The General Court being urgently pressed by the inhabi-
tants of both parts of the town, brought in another bill to
erect the West Parish into a town. But his Honor Lieuten-
ant Governor Phipps, was not inclined to gratify the unan-
imous wishes of all in this matter, but like his predecessor
five years before, to veto the bill. Accordingly, December
22, 1749, the Secretary delivered the following Message
from the Lieutenant Governor to both Houses:

“ Gentlemen of the Council and House of Representatives.
The Secretary has laid before me for my signing, an
engrossed bill passed by both Houses, for incorporating the
West or second Precinet of the township of Leicester into a
distinct or separate township, &e.  Whereupon I must
inform you, that I am restrained from giving my consent
to the bill, unless provision be made that the number of
representatives be not thereby increased, or a clause for
suspending the execution of the act until His Majesties
pleasure shall be known therecupon, be inserted in the said
act.”

The House became indignant at this unjustifiable and
tyrannical conduct of the Lieutenant Governor, and on the
4th of January succeeding, transmitted to him the following
spirited and plain-spoken message.

4%
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¢ May it please your Honour:

The House, taking into consideration your Honour’s
message of the 22d of December, beg leave to say, They
are at a loss to know why your Honour apprehends yourself
restrained from giving your consent to the bill unless pro-
vision be made that the number of representatives be not
thereby increased, or a clause for suspending the execution
of the act until His Majesties pleasure should be known
thereupon, be inserted in said bill, but must suppose your
Honour induced so to judge either from the reason or nature
of the thing, or for some restraint in their late Majesties
charter to this Province, which are the only rules of gov-
ernment in this his Majesties Province ; In neither of which
can the House find any restraint; in which opinion the
House are more confirmed from the fate of a late bill in the
Hon’ble House of Commons, of which your Honour is well
knowing.* The House apprehend the forming that part
of Leicester into a distinct township will be for the pros-
perity of His Majesties subjects, in which his Majesty
always takes pleasure, the ends of government being his
Majestics honour and the happiness of his subjects; and
that the people be fully represented is for His Majesties
honour and the happiness of his subjects, and is agreeable
to his Majesties character and laws of this Province, is the
opinion of the House. But were it not so, the number of
representatives the town of Leicester by charter and the
laws of this Province are now entitled to, is not enlarged by
this bill; And therefore the House flatter themselves, your
Honoar will give your consent.” His Honor, however, re-
mained incorrigible. These documents show the liberal
sentiments prevailing in the House of Representatives, the
only branch of government which really represented the sen-
timents of the people of Massachusetts, but which were

* What bill the House here refers to, is not known,
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always opposed and thwarted by the governors of LRoyal
appointment. This struggle continued, and sometimes with
great animosity, from 1692 to 1775, when the revolution
soon put a period to the unconstitutional and tyrannical
power of Great Britain, and its subordinates, who ruled over
the people by his Majesty’s appointment, and the people be-
came triumphant.®

Thus were the inhabitants of this town doomed a second
time to suffer the pangs of disappointed hope, by the arbi-
trary acts of a governor, not a governor chosen by the volun-
tary suffrages of a free people, but appointed by a foreign
potentate, and often one whose principles of government
were modeled after those of the British Crown, and who had
but little sympathies with the people. Although sadly dis-
appointed, they were not yet discouraged, but determined to
persevere until their efforts should be crowned with success.

They, however, waited three years longer, when at a Par-
ish Meeting, March 6, 1753, Capt. Benjamin Johnson, Lieut.
John White and Deacon John Worster, were chosen a com-
mittee to prefer a petition to the General Court, once more
asking to be incorporated as a town. The application at last
was successful, and Lieutenant Governor Phipps condescended
to give his consent to the bill, and it became a law.

The following is a copy of the act:

“William Shirley, author of the first veto, was an English gentleman
who practiced law in Boston, and was governor of Massachusetts from 1740
to 1757, wken he was superceded by the appointment of Thomas Pownall.
During his administration he was part of the time absent in England, in
which time, his place in the chair was supplied by the Lieutenant Governor.
He died in England, April, 1771,

Spencer Phipps, author of the second veto, was born in Massachusetts or
Maine. He was appointed Lieutenant Governor, 1732, which office he held
until the time of his death, which took place April 4, 1757. In the absence
of Governor Shirley, he officiated as Governor, and died in the office as
Commander-in-Chief. Both offices thus became vacant the same year, one
by being superseded, the other by death.
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secundo vicessimo SEAL. Sexto.

An act for erecting the second precinct in the town of Lei-
cester into a separate District. *

Be it enacted by the Lieutenant Governor, Council and
House of Representatives, that the said second Precinct in
Leicester, bounding north on the town of Rutland, easterly
on the first Parish in Leicester, southerly on land called the
Country Gore,} westerly on the town of Brookfield, be and
hereby is erected into a separate and distinct District, by the
name of Spencer,} and that the said District be invested with
all the powers, privileges and immunities that towns in this
Province may enjoy, that of sending a representative to the
General Assembly only excepted ; and that the said District
shall have full liberty and right from time to time to join
with the town of Leicester in choosing a representative to
represent them at the General Assembly, and that the said
District shall from time to time be at their proportional part
of the expense of such representative. And that the town
of Leicester, as often as they shall call a meeting for the
choice of representatives, snall from time to time give rea-
sonable notice to the clerk of said District for the time be-
ing of the time and place of holding of said meeting, to the
end that said District may join therein, and the clerk of said

Anno Regne {ROYAL } Regis Georgit

? It was called a District, because it was prohibited from sending a Rep-
resentative. This was the case with Barre, Oakham, Paxton and many oth-
er towns when first incorporated. This restriction continued until the com-
mencement of the Revolution in 1775, when every town or district, being
liberated from this restraint, was allowed to send a Representative, and
this privilege was continued to them until 1780, when the constitution guar-
ranteed the right.

T This is now a part of Charlton, and when Spencer became a town, the
inhabitants of the west part were taxed here, and so late as June 13, 1757,
notwithstanding it had been set to Charlton so far as that town bounded
against Spencer, the Legislature ordered or empowered the assessors of Lei-
cester and Spencer to tax it to their respective towns.

 This town was named Spencer probably in honor of Lieutenant Gov-
ernor Spencer Phipps.
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District shall set up in some public place in said District a
notification thereof accordingly.

Provided nevertheless, and be it further enacted, that the
said District shall pay their proportion of all Town, County
and Province taxes, already set or granted to be raised by
said town, as If this act had not been made.

And be it further enacted, that Thomas Steele Esqr be and
is hereby empowered to issue his warrant, directed to some
principal inhabitant of said District, requiring him to notify
and warn the inhabitants of said District, qualified by law to
vote in town affairs, to meet at such time and place as shall
be therein set forth, to choose all such officers as shall be
necessary to manage the affairs of the said District.

April 3, 1753. This bill having been read three several
times in the House of Representatives, Passed to be enacted.
T. Hubbard, Spkr.
April 3, 1753. This bill having been read three several
times in Council, Passed to be enacted.
J. Willard, Secry.
April 12,1753. By the Lieutenant Governor. I consent
to the enacting of this bill. S. PH1pps.
Published April 14, 1753. Thos. Clark, Depty Secry.

It will be seen by the provisions of this act, that the town
of Spencer was especially prohibited from sending a repre-
sentative of their own, but the inhabitants had the privi-
lege, if they chose, of going to Leicester and voting for some
gentleman in that town for the office. This was a kind of
partnership, that if the labor and expense were equal, yet
the honor and profity were shared by one of the parties
only, for during the period of twenty two years, while this
partonership existed, the town of Spencer was not so fortu-
nate as to have one gentleman who was sufficiently qualified,
tn the opinion of both parties, to be a representative to the
great and General Court. But probably, this business was
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all managed right and proper, and for aught that is now
known, to the perfect satisfaction of all.

Agreeable to a special provision of the aforesaid act, Mr.
Justice Steele of Leicester issued his warrant to Capt. Ben-
jamin Johnson, and a meeting of the inhabitants was call-
ed, and the town was organized by choosing municipal offi-
cers as the law directed. It may be a curiosity to some of
the present generation, to see who were the men that com-
posed the first organization of the town, and what office
their ancestors had the honor to hold, for the lowest office,
in a genuine sense, is never disreputable for any man to
hold.

The following is a list of officers for the town of Spencer,
at the first organization, May 14, 1753.

Capt. Benjamin Johnson, Moderator.
“  Benjamin Johnson, Town Clerk.
Deacon John Worster, 3
John Cunningham,

John Muzzy, > Selectmen.
Deacon James Wilson,
Capt. Benjamin Johnson, )

“ Benjamin Johnson, Treasurer.

Samuel Bemis, Jun.,
James Ormes, } Constables.

Voted, the Selectmen be Assessors.

Ensign John Stebbins,
Samuel Garfield, | Highway Surveyors on the
John Prouty, > North side of the couniry
Caleb Bridges, road.
Robert Griffin, |

Jacob Stoddard, } Highway Surveyors on the

Jonathan Liamb, » South side of the country
David Adams, road.

James Richardson, Highway Surveyor on the
country road.

Joshua Draper,

Benjamin Woodard, } Hogreeves.
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Deacon John Worster, 1 Fence Viewers
Thomas Bridges, | e

Israel Holton, Sealer of Leather.
Lieut. John White, Sealer of Weights and Measures.

James Draper, Tvthi
Jacob Stoddard ytaingmen,

In the first settlement of the towns in New England, there
was always difficulties to meet, hardships to endure, often
dangers to encounter and opposition to overcome, requiring
sagacity, courage and perseverance, but there were general-
ly men among them possessing those qualities, who were the
first afterwards to be promoted to trusts of honor and re-
sponsibility by the people, and whose names, whether spoken
or written, were surc to be dignified with their military ti-
tle, if they had such, and were loaded with a large plurality
of offices. Thus in the organization of Spencer, Capt.
Benjamin Johnson was Moderator, Town Clerk, one of the
Selectmen, who were also Assessors, and Treasurer. And so
of Leicester. (Capt. Samuel Green was Moderator, first Se-
lectman, first Assessor and Grand Juror. The same in Rut-
land. Capt. Samuel Wright was Moderator, Town Clerk,
first Selectman and first Assessor.

The population of this town at the time of incorporation,
probably, did not exceed 500, and that of Leicester about
700. In the interior towns of Massachusetts, the inhabitants
being mostly agriculturists, population advanced slowly,
sometimes stationary or even retrograde, by the migration
of families and enterprising young men to the Western
States. But within the last twenty-five or thirty years,
since railroads and manufactures have been introduced
among us, large villages bave sprung up, business of all
kinds is active, meeting with suitable remuncration, and
population has rapidly increased.

The following is the population of the town at different
periods, from 1764 to 1860.
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Males Females Males Females Tot. Nos
Years. Houses. Families, under 16. under 16. above 16. above 16. Negroes. persons.
1764 100 111 174 178 160 152 § 664
1776 1042
1790 1322
1800 1432
1810 1453
1820 1548
1830 1688
1840 1604

Wﬁg{:ﬁo. \Ig:ahrgzelel\;? ’ Colored.

1850 341 457 1222 1021 12 2243
1860 485 611 1475 1302 2777

For twenty years, that is, from 1753 to 1773, nothing of
importance ocecurred that would be worth relating. The
people pursued the even tenor of their ways. Population
gradually increased, new lands continued to be taken up and
settled upon, county and town roads were constructed in va-
rious parts of the town, to suit the convenience and necessi-
ties of the inhabitants. The town was divided into suitable
school districts, and school houses erected in each, and vari-
ous other improvements were made. The seven years’ war
between England and France, for the possession of Canada,
which commenced in 1756, involved Massachusetts in the
contest. Many men, as officers or soldiers, went from this
town, to fight the battles of Great Britain and assist her in
the conquest of the French possessions, for which they had
but very little interest. Some went to Canada, some to
Crown Point, Ticonderoga, and other parts, some of whom
were destined never to return.
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THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION.

The American Revolution originated, not so much by act-
ual oppression, or insupportable burthens thrown upon the
colonies by the mother country, as by a series of acts by par-
liament, tending ultimately, as they believed, to undermine
their liberties, and subject them, as had been threatened, to
the entire control of Great Britain, in all cases whatsoever.
Massachusetts was the first of the Colonies to resist these ar-
bitrary measures, the first to sound the alarm to her sister
Colonies. She led the way, and was foremost in devising
ways and means, and furnishing men and moncy throughout
the whole contest.

In this memorable contesi, the town of Spencer took an
active part, and it is believed, contributed her full share of
men and money, towards the consummation of that glorious
event. But it cannot be expected that a full account can
here be given of what was done by this town in that great
struggle, where life and liberty were depending: nor is it
necessary. But little more than a mere sketch of their
official doings will here be presented.

The town of Boston, which was always foremost to move
in every patriotic measure throughout the Revolution, had
transmitted a circular to the inhabitants of the several
towns in the Commonwealth, accompanied with a pamphlet
“ wherein the rights of the Colonists and the infringements
thereof are set forth.” The towns of Leicester, Spencer and
Paxton, as early as Jan. 1, 1773, assembled at Leicester to
take the same into consideration. This is the first movement
of an official and organized character which was made by
this town in opposition to the measures of Great Britain.

At this meeting, a committee, composed of influential gen-
tlemen from the several towns, was appointed, to take the
matter into consideration. The committee were, Capt. Brown

of Leicester; Capt. Witt and Capt. Brown of Paxton; Mr.
5
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Moses Livermore and Joshua Lamb of Spencer; William
Henshaw and Hezekiah Ward of Leicester; and Willard
Mower of Paxton. They presented to the meeting several
spirited and patriotic resolutions, which were unanimously
passed. They also presented instructions of the same im-
port to their representative, Thomas Denny, Esq., of Leices-
ter, which were accepted. Did room permit, they would be
highly worthy of insertion. Suffice it to say, they breathe
the most noble and patriotic sentiments, and are expressed
in excellent language.

The inhabitants of the same towns met again at Leices-
ter, December 27, 1773, when other similar resolutions were
passed, among which the following is selected. ¢ Resolved,
That we will not use any tea in our families, nor suffer any
to be consumed therein, while loaded with a tribute contrary to
our consent, and that whoever shall sell any of that destruc-
tive herd, shall be deemed by us inimical to the rights of his
country, and as endeavoring to counteract the designs of those
who are zealous for its true interests.” A committee of four-
teen was also chosen, ¢ for the inspection of any teas that
may be sold or consumed,” and to report the names of the
offenders at the next meeting.

This resolution was carried into the most rigid effect. No
tea was suffered to be drank among the inhabitants, and the
ladies, being quite as patriotic as their husbands, agreed to
dispense entirely with the use of that ¢ destructive herb,”
and if any frail sister was found to offend so far as privately
to sip a little bohea, she was treated with scorn and neglect
by all her acquaintances. And it is related that a female
conveniion was assembled in Boston,and one also in Worces.
ter, and probably in other towns, and agreed to discontinue
the use of tea, and substitute in its stead the native herbs or
shrubs of their native pastures and meadows.

During the year 1774, the inhabitants of the towns of
Leicester, Spencer and Paxton, met not less than five times
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in legal town meeting at Leicester, to take into considera-
tion, as they at one time express it, ¢ the melancholy situa-
tion of our public affairs at this critical conjuncture.”

At their meeting, May 23, Thomas Denny was again cho-
sen representative, and a committee, of whom Deacon Oli-
ver Watson and Lieut. Joshua Lamb, from Spencer, were cho-
sen to draft instructions to him. At the same meeting,
they chose committees of correspondence in each of those
towns, delegates to a convention in Worcester, which met
Aug. 9, 1774, and continued by adjournment until May 31,
1775.

These several towns assembled again in legal meeting Ju-
ly 6. A committee was appointed to “draw up resolves,
formed on the sentiments of these towns, on the present mel-
ancholy situation of the country.” The committee were
Thomas Denny, Joseph Henshaw and Joseph Allen of Lei-
cester, James Draper and Joseph Wilson of Spencer, Oliver
Witt and Ralf Earle of Paxton.

Their report commenced by saying that they were assem-
bled “not tumultuously, riotously or seditiously, but soberly
and seriously, as men, as freemen and as christians, to take
into consideration the distressed situation of our affairs, &e.”
It presented a very able and luminous exposition of our sit-
uation with the mother country, accompanied with several
patriotic resolves, all of which were accepted by the meeting.

Another meeting was had September 29, and Thomas
Denny was chosen a delegate to sit in a Congress, which was
holden at Salem, from October 7, 1774, to December 10 of
the same year. A committee, consisting of seven, of whom
Deacon Muzzy and Doct. Ormes of Spencer, were two,
was chosen to give instructions to their delegate. At
another meeting, Col. Joseph Henshaw of Leicester was cho-
sen a delegate in a Congress which met at Cambridge, Feb.
1, 1775, and continued by adjournment to other towns until
May 29 of the same year. At a subsequent meeting of the
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same towns, Deacon Oliver Watson of Spencer was chosen
to attend a Congress which was holden at Watertown, May
31,1775, and was dissolved July 19 of the same year.

During this time, with the exception of the meeting of the
last-mentioned Congress, hostilities had not commenced, nor
had American blood been spilt. But the ominous gathering
of the clouds of war drew nearer, and the people, far from
quailing, or being dismayed at its frightful aspect, made
vigorous preparations to meet it. Arms and equipments,
and military stores of every description, were put in imme-
diate requisition. Companies of men were enlistel to be
ready at a minute’s warning, and the public mind was in a
state of the highest possible excitement.

From this period, the inhabitants of Spencer met only in
their own town, and all their future transactions were done
in their individual capacity. In all their votes and proceed-
ings, while passing throughout the perils and trials of the
revolution, they were nearly unanimous, there never having
been found among them a single citizen meriting the name
of tory.

The town voted to pay their share of the expenses of the
several Congresses, and as Harrison Gray, Esq., the State
Treasurer, was a tory, they directed the constables to make
their remittances to Henry Gardner, Esq., of Stow, and voted
to indemnify them against all damage which might arise by
8o doing. Congress having recommended a non-importation
of all goods and wares with Great Britain, they chose John
Cunningham, Oliver Watson and Asa Baldwin, a committee
to see it carried into complete effect. They also voted to
raise fifty ¢ effective men” immediately, and furnish them
with blankets, equipments, &e. And as there was a number
of British troops quartered upon the inhabitants of Boston
and Charlestown, they voted that a subscription be raised for
their relief. |

The eventful year of 1775, commenced, bringing with it
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portentous signs of an approaching conflict, and events soon
followed which sealed the destiny of the colonies. The town
had raised a company of “minute men,” who were placed
under the command of Capt. Ebenezer Mason. They were
directed to meet often, to exercise and prepare themselves
for military action. A town meeting was called to be hold-
en on the 24th of April, to make provision for the soldiers,
should they be called into actual service by some emergency,
which was highly probable might soon arise. Before the day
of the said meeting had arrived, however, General Gage,
April 19, had sent a body of British troops to take possession
of the military stores in Concord, and on their way, at Lex-
ington, they fired upon a few militia there assembled, and
eight American citizens were murdered. After having a
conflict with our troops at Concord, they were repulsed, and
retreated back to Boston with considerable loss. An alarm
was immediately spread through the country like an electric
shock. The next day, great was the commotion among the
people. Like the fiery cross of the ancient Scottish clans,
a messenger on horseback, with the speed of the wind, pass-
ed through the towns from the East, shouting from the top
of his voice, “ the war has begun, the regulars are marching
to Concord.” All business and recreations were immediately
suspended. The farmer left his plow in the furrow, the me-
chanic his tools upon the bench, and there was an instanta-
neous gathering of the people, with stern wills, to do what-
ever should be necessary to be done to meet the emergency.
The company of minute men buckled on their knapsacks,
shouldered their muskets, and were immediately on their
march. And although the time appointed for a town meet-
ing to make provision for the exigency had not yet arrived,
the good wives of the soldiers, with the assistance of the select-
men of the town, furnishing them with a hasty and imper-
fect supply of clothing and provisions, they marched quick-
ly to Cambridge. Finding the enemy disposed to remain in
5%
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his stronghold, the town of Boston, for the present, forty of
them enlisted for eight months, to be stationed in the vicini-
ty of Boston, and the remainder returned home. Joel Green
was the Captain of the company for eight months, and David
Prouty Lieutenant, both from Spencer.

- On the 17th of J une, the memorable battle of Bunker Hill
was fought. A company, commanded by Capt. Seith Wash-
burn of Leicester, grandfather of the Hon. Emory Wash-
burn, was in the battle, nine of whom, including Joseph Liv-
ermore as Lieutenant, belonged to Spencer.

This year, the town of Boston being occupied by British
troops, the General Cuurt held their sittings at Watertown.
The inhabitants of Spencer were notified to meet in their
own town, July 17th, at one o'clock in the afternoon, to see
if they would then proceed to Leicester, as the meeting in
that town was to be holden at three o’clock, to join in elect-
ing a representative, or otherwise, choose one for therselves.
When the day of meceting arrived, the inhabitants decided,
for the first time, to assume the right of an independent
town, and choose a representative for themselves, and Deacon
Oliver Watson was elected to that office.

During the whole series of the acts of British wrong and
oppression, which was borne by the colonies for ten years,
commencing with the Stamp act in 1765, they never com-
plained, as one cause of grievance, that they were in some
measure subjects of Great Britain; but the port of Boston
was closed, shutting off our intercourse from abroad, and
the town besieged with an armed and licentious band of sol-
diers ; after our citizens were slanghtered at Lexington,
Concord and Bunker Hill, and the town of Charlestown
wantonly burnt, they began seriously to think of assuming
the position of an independent nation.

In anticipation of this, the town voted, June 24, 1776,
“ that should Congress think it expedient to declare the col-
onies independent of the kingdom of Great Britain, we do
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hereby, fully, freely and solemnly, engage with our lives and
fortunes, to support Congress in such a measure,” and they
instructed Oliver Watson, who was their representative this
year also, to communicate the same to the General Court.
This crisis, which, probably, for more than a year past, had
been anticipated by most of our patriotic and intelligent cit-
izens, had now arrived, and Congress, July 4, 1776, by a
unanimous vote, declared the colonies to be free, sovereign
and independent States. A copy of this declaration was sent
to all the towns, and the General Court ordered the same to
be read in all the churches after divine service, and the town
clerk to record this manifesto in the town records, ¢ there to
remain a perpetual memorial thereof,” with all which, this
town complied.

In 1777, the General Court passed “an act to prevent
monopoly and oppression,”’” and the selectmen and committee
of safety in the several towns were directed to set a price
upon all the articles usually bought and sold, as well as of
labor, and none were allowed to excced those prices in their
dealings. The following are the prices of some of those ar-
ticles, as fixed upon for this town. For the better under-
standing of the present generation, the prices are here set
down in Federal denomination. A days work for a man in
summer 50 cents, a days work for a yoke of oxen 25 cents,
a bushel of wheat $1.00, bushel of rye 67 cts, bushel of corn
50 cts, imported salt $2.17 per bushel, salt made from sea
water $2.42 per bushel, charcoal 4 cts per bushel, sheep’s
wool 30 cts per 1b., cotton wool 61 cts per lb., brown sugar
$1.33 per 1b., coffee 22 cts per 1b., molasses 75 cts per gal-
lon, a meal of victuals 12 1-2 cts, a night’s lodging 4 cts.
It will be perccived the great disparity between these prices
and those of the present time, those articles of our own pro-
duction being much less, and those imported much larger,
the article of brown sugar in particular, being fourteen hun-
dred per cent. higher, owing to the destruction of our com-
merce by England.
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Being called upon to furnish their quota of soldiers to fill
up the continental army, the town voted to allow £20 (§67)
bounty to each man who should enlist for three years or
during the war. The town was also called upon to furnish
blankets, and one pair of shirts, stockings and other clothing
at the rate of one set for every male person in the town
over sixteen years of age. The General Court passed an-
other act, calling in four hundred thousand pounds of the
State’s outstanding debts, which were lying without interest,
and ordered each town to raise its proportion of that sum,
and place the same on interest until paid. This injudicious
act disturbed the minds of the people, as another large sum
for continental debts became due about the same time. They
instructed their representatives, Oliver Watson and John
Bisco, to use their influence that the act might be repealed.
In this, however, they were unsuccessful, and they raised
their proportion by a tax, being nine hundred and ninety-
one pounds seventeen shillings.® This sum, allowing for the
depreciation of the currency in 1777, would probably be
about 1300, which would be quite as burthensome for the
town to pay at that time as $5000, at the present.

The success of the British arms at the north, under Gen-
eral Burgoyne, spread consternation and terror throughout
New England, and every sixth man in the county of Wor-
cester, capable of bearing arms, was drafted to join the
northern army. Companies of men, under the command of
Capt. Josiah White and Capt. David Prouty, a large propor-

°1In making the valuation for a basis of taxes, this year, the assessors
were directed by the town to fix the following value on the taxable proper-
ty. Unimproved land $3.33 per acre—Horse $23.33—two years old colt $13.-
33—yearling colt $10—Spring colt $6.67—ox $16.67—cows and three year
old steers $10—two year old cattle $6.67—yearling do $3.33—spring calves
$1.67 —sheep $0.83—swine one year old $3.33—pigs $1.00—wheat 83 cts per
bushel—rye 56 cts per bushel—ocorn 42 cts—barley 42 cts—oats 21 cts—
beans 67 cts—potatoes 11 cts—cider 50 cts per barrel—flax 10 cts per lb.—
English hay $4.44 per ton—meadow hay $2.21 per ton.
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tion of whom belonged to Spencer, went to Bennington and
other places in that vicinity, to meet the invading army, who
by rapid marches, was passing through and ravaging our
northern borders. A battle was fought at Bennington un-
der General Stark, which partly put a check to their depre-
dations. And when the British forces reached Saratoga, an
alarm was immediately sent through the country, and
the people in Spencer, like their brethren elsewhere, rose to
arms, almost en masse, and marched to the rescue, but a por-
tion of them did not arrive at the scene of battle until after
the surrender of Burgoyne and his whole army.

The town appointed a committee to ascertain what ser-
vices each person had rendered towards the war, either by
men, money or otherwise, since April 19, 1775, but the task
proved so difficult that it was abandoned.

January 5, 1778, the town voted to accept ¢ the articles
of perpetual union between the States,” called the confeder-
ation, as proposed by Congress. The General Court having
formed a constitution for the State of Massachusetts, the
town assembled May 20, to take it into consideration. Tt
was rejected, there not being a solitary vote for its accep-
tance, and against it 102 votes. It was rejected throughout
the State by a large majority.

March 10, the town voted that the selectmen make pro-
vision for the families of the continental soldiérs who were
out in the service of their country. Seven men enlisted in-
to the army for the term of nine months, and the sum of
£30, (8100) was allowed as bounty to each, amounting when
paid, including the interest, to £219 9s. The sclectmen
were called upon by the State to provide thirty-seven pairs
of shirts, shoes and stockings for the use of the army.

1779. The town was called upon to furnish six soldiers to
go to Rhode Island for six months. This requisition was
granted, and the money voted to pay them for their services.
Sixty pounds was also voted to provide for the families of
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the soldiers who were out in the public service. This year,a
number of tories, who in the beginning of the revolution
had fled from the country, to avoid the resentment of the
people, had returned again, and the town of Boston sent cir-
culars to the several towns, advising them of this fact.
Thereupon, the town called a meeting to take the matter in-
to consideration. Resolutions were passed, declaring that
“the town highly approve of the spirited conduct of the town
of Boston, in their endeavors to take up and secure such odi-
ous persons, who had the ¢mpudence to appear in that town,
that they may be dealt with according to a good and whole-
some law of this State ; and this town is in full sentiment with
the town of Boston with respect to those professed enemies
to the rights and liberties of mankind; and that we will, to
the utmost of our power, aid and assist the civil magistrate
in the execution of all laws made for the purpose of exclud-
ing all such hateful creatures from among us, &e.”’

While we must admire the devotedness of the patriots of
the revolution to the sacred cause of liberty, not only for
themselves, but also for us their posterity; such entire de-
votedness as we may never expect to witness again in this or
any other country; while we are astonished at the great
sacrifices they made, and the fortitude with which they sus-
tained their burthens, their often great and discouraging re-
verses of fortune in war, and other deprivations, such as were
sufficient to overwhelm ordinary minds; it is not surprising
that they should be exasperated at those, who not only stood
aloof from the perilous work which demanded the united
aid of all hearts and hands, but opposed all their patriotic
exertions, and cruelly mocked at their sufferings and derided
their cause. Yet some of them were, undoubtedly, treated
with too much severity. Many of these suspected persons
were good citizens at heart, and friends to their country, but
who desired to wait a little longer, and were for trying fur-
ther pacific measures before coming to actual hostilities with
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the mother country. Perhaps they were inexcusable for their
hesitation and timidity, but many of them were not inten-
tionally enemies to their country, and a few who, after the
revolution was completed and peace restored, were permitted
to return and dwell among their former friends, proved to be
good citizens, and became perfectly reconciled to the inde-
pendence of their country.

This year the taxes and burthens of the war were so on-
erous that the town refused to grant any money for the sup-
port of schools or highways. The highway surveyors were
directed to invite those within their limits to work on the
roads as much as they were willing to do voluntarily, and no
more. A committee was again chosen to make provision for
the destitute families of the continental soldiers, who were
probably suffering more in the field and in the camp than
their families at hiome.

Deacon John Muzzy was chosen representative, and he
was instructed “to use his best endeavors to support the
credit of our currency, and not to give his consent to any
act for making up the sink of money between debtor and
creditor, either public or private, soldiers and officers in the
continental army excepted.” The town was called upon to fur-
nish seven men for the continental army and four men to go
to Rhode Island. For paying these men, and others who had
been sent to guard the prisoners in Rutland, a tax of five
thousand four hundred pounds was assessed upon the inhabi-
tants of the town. This tax, allowing for the depreciation
of the currency in 1779, was probably about §900.

August 7. Deacon John Muzzy was chosen to attend a
convention at Worcester, « to act on business of importance,”
and the 17th of the same month, Maj. Asa Baldwin was cho-
sen a delegate to attend a convention at Concord for regu-
lating the prices of the necessaries of life. These conven-
tions prepared a detailed statement of prices, with an ad-
dress, which were sent to the several towns for approval.
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The following are the prices fixed by the convention, and
they will serve to show the depreciation of the currency in
two years, which are again reduced into Federal money to
‘make it intelligible to modern readers.

A bushel of corn §14.00—rye #17.00—wheat §27.00—
oats $6.00—barrel of cider $13.33—hay per cwt. $5.00—
labor in husbandry per day $9.00—~women’s labor per week
£6.67—Dbeef per 1b. §0.92—mutton and veal §0.58—butter
$1.88—cheese $0.92—wool $4.00—men’s shoes per pair
$20.00—stockings §12.00—shirts, tow cloth, $§16.17.»

John Bisco, Esq. was chosen a delegate to attend a con-
vention at Cambridge, for forming a State Constitution.

1780. In the beginning of this year, the currency be-
came depreciated in the proportion of 40 to 1, and before
the close of the year, as low as 240 for 1! The pressure
was so heavy upon the people of this town, that forty-one
persons were unable to pay their taxes for this and the last
years, and they were abated by the town.

A number of men were required in the service for six
months, and the town voted that each soldier who enlisted

@ At the close of the year 1779, a committee was chosen of the Massa-
chusetts line of the army, to adjust and settle the accounts of the officers
and soldiers, with regard to the depreciation of the currency. This com-
mittee formed their scale of depreciation for three years, upon the mean
prices, throughout the State, of beef, Indian corn, sheep’s wool and sole
leather, as follows :

1777, 1778. 1779,
January 3lst, 1.03 for 1 4,64 9.34
February 1.03 ‘ 4,80 10.87
March 1.28 5.19 12.35
April 1.57 5.80 14,14
May 1.69 5.91 16.02
June 1.82 6.34 22.57
July 2.38 6.30 20.38
August 2.50 6.90 16.95
September 3.82 6.90 17.14
October 3.96 6.97 23.87
November 4,34 747 30.356

December 4.60 8.38 32.50
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should receive a bounty of one hundred dollars, to be paid
at the rate of fifty cents for corn and sixty-seven cents for
rye, per bushel, or stock in that proportion. This was a
standard which would regulate the paper money currency,
so that the poor soldier would for once receive something
more solid than promises, or what proved to be no better.

Oliver Watson was again chosen representative. Agree-
able to a resolve of the General Court, the town furnished
7150 1bs. of beef, as a part of their quota for the army.
Sixteen thousand pounds, in the currency of the day, was
raised by a tax, in part payment for what was then due for
soldiers’ wages.

May 22. The town assembled in legal meeting, to take
into consideration the Constitution, or new form of govern-
ment, then lately formed for the State. All the articles re-
ceived the approbation of the town, with the exception of the
2d article of section 3d, of chapter 1st. They thought the
provision for representation to be unequal,—that those towns
and plantations not having 150 rateable polls should have
the privilege of uniting together, or with some adjacent
town, for the purpose of choosing a representative. The
constitution was since amended in conformity to the propo-
sition, as expressed by the town.

September 4. The town assembled for the first time un-
der the new constitution, for the election of State officers, to
serve until the next May. The whole number of votes was
69, all of which were for the Hon. John Hancock. The
next October, John Bisco, Esq. was clected a representative,
to serve until the next May.

Agreeable to an order of the General Court, the town
authorized the selectmen to hire money to purchase cloth-
ing and blankets for the soldiers, then out in the army.
Forty-eight thousand four hundred and fifty-six pounds was
raised to pay the soldiers who were then in the service, some
for six and some for three months.

6
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October 17. The town was called together again to de-
vise means to pay for beef for the army, and the sum of
twelve thousand pounds was raised for that purpose ; also, the
sum of three thousand five hundred and sixty-five pounds,
to provide horses for the use of the army. December 28.
Another town meeting was held, on a requisition of the
General Court, to provide 13,874 1bs. of beef for the soldiers.
The town voted to provide the beef, and raised four hundred
and sixty-seven pounds to pay for it; also the sum of three
thousand and fifty pounds to hire fourteen men to serve for
three years in the continental army. The whole amount
paid into the treasury this year, for various purposes, was
£88,633 9s. It would be difficult at this time to ascertain
how much this would amount to, in the present currency,
It is probable, however, it was not less than four thousand
dollars.

1781 was adark period in the American history. The Brit-
ish arms were almost everywhere successful ; Lord Cornwallis
was overrunning the Southern States, with but feeble oppo-
sition; the resources of the country were exhausted, and pa-
per money was so depreciated as to become nearly worthless.
In this critical period, the town was again called upon to
furnish more men and beef for the public service. In the
warrant for calling the meeting, June 20, they say, “ Where-
as, filling up and supplying the continental army is of the
utmost importance at this critical time, and the town being
in danger of having executions sent upon it, both for their
deficiencies in men and beef, and at present nothing will
procure said men and beef, but hard money. Therefore &e.”
They, however, voted to comply with the requisition, and
raised the sum of four hundred and sixteen pounds, hard
money, for said purposes, and chose a committee to hire the
money.

July 23. The town was further called upon to furnish
more soldiers, some to go to “head quarters” for three
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months, and others to go to Rhode Island for five months,
and also for more beef for the army. They chose a com-
mittee to hire the soldiers, and voted the sum of one hun-
dred and twenty pounds, hard money, to pay for the beef.
At a subsequent meeting, September 6, two hundred pounds,
hard money, was voted for paying the soldiers. The assess-
ors had made out lists of taxes for a part of the sums grant-
ed by the town, graduated upon the scale of the paper cur-
rency, and committed them to the collectors. The town or-
dered the tax bills to be returned, and that the same, together
with the additional sums, newly granted, be reduced to hard
money currency, by the assessors, in new tax bills. The two
last requisitions of beef from this town, amounting to 7090
lbs., was furnished alive, the animals being driven to the
agent.

This year closed brilliantly, by the surrender of Cornwal-
lis and his army to the combined arms of France and
America, which diffused great joy throughout the unitea
colonies, as the bright harbinger of peace, which was con-
cluded in 1783.

Although the war was virtually closed, yet the army could
not safely be disbanded until the treaty of peace was actual-
ly concluded and signed by all the belligerant parties. The
town was called upon in March, 1782, for their quota of
soldiers, to enlist for the term of three years, which was the
last requisition made upon the town, specifically, until the
army was disbanded.
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SHAY’S INSURRECTION.

Judge Minot and others, who have written the history of the
insurrection in Massachusetts in 1786, have represented the
actors as abandoned criminals, without one redeeming good
quality ; their chief motive, instead of seeking a redress of
grievances, being to overthrow all orders of government, and
bring Massachusetts into a state of anarchy and confusion.
Although this revolt may not be justified, yet, if impartial-
ly considered, there will be found some causes of palliation.
Insurrections are dangerous movements, and are not to be
encouraged ; but their characters are often judged by their
results. If successful, they are pronounced justifiable and
praiseworthy, but if unsuccessful, they are condemned. The
people had just passed through one revolution—they had re-
volted against what had been admitted to be their lawful
government, but they were successful. They were honored
—they were patriots. It is said ¢ oppression will make a
wise man mad,” and the peoplefelt themselves oppressed, al-
most “ beyond measure.”

The government and the people of Massachusetts had de-
voted all their moral and physical powers in the cause of the
revolution, and at its close found their resources exhausted,
and both government and people loaded with an enormous
weight of public and private debts. Paper money, which
was nearly the whole currency, had depreciated until it was
of no value, and credit was nearly as low as paper money.
The chief creditors of the State were its own citizens. Some
of them had advanced money, and were bona fide creditors;
others, and some of these were government officials, had pur-
chased “ State securities” and “ soldier’s certificates,” at less
than one-eighth of their nominal value, and these could have
afforded to wait a little longer, and all these creditors were
pressing the government for payment. The legislature, be-
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ing thus plied, unwisely yielded, and enormous taxes were
imposed upon the people.

As early as 1782, signs of discontent began to be visible,
which were soon followed by open complaints and loud mur-
murs. As the good people of this town experienced their
share of the general pressure, they naturally united in the
general discontent. The legislature had passed an act for
making a general valuation of the taxable property of the
people, and another act, levying an excise or duty upon sev-
eral articles of trade. This last act produced dissatisfaction,
and was thought to interfere with their rights and privi-
leges; were unequal and unjust. A remonstrance was sent
to John Bisco, Esq., their representative, to present to the
General Court, requesting the act to be repealed, or other-
wise “ redress grievances too palpable to be denied, and too
great to be borne.”

A circular was sent to the several towns in the county of
Worcester, requesting them to send delegates to a conven-
tion to be held at Worcester, ¢ to take into consideration the
many grievances the good people of this Commonwealth la-
bor under.” The town chose Mr. Isaac Jenksa delegate to
attend said convention. They met on the 14th of April, and
again, by adjournment, in May of the same year. The con-
vention reported a list of grievances, which were sent to the
several towns. Mr. Jenks was chosen representative, and he
was instructed to urge upon the General Court the adoption,
generally, of the articles of reform recommended by the
convention. He was also instructed to procure laws to be
passed, that no suit should be commenced without previous-
ly giving notice to the debtor ; that State notes and certifi-
cates be made a tender for all debts on executions; that all
property attached for debt, whether real or personal, should
be appraised to the creditor, to satisfy his debt, &c. In 1784,
the town was indebted to the State for two years’ delinquent

taxes, and executions were issued against all the constables
6%
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for the same. Another circular was received from Willis
Hall, moderator of a town meeting in Sutton, recommend-
ing another convention to be holden at Worcester, March
16th, 1784. A town meeting was called, and Deacon Oliver
Watson was chosen delegate. This convention, also, report-
ed a list of grievances, one of which was, that the impost
was granted to Congress for twenty-five years. This report
was laid before the town by their delegate. The town ap-
proved of it, and instructed their representative to lay the
same before the General Court. The pressure now became
exceedingly heavy, and the prospect appeared ominous. A
large State tax was laid to meet a requisition from Congress,
and the town was still in arrears for past taxes.

In this situation, a town meeting was called November 9,
1785, and the town voted to send a petition to the General
Court, asking for a redress of grievances. In this petition
they say, among other things, that the town is deeply in
debt for hiring soldiers and procuring beef for the army,
private contracts pressing, no cash, property sold for less
than half of its value on execution, &c., and they pray
that a bank of paper money may be established, or that
property may be made a tender for payment of debts.

June 8, 1786, a special town meeting was called to see if
the town will take into consideration the present distress of
the people of this commonwealth, occasioned « for want of a
circulating medium to satisfy the demands now called for.”
At this meeting a committee was chosen, and directed to
send circulars to other towns in the county for another con-
vention, to reconsider the ¢ present distresses, &ec.”” This
committee, consisting of Deacon Oliver Watson, Capt. Joshua
Draper, Asa Sprague, John Sumner, and Benjamin Bemis,
jun., notified a convention to be holden at Leicester, June
26, 1786. Mr. John Sumner was chosen a delegate. Dele-
gates from seventeen towns only met, and they adjourned to
August 15th. In the mean time another town meeting was
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called, and Col. Benjamin Bemis was chosen as additional
delegate ; the delegates were instructed to use their best
endeavors to obtain “ a bank of paper money, c.” But the
legislature, undoubtedly, did wisely by denying their request.
Apother town meeting was called to petition the General
Court for a bank, &c. They also voted to send a petition to
the Court of Common Pleas, to adjourn all suits from June
to September, without giving judgment in any case. The
town approved of the doings of the last convention, who re-
ported a farther list of grievances, one of which was, the ex-
tstence of the judicial courts. The town had previously voted
to pawn their  state securities”’ for money to discharge ex-
ecutions from the state against the town.

The public mind now became highly inflamed, and the
voice of discontent was raised to the highest pitch, and a
large majority of the inhabitants of the town were united in
sentiment and action with the malcontents. Some of the
causes of complaint with the people were, the high salaries
of public officers ; the fees of lawyers and sheriffs; the fre-
quent suits at law, and the consequent costs of court; and
these salaries and fees were, no doubt, disproportionate, com-
pared with the situation of the times, and must have added,
not a little, to the distresses of the people. In spite however,
of the petitions, the remonstrances, the clamors, and the
threats of the people, the courts continued to entertain all
actions for the recovery of debts, and to issue executions as
usual. William Lincoln, Esq., in bis History of Worcester,
states that, in 1784, more than two thousand actions were
entered in the county of Worcester, then having a population
of less than 50,000, and that in 1785, about 1700. Lands
and goods were seized and sacrificed on sale when the gener-
al difficulties drove away purchasers. The writer of this
work has some recollection of the passing events of that pe-
riod, and attests, that in this relation of those times, no
exaggeration is made, and that it would be utterly impossi-
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ble for the present generation to realize or have an adequate
idea of the real situation of things at that time.

By the multiplicity of suits and the costs arising thereon,
the courts had become so odious to the people of Spencer,
that they presented the extraordinary petition to the legis-
lature, praying that the * courts may be abolished,” declaring
that they ¢ conceived their existence to be a great and unnecessa-
ry burthen upon the people.”’®

As the courts declined suspending judgments and execu-
tions on suits for the collection of debts, the malcontents
formed the rash and desperate resolution of taking the law
into their own hands, to stop the sittings of the courts,
by force and violence, and thus prevent the issuing of exe-
cutions. .

Accordingly, at the time of the session of the Court of
Common Pleas at Worcester, September 1786, considerable
numbers of the people from most of the towns in the county
assembled at Worcester, consisting of about 400 men, and
about one-half of them armed. They succeeded in prevent-
ing the sitting of the court; no business was done, and the
court adjourned and continued all actions to the term in
December.

In December, the rising of the people became more gener-
al. Armed companies from Ward, Holden, Spencer, Rut-
land, Barre, Petersham, Paxton, Grafton, and other towns,
marched in hostile array to Worcester. Detachments from
Shrewsbury, Hardwick, Princeton, Hubbardston, Leicester,
and other towns joined them, and the whole number, armed
and unarmed, probably exceeded 2000 men, all either en-

“ At this time it is said that the offices of Levi Lincoln, senior, of Wor-
cester, Dwight Foster of Brookfield, and John Sprague of Lancaster, they be-
ing the principal lawyers in the county, were thronged every day with suit-
ors, and presented the appearance of some public day, when there is a gath-
ering of the people, the door yards of their offices, and adjoining fences, being
lined with the horses and carriages of unfortunate debtors, and not much
less unfortunate creditors.
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gaged, or actively aiding and abetting the insurgents. The
company that went from thes town, was armed and equipped
with powder and ball, ready to do the deadly work, if neces-
sary. In this company were several veterans of the revolu-
tion, who still undoubtedly felt they were engaged in defence
of their liberties. The court was again overawed, and again
adjourned without doing any business, agreeable to the direc-
tion of the General Court, to the 23d day of January, 1787, at
which time Governor Bowdoin sent on armed forces to pro-
tect the sitting of the court, and they proceeded unmolested
to transact the usual business.

During the winter, however, parties of the insurgents,
under the command of Shays, Wheeler, Day and other
leaders, traversed various parts of this and other western
counties, to overawe the peaceable and loyal inhabitants of
the state. For this purpose, a company of about 200 insur-
gents assembled at New Braintree, on the second day of
February, one of whom was David May of this town.
About twenty horsemen and 150 infantry in sleighs were
sent to dislodge them. They were fired upon by the insur-
gents, and Doct. David Young and another person were
wounded. Young afterwards commenced an action against
May, and recovered large damages, which exhausted all his
property in satisfying, so that he was obliged to sell his
farm, and remove to the state of Vermont, where he died,
not long since. The insurrection was finally quelled with
but little bloodshed. Two or three commissioned officers of
the militia in this town were temporarily disqualified, and
all who arose treasonably against government were ordered
to take the oath of allegiance before John Bisco, Esq., and
surrender their fire arms to his keeping during the pleasure
of government.

Many of the insurgents were imprisoned in different
parts of the commonwealth, and this town petitioned Gov-
ernor Bowdoin that they might be pardoned and set at
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liberty. They also sent a petition to the General Court to
pass a general act of indemnity, and suspend the action of
the courts wntil after the election. The motive which
prompted this petition, though then very apparent, may not
now be understood without some explanation. Governor
Bowdoin was then in the chair of state, and was supposed to
have been, in some measure, accountable for those unpopular
acts of the General Court; he had ordered out the troops,
although no more than his imperious duty, to quell the insur-
rection, and he was thought to be inclined to severe meas-
ures in further dealing with them. Governor Hancock, on
the contrary, was known to be favorable to a more lenient
policy, and was, also, a favorite of the people. They were
both candidates for the gubernatorial chair for the election
then close at hand. Hence the petition for delay.

The day of election came, and Governor Bowdoin was su-
perseded by Governor Hancock by a large majority. The
votes in this town were, for John Hancock 87, for James
Bowdoin 7, a true index of the numbers and feelings of the
parties.®

Henry Gale of Princeton, one of the leaders of the insur-
gents, was tried for high treason and sentenced to be execu-
ted. A special town meeting was called, and a petition was
sent to Governor Hancock for his pardon ; other towns also
sent in petitions for the same. He was brought out to the
gallows for execution, where he was repricved, and afterwards
pardoned by the Governor.

During the reign of terror, when the law was almost
prostrate, and thearm of government paralyzed, Abijah
Livermore and six other of the inhabitants of Spencer, broke
open the town’s magazine and took away the entire stock of

¢ James Hathaway was elected representative this year. A committee
was appointed to draft instructions for him. In commencing their in-
structions, they say, ¢ It is a day of public distress and trouble, and dark
clouds hang over this commonwealth,”
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powder, balls, &c. After peace was restored, and the law
once more triumphant, Mr. Livermore and three of his com-
panions made a humble confession to the town, which now
appears on their records, and no further notice was taken of
the matter.

For a few years, an alienation in the feelings of the peo-
ple towards each other was visible, and predominated in all
elections and common intercourse of society, but it gradual-
ly disappeared, the parties became reconciled to each other,
and peace and harmony prevailed ; and the effects of this
quasi war are now among the things lost and forgotten.

Having given an account of the first settlement of Spen-
cer, and its incorporation as a town, passed through the rev-
olution with its attendant poverty, misery and distress, and
the insurrection of Shays, which immediately followed ; in
fine, having brought the history, or rather the annals of
the town to 1788, I shall suspend further details, while I
endeavor to give a description of its appearance at that time ;
the habits and manners of the people, their occupations,
morals, amusements, and mode of living. And in this des-
cription, I do not mean to be understood as representing
this as being particularly singular from other places, but
with few exceptions, as a fair specimen, with but little vari-
ation, for New England in general. As nearly three-fourths
of a century has past away “with the years beyond the flood,”
and with it all the inhabitants who occupied our present
places ; it may be useful to the present generation, that they
may be enabled to compare and appreciate their own pleas-
ant places, habitations and circumstances, with the poverty,
disadvantages and hardships of their fathers.

The highways were then intolerable. The great Post
Road, by far the best in the country, and which has since
received so many straightenings and levellings, was then so
rough and hilly, that it was only competent for a team of
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four horses to transport the weight of one ton to Boston, and
return with the same weight, in one week. Now, the same
team, if necessary, could easily transport thrice the amount
of weight, over the same road, within half the time. Our
town roads were mere single tracks, just wide enough for the
passage of a pair of wheels, and without any turnouts; for the
chief instruments in repairing the roads, were the cart and
the iron bar; the plough, now considered indispensable on
the highway, was then never used for that purpose; and
what rocks could not be removed with iron bars alone, stood
their ground, in whatever part of the road they happened to
be located, bidding defiance to the horses’ hoofs or the wheels
of the carriages; for the use of gunpowder in removing
rocks was then unpractised, and hardly known.

1t is probable that not more than two thirds of the land
was under cultivation, the other third being in its primeval
state. The dwelling houses were mostly of one story in
height, and not half a dozen in town were painted. As
for a chaise or other pleasure carriage, there were not more
than one or two in town, and the only locomotive to trans-
port a family to meeting, was a horse, saddle and pillion.
With this accommodation, the good man, on a Sunday morn-
ing, would mount the saddle, taking a little one before him,
and his wife on the pillion behind, and trudge along five
miles to meeting without a murmur; while his barefooted
children in their homespun, would walk checrfully the same
distance. During the interval between the services, the
young lads and lasses, with cheerful countenances and
sparkling eyes, were collected in the gallery pews, engaged
in happy conversation ; the old ladies in groups below, were
no less engaged, in low, murmuring voices, scarce above a
whisper ; while the old men, in companies, sat upon the
grass under the shade of trees, which then grew on the com-
mon, were discoursing of the sermon and hard times, while
munching their bread and cheese. That part of the public
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common west of the meeting house, was then limited to a
space of about five or six rods square, and on this small spot
was located the town’s pound, seven or eight horse stables,
the town stocks, and a fixture somewhat resembling a public
stage or rostrum, but now obsolete, and in common parlance
called a horse-block. A similar structure stood at the east
end of the meeting house. At the close of the religious ser-
vices, and after the town clerk had made proclamation in a,
loud voice to the retiring congregation, of those who were
about to enter the state of matrimony ; then might be seen,
standing erect on those fixtures, the ancient dames and the
young damsels, awaiting their turns to vault upon their
saddles or pillions, while the shrill neighings of the
numerous young colts in attendance, mingled with the
responsive calls of their dams, added pastoral music to the
scene,

There were then but three dwelling houses in what was
once the lower village, and these three stood in juxtaposi-
tion, and were all taverns: the house kept by Captain
Ebenezer Mason, lately owned by his grandson Joseph Ma-
son, the house then kept by Mr. Isaac Jenks, and now owned
by William C. Watson, and the house occupied by Mr James
Livermore, on the site of Col. Temple’s. These have irrev-
erently becn compared to the three taverns alluded to by St.
Paul, when he * thanked God and took courage.” In what
was once called the upper village, there were only two dwell-
ing houses, viz: the Rev. Joseph Pope’s, now owned by bhis
son William Pope, Esq., and the house now owned by Mr.
Washington Morse, and occupied by Deacon Oliver Morse and
Reuel Jones. There was a school house which stood on what
is now the west part of the common.

Before proceeding further with the description of Spencer,
as it was, the views of an European traveller who passed
through here at this period, will be given.

7
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A French gentleman, M. DeWareville,* traveled through
the States, for the sole purpose of seeing the country and
observing the habits and manners of the inhabitants. After
his return to France, he published an account of his travels,
which was translated and published in this country. He
landed in Boston, July 30, 1788. His first journey was to
New York, by land. A new line of stages had been estab-
lished by Messrs. Pease and Sikes, by way of Spencer, and in
the summer season the journey was performed in four days.}
This journey was commenced August 9. It is presumed the
following extract from his book of travels, though somewhat
long, will not be found uninteresting. After giving a short
description of his journey from Boston to Worcester, he
proceeds :

“ We slept the first night in Spencer, a new village in the
midst of the woods. The house of the tavern was but half
built ; but the part that was finished, had an air of cleanliness
which pleases, because it announces that degree of compe-
tence, those moral and delicate habits, which are never seen in
our villages. The chambers were neat, the beds good, the
sheets clean, the supper passable ; cider, tea, punch, and all for
fourteen pence per head. There were four of us. Now com-
pare this order of things with our French taverns, — cham-
bers dirty and hideous, beds infested with bugs, those insects
which Sterne calls the rightful inhabitants of taverns, if
indeed, long possession gives a right; sheets ill washed
and exhaling a feetid odor, bad covering, and wine adul-
terated, and every thing at its weight in gold; greedy ser-
vants, who are complaisant only in proportion to your
equipage, groveling towards a rich traveler, and insolent
towards him whom they suspect of mediocrity. Such are

? This gentleman, after his return to France, suffered death by the guillo-

tine under the reign of terror.
+ The journey from Boston to New York, is now easily performed by steam

in twelve hours.
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the eternal torments in France; add to this the fear of
being robbed, the precautions necessary to be taken every
night to prevent it, while in the United States you travel
without fear and without arms, and you sleep quietly among
the woods, in an open chamber of a house whose doors shut
without locks, and now judge which country merits the
name of civilized, and which bears the aspect of the greatest
general happiness.

“ We left Spencer at four o’clock in the morning. New
carriage, new proprietor. It was a carriage without springs,
a kind of wagon. A Frenchman who was with me, began
at the first jolt to curse the carriage, the driver, and the
country. Let us wait, said I, a little, before we form a judg-
ment ; every custom has its cause, there is doubtless some
reason why this kind of carriage is preferred to one hung on
springs. In fact, by the time we had run thirty miles
among the rocks, we were convinced that a carriage with
springs would very soon have been overset and broken.

«“ The traveler is well recompensed for the fatigue of
this route, by the variety of romantic situations, by the
beauty of the prospects which it offers at every step, by the
perpetual contrast of nature, and the efforts of art. Those
vast ponds of water, which lose themselves in the woods;
those rivulets that wash the meadow, newly snatched from
uncultivated nature; those neat houses scattered among the
forests and containing swarms of children, joyous and healthy,
and well clad. Those fields covered with trunks of trees,
whose destruction is committed to the hand of time, and
which are covered under the leaves of Indian corn; those
oaks which preserve still the image of their ancient vigor,
but which, girdled at the bottom, raise no longer to heaven
but dry and naked branches, which the first stroke of wind
must bring to the earth; all these objects, so new to an Eu-
ropean, arrest him, absorb him, and plunge him into an
agreeable reverie. The depths of the forests, the prodigious
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height and size of the trees, call to mind the time when the
savages were the only inhabitants of this country. This
ancient tree has beheld them ; they filled these forests;
they have now given place to another generation. The cul-
tivator fears no more their vengeance ; his musket, formerly
his necessary companion at the plow, now rests suspended in
his house. Alone, with his wife and children, in the midst
of the forests, he sleeps quietly, he labors in peace, and he is
happy. Such were the ideas that occupied me the greater
part of my journey; they sometimes gave place to others,
arising from the view of the country houses, which are seen
at small distances through all the forests of Massachusetts.
Neatness embellishes them all. They have frequently but
one story and a garret; their walls are papered; tea and
coffee appear on their tables; their daughters, clothed in cal-
icoes, display traits of civility, frankness and decency; vir-
tues which always follow contentment and ease. Almost all
these houses are inhabited by men who are both cultivators
and artizans; one is a tanner, another is a shoemaker,
another sells goods; but all are farmers. The country
stores are well assorted; you find in the same shop, hats,
nails, liquors. This order of things is necessary in a new
settlement; it is to be hoped it will continue, for this gen-
eral retail occupies less hands, and detaches fewer from the
great object of agriculture. It is not supposed that one
third of the land of Massachusetts is under cultivation, and
it is difficult to say when it will be so, considering the invi-
tations of the Western country and the province of Maine.
But the uncleared lands are all located, and the proprietors
have enclosed them with fences of different sorts. These
several kinds of fences are composed of different materials,
which announce the different degrees of culture in the coun-
try. Some are composed of the light branches of trees;
others of the trunks of trees laid one upon the other; a
third sort is made of long pieces of wood, supporting each
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other by making angles at the end; a fourth kind is made
of long pieces of hewn timber, supported at the ends by
passing into holes made in an upright post; a fifth is like
the garden fences in England; the last kind is stones
thrown together to the height of three feet. This last kind
is most durable, and 1s common in Massachusetts.

‘ From Spencer to Brookfield the road is good, as far as
the last town. The situation of Brookfield is picturesque.
While breakfast was preparing, I read the Gazettes and
Journals, which are distributed through all the country.
Our breakfast consisted of coffee, tea, boiled and roasted
meat; the whole for ten pence, New England currency, for
each traveller. From this place to Wilbraham, the road is
covered with rocks, and bordered with woods.”

This tavern house in Spencer, ¢ half built,” situated in a
“new village in the midst of the woods,” was none other
than the Jenks tavern, which was at that time being repair-
ed, and an addition being erected on the west side, and not
completed.

This description of this part of Massachusetts seventy-
two years ago, is generally correct, and such as it would ap-
pear in passing through it; but I doubt whether the houses
were, many of them, painted without or papered within ; or
whether the farmers’ daughters were dressed in calicoes.

Previous to the present century, there were, in what now
constitutes the central village, including the whole of Main
street, from Leicester to Brookfield, twenty-five buildings
only (barns not included). The houses of Rev. Joseph Pope,
Capt. Ebenezer Mason, Isaac Jenks, James Livermore, Josi-
ah Cary, or rather Elisha Harrington, have been mentioned.
The others were, Deacon Reuben Underwood, now owned by
John Stone; Thomas Sumner, on the site of Joshua Prou-
ty’s ; John Sumner, on the site of his son, Cheney Sumner ;
William Knight, on the site of Francis Adams and Mrs.

T#
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Saddler; Zebina Abbot, on the site of Mrs. Wm. Sumner,
and his clothier’s shop ; Elijah Howe, jun., near the house of
Charles Fay; Amasa Bemis, now Mr. Robinson; Stephen
Jenks, near that of Abner Howland; Capt. Simeon Draper,
now owned by Mrs. Mary Livermere ; the tavern of Jeremi-
ah Whittemore, owned by George Bemis, 2d, and lately burn-
ed, and a new house lately built; Deacon John Muzzy, or
Samuel Ryan, on the site of Aaron Watson ; Reuben Whit-
temore, now owned by Edward Proctor ; Nathaniel T. Lor-
ing, near that of Lewis Bergeron; and Deacon Oliver Wat-
son, now owned by Ebenezer Howard; the Congregational
church, the store of John Clark, an ordinary-looking school
house ; all these on the main street. On what is now Ash
street, the house of John White, now owned by Thomas B.
Clark, and the house of Capt. Samuel Lamb, now occupied
by Charles Grout.

There are now, within the limits above deseribed, 164
dwelling houses, 94 of which are on Main street, and 70 on
the intermediate streets; 3 churches, 1 vestry, 3 school
houses, 1 town house, 7 large buildings for the manufacture
of boots, some of them elegant, and 22 other buildings, in-
cluding factories, mechanics’ shops, &ec. (not including barns),
making in the whole 201 buildings, most of them respectable.

SEVENTY-FIVE YEARS AGO.

Except a few mechanics, the people were all farmers.
There were no butchers, or pedlers, to bring fresh meats,
fish, fruits and other desirable things to their doors. The
farmer, from his own resources, by the use of the spade and
hoe without, and the wheel and loom within doors, nearly
supplied all his wants for food and clothing. The fam-
ily breakfast was generally bread and milk, taken early in
the morning, before going out to his labors. About nine
o’clock, a luncheon, called a “ baiting,” was brought out to
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the field, and with a bottle of cider, with cordial zest was
taken under a cooling shade. At twelve o’clock, the horn
was sounded for dinner, and the good man, with his sturdy
sons, leaving their labor, came in from the field, dripping
with perspiration, to partake of the wholesome repast, con-
gisting of boiled salted pork and beef, with vegetables, pre-
pared by the good wife and her buxom daughters. Often,
for a change, baked pork and beans was the order for din-
ner, with an Indian pudding for dessert. After halfan hour
for ““ nooning,” again to the field, with renewed vigor, to toil
until about four o’clock, then another luncheon. At night
a similar preparation as in the morning, for the children and
the feminine part of the household for supper, and bread,
butter, cheese, and a remnant of ¢ cold victuals,’”’ for the
sterner sex.

“ Let not ambition mock their useful toil,” for they were
our fathers and mothers., Yes, the fathers and mothers of
all, whether in a lofty or more humble sphere of life; and
we will surely forever hold them in grateful remem-
brance. For us they toiled and subdued the stubborn soil ;
for us they suffered great deprivations, for which we
have received the rich legacy of peace, plenty and indepen-
dence.

The last Wednesday in May, election day, was the special
holiday. All labor was then suspended, and the entire day
devoted to amusements. Hunting, fishing, bathing, and all
athletic recreations, were the order of the day, and the old,
as well as the young, had their sports and pastimes. But
Thanksgiving was then, as now, the great feast day. Then
the spit and the oven were in special requisition. Roast
meat, pies and sweet cakes abounded with profusion, and the
maxim of Solomon was fully realized, that there was ¢ Noth-
ing better for a man than that he should eat and drink, and
make his soul enjoy the good of his labor.” In the cve-
ning, the young people of both sexes, jubilant with the oc-
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casion, assembled, the fiddle being in attendance, and after
the floor was well sanded, the dance commenced. The “reel,”
‘““old father John,” “hunt the squirrel,” &c., being satisfac-
torily performed, not forgetting the « jig.”

“ The dancing pair that simply sought renown,
By holding out to tire each other down.”

MORALS.

This is a delicate subject to review, whether for the past or
the present, but there is no doubt, that at the close of the
revolutionary war, the morals of the people were rather of
a low order. The camp is a prolific school for the vices.
There, idleness, intemperance, profaneness and profligacy of
almost all kinds, abound, thrive and are nourished. And
when the soldiers returned home, they were accompanied,
more or less, with some of those vices, and mingling and as-
sociating with the people, the old proverb was soon verified,
that “ evil communications corrupt good manners.” Tav-
ern-haunting, drinking, gambling, fighting, and all the con-
comitants of idleness, were rife in the community; and
though there is still much room for improvement, yet, ex-
cept among the very dregs of the people, there is not a tithe
of those debasing vices abounding among us. Probably, we
may have discarded some of the virtues of our puritanic
grandfathers, yet, on the whole, there is a decided improve-
ment in society.

SCHOOLS AND SCHOOL HOUSES.

The first notice of a school on record, in the town of Lei-
cester, is 1731, when the town voted *to provide a school
master to read and write, to be kept three months in three
parts of the town.” The next year there was no school, and
the town was presented at the quarter sessions for the neg-
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lect. The first school house was built in 1736, but probably
there was no school kept in it, for the next year the town
was again presented for want of a school. This school house
was 20 feet long and 16 feet wide, and 6 1-2 feet between
the floors, and was set near the present meeting house. In
1738 they probably avoided an indictment, as the records
say “Joshua Nichols was allowed £2 11s. 8d. for keeping
school ten days and for answering for school master last summer.”
In 1740, the town was again indicted for the same neglect,
and paid £4. 12s. as costs of court.

The population of the westerly part of the town (Spencer)
then probably contained between 200 and 800 persons, and
although they were taxed and paid their proportion of all
town charges, yet no provision had been made for a school
there.* The reason probably was, that the population was
so sparse, that a school would be of very little benefit. In
1741, the inhabitants of the westerly part petitioned to be
exempted from paying taxes for schools and the minister,
but their petition was denied. This state of things contin-
ued until 1748, when the town “ voted to have 10 weeks
schooling in the West Precinct.”  For three years there
was no further provision made by the town for schools there,
when in 1751, three schools were established in that part of
the town, “ to be kept six weeks, and to be removed twice.”
Thus far Leicester and Spencer were one town, acting to-
gether.

In 1753, when Spencer was incorporated as a town, and
could act independently, no provision was made for schools
for two years. 1755, sixteen pounds, and 1756, twenty
pounds, was raised for schools, which appear to be mere pit-

“The taxes derived from this part of the town were considerable, as all
the lands (20,000 acres), whether belonging to the original proprietors or
others, together with the polls and personal property of the settlers, were
assessed, and the taxes received therefrom paid into the general town trea-
sury.
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tances, but perhaps was as much as the town was able to
raise at that time. This year, an article in the warrant at
the annual town meeting was, to see if the town would build
one or more school houses, but the vote was in the negative.®
1757, a school was kept nine months. 1761, a school was
kept ten months, by three school masters. 1766, the town
was divided into six districts, and the next year a school
was kept in each district, in private houses. 1768, it was
voted to build a school house in each district, but this vote
was complied with only in part, as the districts were found
to be inconveniently large for the accommodation of the
scholars, and a new division of the town was made, consti-
tuting ten districts. 17806, a school house in each district
was ordered to be built, but this last order was not fully
complied with for some years, as the town had but just come
out of the revolution, and was too poor to furnish comfortable
dwellings for their own families, schools in the meantime
being kept in private families in some of the districts, until
about 1790. For several years previous to 1805, the sum of
500 dollars annually was raised and appropriated for the
support of schools. Since that period, not less than 600
dollars, often 700 or 800 dollars, has been annually raised
for the same object, and in 1837, 38 and 39, one thousand
dollars, next 1200 dollars, and for several years past 1500
dollars has been raised for common schools, and 600 dollars
for the high school. 1860, the sum of 1800 dollars for
district schools and 600 dollars for high school was raised ;
add to this the town’s proportion of the State school fund
and their interest money amounting to about 200 dollars.
In 1857, the town caused to be built a large and commo-
dious building for the accommodation of the high school.
The building is two stories in height, elegantly finished, with
cupola and bell, the lower story fitted for the use of the

* At the same meeting,  voted to provide stocks, as the law directs.”
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school, and the upper for a hall, called “Denny Hall,”
in honor of Mr. Charles E. Denny, who generously be-
queathed the sum of two thousand dollars, to be appropri-
ated towards that object.

1849, another school district was established, being taken
mostly from district No. 9, the remainder from district No.
10, being No. 11, and all their limits were defined by geo-
graphical lines, and stone monuments erected at their sev-
eral angles.

ECCLESIASTICAL.

Before giving the ecclesiastical history of Spencer, it will
be proper to commence with that of the town of Leicester,
and give a sketch of the same until the westerly part became
a separate precinct.

"October 11, 1716, the proprietors of the town voted,
“that as soon as twenty five families are settled within the
township of Leicester, the proprietors, as an encouragement
to the settlement of religion among them, will advance and
give the sum of forty pound money for and towards the
building a meeting house.” 1719, the house was partly
built, and the next year, July 21, William Dudley, Esq., in
behalf of the settlers, presented a petition to the Legislature,
praying that a vote of the town, raising money for finishing
the meeting house, might be ratified. This house was small,
and never completely finished, but was the only house of
worship for the congregational society until 1784, when the
present house was built. The old church stood on the com-
mon, a little south of the present house.

The first minister was the Rev. David Parsons. He had
been settled in Malden, and had been lately dismissed, and
several of his people had removed to Leicester. These being
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leading men of the town, it was probably by their influence
that application was made to Mr. Parsons to become their
minister. He was installed September 15, 1721. The con-
nexion proved to be an unhappy one, both for minister and
people. Although the settlement and dismission of Mr.
Parsons took place so many years since, that it may be
thought to have lost all interest with the present genera-
tion, yet like many other matters of history, long since
past away, many of the circumstances being of such an ex-
traordinary and unusual character, it may justify a more
particular detail than would otherwise have been given.

It is not known when the congregational church was
formed, as the ancient church records are lost ; but Governor
Washburn, in his History of Leicester, supposes it must have
been as early as the first organization of the town, and it
must have been prior to the settlement of a minister.

The following letters from the people of Leicester to Mr.
Parsons are inserted, not because they are absolutely neces-
sary in giving a history of the case, but as a curiosity, show-
ing the style, the cant and abject servility that, in those
days, were felt and used towards a minister. Such language
in these republican times, would not be tolerated, but scout-
ed and frowned into oblivion. The first is probably what in
ecclesiastical matters would be termed the “ call.”

«“ Rev’d Sir, _

¢“ After our humble duty to you, These we write in behalf
of the town of Leicester, are to give you a true and exact
account of our proceedings in our last town meeting with re-
spect to yourself. Sir, we are not a little sensible of the
Blessing, which we may receive from God, by your Labors
amongst us in the work of the ministry, if God in his provi-
dence should remove you from your uneasiness and difficulty,
when you are to settle among us; we hope God will stir up
the hearts of his people here, to be studying and endeavor-
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ing your comfort and happiness, so as we may be a Blessing
to you, and you a Blessing to us, which we heartily wish and
pray for. Rev’d Sir, we with one heart and Consent Do
call and Invite you to be our Minister, in the Work of the
Gospel amongst us, if you see Cause to accept and see your
way clear to remove ; but alas if we reflect back upon ourselves,
we cant but see we are utterly unworthy of so great a Bless-
ing, but if you have such a Blessing to bestow on us, as we
hope you will be, We desire forever to praise his name for
his Goodness to us ward. And sir, we heartily wish that we
were in a better Capacity than at present we are, to allow a
Minister a better salary, than at present we can; but this
we hope we can say, so far as we are able, we shall be hearty
in, and more especially to such a one as yourself. And so
we pray God to direct you for the best, after begging a
share in your prayers for us. We subseribe your humble
gervants to command.
Leicester, November 30th, 1720.

Thomas Newhall, Ralf Earle,
Williamn Brown, Daniel Denny,
James Southgate, Nath’l Richardson.

Reverend Sir. This is the substance of what was acted at
our meeting, and with the greatest love and least opposition
as could be imagined. The town act is as followeth.

“ Nov. 28th, at a Town Meeting legally warned, Mr. Na-
thaniel Richardson Moderator, Voted, that Mr. David Par-
sons be our Gospel Minister. Voted, that Mr. Parsons have
the forty acre lot next the Meetinghouse, and the rights in
quantity and quality, as other forty acre lots drawn in after
division. Voted, Mr. Parsons have sixty pounds settlement.
Voted, that Mr. Parsons have sixty pounds a year salary.”

Mr. Parsons, after receiving this call, hesitated or declined

giving a decisive answer, when the following letter was ad-
dressed to him.
8
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“Rev’d Sir. After humble duty to you, These are to in-
form you that we have reccived a Letter from yourself which
gives us great encouragement, that we may obtain you to
settle among us, in order to preach the Gospel among us,
which gives us great encouragement to raise to larger offers
as follows. We the subscribers have thought fit to raise our
former offers as you have had an account of by us: We do
oblige ourselves to make your settlement one hundred
pounds, and to add to your salary fifteer. pounds, which
makes seventy-five pounds. We do humbly beg a brief and
speedy relief under the difficulties, which we have labored
under a long time. Your humble servants.

Leicester, January the 13th, 1720-21.

Samuel Green, Thomas Richardson,
Richard Southgate, Joshua Nichols,
Samuel Stebbings, John Peters,
John Smith, William Green,
William Brown, John Smith,
Nath’l Richardson, John Burton,
Hezekiah Rus, Peter Carlisle,
John Lynde, Daniel Denny,
James Southgate, John Smith, Jun.,
William Keen, Thomas Smith,
Bartholomew Curtis, James Smith,
James Wilson, Aaron Bell,
Thomas Wascoot, Adam Taler,
Joseph Stebbings, Samuel Thomas,
Oliver Watson, Joshua Barton.”

Mr. Parsons was personally known to some of the signers
of the last letter ; they had a very high opinion of his char-
acter and qualifications for the ministerial office, and were
very desirous to obtain him. He had declined the offer of
the town, which was GO pounds settlement and 6O pounds
salary. Thirty individuals, then voluntarily agreed to make
the settlement 100 pounds and the salary 75 pounds. This
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was accepted, and he was removed to Leicester at the ex-
pense of the town, and installed, as before stated, Septem-
ber 15, 1721, the town having finally acted on the matter,
March 30, 1721.

For a time, peace and harmony appear to have prevailed
between minister and people, but difficulties soon arose.
The people neglected, or what is more probable, were unable,
to pay his salary punctually, and then instead of the
“blessing ”’ which they so “ heartily wished and prayed for,”
they found they had caught a tartar.

How long this mutual satisfaction between minister and
people remained, is not now known, but in 1728, Mr. Par-
sons commenced a suit at the civil law for the arrears of his
salary, and not satisfied with that, he actually procured an
indictment at the quarter scesions at Cambridge, for this neg-
lect. This hasty movement produced great irritation with
his people. After cgnsiderable altercation, a town meeting
was called January 2, 1728-29, “to sec if the town would
raise Mr. Parsons’ salary, or otherwise, to see if they were
willing he should leave the town.” ¢ Voted, that we are
willing he should leave the town, but shall not raise his salary.”
Mr. Parsons again applied to the law for redress, and for
the arrears of his salary which the town voted not to raise.
The town contested his claim, but the court not ouly sus-
tained his demand, but amerced the town ¢n a fine for their
neglect, and ordered executions to be issued.

Having failed at the Judicial Courts, the town next ap-
plied to the General Court, in a petition, presented Februa-
ry 26, 1731, ¢ complaining of great irregularities and ill
conduct in their minister, Mr. David Parsons, for which the
town have voted to dismiss him ; notwithstanding which the
petitioners have been fined for not assessing his salary;
praying for relief.” The court ordered the petitioners to
notify Mr. Parsons to appear at the session in May, to at-
tend to the petition, “ and that execution be stayed in the
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mean time.” At the session in May, the parties met, and

after hearing the answer of Mr. Parsons, the petition was
dismissed. A large majority of the congregation and church
moved together in all these proceedings; they had voted
his dismission, and chose a committee to supply the pulpit,
and being thus foiled in all their attempts to depose their
minister, and avoid the payment of his salary, they not
only had two or three years salary to pay on execution, but
a fine and a heavy bill of cost. This was a sad disappoint-
ment. Although foiled, they were not discouraged, but de-
termined to persevere until they attained their object, and
at the same session of the General Court, they presented
another petition for relief. June 23, 1731, the General
Court say, ¢ Whereas, the differences that have arisen be-
tween the Rev. Mr. Parsons, Pastor of the Church at Leices-
ter, and a great number (if not a majority) of the brethren
of said church and inhabitants of said town have been of
long eentinuance, and proceeded to such a degree as greatly
to prejudice the interests and destroy the ends of the Gospel
Ministry, the breach between them appearing to be incura-
ble, and so as to leave no hope that Mr. Parsons’ Ministry
may be serviceable, at least to a great part of the people, and
whereas, application is made in the name of said town and
church of Leicester, to the General Court, for relief in the
premises ; Resolved and ordered, that all such of the inhabi-
tants of the said town of Leicester, who conscienciously dis-
sent from Mr, Parsons’ Ministry, respecting points either of
doctrine or discipline, alleging scruples of conscience as the
grounds of their refusal to attend thereon, and do in the
space of six months next ensuing, signify the same in
writing, under their hands, to Joseph Wilder, Esq., (who is
appointed by this court to take a subscription of their hands
accordingly,) as also, that they are willing and desirous to
uphold and maintain the public worship of God and Gospel
order, that then and from thenceforth, all such persons so
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subscribing, together with their ratable polls and estates of
themselves and families, and such of their descendants as
shall and may desire the same privileges, shall be freed and
exempted from all rates, taxes and assessments, and charges
for and towards the support of the said Mr. Parsons; any
law, usage or custom to the contrary notwithstanding. Pro-
vided always, that nothing in this resolve or order shall be
deemed, or construed, or taken in prejudice of the said Mr.
Parsons’ right in or unto that two hundred acres of land®
which is, or hath been in his possession, as minister of said
town, but that the same shall remain to him, his heirs or
assigns, forever, anything in the resolve or order notwith-
standing ; Provided also, that none of the inhabitants, sub-
seribing as aforesaid, shall receive benefit or exemptions, by
virtue of this resolve or order, until he or they do respective-
ly provide an able orthodox minister, generally to dispense
the word of God among them, or otherwise diligently fre-
quent the public worship in some one of the neighboring
congregations, and submit their estates to be taxed a pro-
portionable part with the inhabitants of such town or towns,
respectively, where they so attend, for and towards the sup-
port of the ministry there; and do also pay and discharge
their respective parts and proportions of Mr. Parsons’ salary
due or becoming due to him in the interim.”

This order was some relief to the consciences of the peti-
tioners, while it added to the burthens of those who remained,
and did but little towards curing the difficulty ; Mr, Par-
sons still occupied the pulpit to the exclusion of all others,
and his salary must still be paid to that time. Many of the
people, however, availed themselves of the privilege, and
withdrew from his ministry and his support. This move-
ment so much increased the burthens of those who remained,

©It was afterwards incrensed to 425 acres, and a plan and record of the
same made on the Proprietors’ book of records.
g%
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that after the dismission of Mr. Parsons, and when about to
settle a successor, the town, December 2, 1735, by their
committee, Richard Southgate and John Lynde, presented
petition to the Gemeral Court, “setting forth the great
difficulties the said town is under as to the settlement
and support of a minister, by reason of the great charges
occasioned by the conduct of their late minister, and the
great number of those that are exempt by law from being
taxed towards those charges, and praying leave to tax all lands
one penny per acre for the settlement, &c., of a minister.”

The town was not yet satisfied, but determined if pos-
sible to avoid the payment of his salary, and they presented
another petition to the General Court, July 28, 1731, « set-
ting forth their great grievances in being constrained to
maintain Mr. David Parsons as their minister, after the
town had voted his removal, and his conduct had become so
ill in that office; therefore praying that this court would
explain the act of the Province for the support of ministers,
upon which they were cast at the court of general sessions
of the peace for the county of Middlesex, that they may
have liberty to appeal from the judgment of the court, or
have a trial de novo, so that they may have the benefit of a
gury ! and that execution be stayed in the meantime.” But
their petition was not granted, although execution was
stayed until another hearing.

The General Court at length became worried into the
measure, and passed a resolve releasing the town from any
longer supporting Mr. Parsons, but then the Governor
(Belcher) refused to sign it. This state of things continued
until 1734, when ¢ six Worcester gentlemen came as media-
tors between Mr. Parsons and the town.” But the benevo-
lent efforts of these gentlemen did not succeed. At last the
town and church obtained an ecclesiastical council, and they
dismissed him in March, 1735.

It is curious, in looking back to this period, to observe the
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difference which then prevailed in respect to the mode of set-
tling and dismissing ministers, and that of the present day.
It was then extremely difficult to effect the dismissal of a min-
ister,unless there were gross blemishesin his moral character,
or his doctrine and mode of discipline did not agree with the
Cambridge Platform. They were taken for life, for better
or worse, in sickness or health.

After his dismissal, he lived in Leicester until his death,
which took place October 12, 1743, aged 63. His wife
Sarah died June 17, 1759, aged 73. ¢ He was, by his spe-
cial direction, buried on his own land, apart from the graves
of his people. He was unwilling that his ashes should re-
pose by the side of those with whom he had worshipped in
the sanctuary, and to whom he had broken the consecrated
bread ; the grave is now (or was lately) visible in a mowing
field, about thirty rods north of the meeting house — a mon-
ument of human frailty.” #

Their next minister was the Rev. David Goddard, from
Framingham., The town gave him £300 settlement, and
£100 salary so long as he remained their minister. He
was ordained June 30, 1736. The connection proved a
happy one for both parties, and although his salary was often
in arrear, he did not like his predecessor sue the town, but
meekly awaited their ability to pay. He died January 19,
1754, at Framingham, where he was seized with a fever
when on a journey, aged 48.

During the ministry of Mr. Parsons, and seven or eight
years of Mr. Goddard’s, the people of the Westerly part of the
town (Spencer) paid their proportion of all parish taxes, and
a portion of them attended upon the preaching there, al-
though previous to some of the above dates, some attempts

were made to procure preaching among themselves. As ear-
ly as April 2, 1739, Samuel Bemis and John Stebbings, in

* Governor Washburn’s first History of Leicester, in the Worcester Maga-
zine, Vol. 2, pages 82 — 84.



88 HISTORY OF SPENCER,

behalf of the other settlers, met the proprietors at Boston,
to «consider some way to have the Gospel preached among
the settlers, and to be freed from paying towards the support
of the minister of the easterly part of said town, and to
come to some agreement about the building a meeting house
for the accommodation of the settlers.” At this mecting, a
vote was unanimously passed, to tax the proprictors’ lands,
to assist the settlers in those proposed objects. Nothing,
however, seemed to have been cffectually done, until the next
January, when the proprietors ¢ voted unanimously, to lay a
tax of three pence per acre on all their lands, for the year
1740, and a further tax of two pence per acre, annually, for
the two next years, “for building a good, substantial meet-
ing house, of forty-five foot long and thirty-five foot wide, on
land of Mr. Nathaniel Cunningham, where he and the set-
tlers shall agree, and towards a minister’s support.” Accord-
ingly, Mr. Cunningham, a wealthy merchant of Cambridge,
by deed dated February 26, 1740, gave the inhabitants two
acres of land, * for the accommodation of the meeting-house,
and for a training field, and for such other public uses as the
town shall direct, forever.” At a subsequent meeting, Oc-
tober 29, Samuel Bemis, Jonathan Lamb, and Moses Smith,
were chosen assessors, and Samuel Capen collector of the
aforesaid taxes.

Nothing further is heard respecting the meeting house or
minister for threec years, when, November 2,1743, ten of the
inhabitants of the town met the proprietors again at Bos-
ton, to sec what the ¢ proprietors will give towards the as-
sistance of the inhabitants, for encouragement specdily to
settle a learned and orthodox minister of the gospel among
them.”® At this meeting, the proprietors subjected their

¢ At a town meeting in Leicester, 1741, application was made by the in-
habitants of the Westerly part, that the money drawn from them by taxa-
tion, for parochial purposes, might be appropriated for the support of preach-
ing in that part of the town, but the request was not granted.
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lands to a further tax of two pence, old tenor, per acre, an-
nually, for five years, towards the support of a minister.* In
the mean time, the meeting house was built, but at what
time is not now known, but another meeting was had at Bos-
ton the 30th of the same month, “to receive the report of
the committee who contracted for the building the meecting
house, and the accounts of the persons employed therein.”
The house, undoubtedly, was built in 1743.

This house, when said to be built, was but imperfectly so,
for it never was finished. The outward walls were
covered with unplaned boards, and without clapboards.
The glazing was small diamond glass, with leaden sashes,
according to the fashion of those times, but no inside finish-
ing, with the exception of laying the lower floor. The next
year, 1744, the pews next to the walls were built, being four-
teen only in number, leaving a space at the southeast and
southwest angles, for stairs to ascend into the galleries, there
being no porches to the house for that purpose, and over each
of these stairways were two pews. The interior, on the low-
er floor, was filled with four seats on each side of the centre
aisle, called “ body seats.” These seats were for the elderly
men who were without pews, on the west side, and for the
elder women on the east side. In the gallery, were seats
for the younger people, the two sexes separated, east and
west, similar to the lower floor. And as a small number on-

¢ The General Court, in 1749, passed an act abolishing old tenor, and sub-
stituting what was called new fenor in its stead. This act, not without con-
siderable opposition, was effected, chiefly, by the influence of the late Gov-
ernor Hutchinson, who was then speaker of the House. The currency was
greatly depreciated and irregular, and this act was a great relief to the com-
munity. At the time this act was passed, twenty shillings old tenor was
equal to two shillings and eight pence, lawful money, or about forty-four
cents. Consequently, the salary of Mr. Eaton, for his first year, being 150
pounds, old tenor, was equal to $606.67, and a tax of two pence, old tenor,
per acre, calculatingz 20,000 acres of land for the town, would be about
$74.83.
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ly of the inhabitants were accommodated with pews, many
attempts were made for leave to build pews on part of the
ground occupied by the body seats, without success until
1767, when it became necessary to repair the house ; the priv-
ilege of building four pews was sold, and the avails appro-
priated for new covering and clapboarding the house, and
some finishing inside.

This was indeed a day of small things with our fathers, this
house being their only place of worship until 1772, when a
new, substantial, and even elegant house for those days, was
built, being 56 feet long by 47 feet wide. In 1802, a tower
and cupola with a bell was added, and 1838, the same house
was enlarged, and entirely new finished and new modeled,
within and without, in handsome modern style.

It has already been mentioned, that the act, whereby this
part of the town became a Parish, was passed June 18, 1744.
The first and only candidate for the ministry was the Rev.
Joshua Eaton. He commenced preaching here, probably, in
September, 1743. A church was formed May 17, 1744.
The same day a covenant was subscribed by the following

persons :
Joshua Eaton, Pastor, Josiah Robinson,
James Wilson, Deacon, James MecClure,
Joshua Barton, John Lawdon,
Archibald Thomas, Deacon, Oliver V/atson.

Jonathan Ormes,

It will be seen that at that time, though only a candidate
for the ministry, Mr. Laton subscribed himself ¢ Pastor.”
May 28, 1744, the church and society gave an invitation to
Mr. Eaton to be their minister, offering him all the land
tax, lately assessed, besides an additional sum by subscrip-
tion, as a settlement, and onc hundred and fifty pounds, old
tenor, for salary. He gave his answer in the affirmative,
September 24, of the same year. The town also voted to
add five pounds, annually, to the salary, until it should
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amount to 200 pounds, old tenor, and the sum was to be
made equal to silver at twenty-six shillings and cight pence
per ounce. In 1748, the currency became so depreciated,
that 100 pounds was added to his salary, and 1766, it was
made equal to about §244, and so remained until his death.

Mr. Eaton was ordained November 7,1744. Mr. Pren-
tice of Grafton, made the introductory prayer. Mr. Hall
of Sutton, preached the sermon, from 1 Timothy, 6: 20, «“O
Timothy, keep that which is committed to thy trust, avoid-
ing orcfane and vain babblings and oppositions of science
falsely so called.” Mr. Cheney of Brookfield, made the
prayer previous to the charge; Mr. Hall gave the charge;
Mr. Goddard of Leicester, made the prayer after the charge;
Mr. Webb of Uxbridge, gave the right hand of fellowship,
and Mr. White of Hardwick, “joined in laying on the
hands.”

The Rev. Joshua Eaton was the only son of Mr. Joshua
Eaton, and was born at Waltham, then a part of Watertown,
December 15, 1714, old style. Ile was graduated at Har-
vard University in 1735. His parents® had designed him for
the ministry, but contrary to their wishes, and to their great
disappointment, he turned his attention to the law, and stud-
jed that profession with Judge Trowbridge of Cambridge,
then an eminent attorney at law. In 1737, he commenced
the practice of law at Worcester, being six years after the
incorporation of the county, and was the first lawyer who es-
tablished himself in that town. He continued in the prac-
tice only about five years. His talents were reputable, and
he soon acquired an extensive business in his profession. He
early shone with a promising lustre in the knowledge and

© His parents, says his biographer, were ¢ honest and respectable.”” They
removed to Worcester, where his father carried on the business of a tanner,
and was one of the selectmen of that town in 1742, They afterwards re-
moved and lived with their son in Spencer, where his mother died June 5,
1760, aged 73. His father died February 26, 1767, aged 84.
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practice of the law, and had the fairest prospect of acquiring
to himself a good and great name in that profession, and
acquiring an ample fortune to his family.*

About the year 1740, he received a powerful impression in
favor of the subject of religion, which induced him, in ac-
cordance with the desires of his parents, to turn his views to
the ministry ; and for that porpose, he commenced the study
of theology. He is supposed to have received his first relig-
ious impressions from the celebrated George Whitefield, who,
in one of his itinerations through the country, visited Wor-
cester and preached there in 1740. The glowing eloquence,
the ardent and impetuous zeal of Mr. Whitefield, created
great agitation, distraction and division among the New
England churches. True, he was opposed by a large major-
ity of the clergy, but a few joined with bim and encouraged
his preaching.}

© Funeral sermon by the Rev. Eli Forbes of North Brookfield.

T Mr. Whitefield was a man of extraordinary powers of elocution, and he
won multitudes, but his language was coarse and disrespectful to his oppo-
nents, of revolutionary tendency, and sometimes hordering on impiety, and
his measures disorganizing. President Clapp, of Yale College, testifies,
that he heard Mr. Whitefield make use of the following language: *Iin-
tend to turn the generality of the ministers of this country out of their
pulpits (who are half beasts and half devils), and bring over ministers from
England.” His preaching produced great divisions and great acrimony of
feeling between those of the clergy who adhered to him, and those who op-
posed him. The former asserted that he ought to be supported * because
the doctrines which he preaches are agreeable to the standard of truth, and
also because of his remarkable success.” In reply it was asked if it was
true ¢ that God loved sinners as sinners 2’ which was quoted as one of Mr.
Whitefield’s assertions, and in answer to the second they reply, ¢ It is to be
observed with lamentation, that the success of his ministry (if it may be
called success) hath been to raise in the minds of many, a spirit of censori-
ousness, and uncharitableness, of bitterness, anger, wrath, malice, envy,
revenge, in many, as is evident to every observing eye, by the carriage of
his admirers toward many of the brethren, with whom, before he came
amongst us, they lived in peace and good agreement. Such success he hath
had, to the grief of many godly persons,” Deane’s History of Scituate,
pages 225, 402, 413,
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The enthusiasm of Mr. Eaton so far carried him beyond
the bounds of propriety, that he incurred the censure of the
church in Worcester, and he was suspended from their com-
munion. By his own request, an ecclesiastical council was
convened to advise in the matter between himself and the
church. Upon this he remarks in his diary : November 25,
1743. «The church was pleased to restore me to christian
privileges without any acknowledgement, and gave as a rea-
son for what they had done, in censuring me, that they look-
ed upon me as being actuated by an overheated brain.”
About this time, he had commenced preaching as a candidate
in Spencer.

Mr. Eaton lived with his people in great harmony, during
his ministry, and though often called from his labors by se-
vere indisposition, they did not complain, but cheerfully paid
him the small pittance of a salary, and their affection con-
tinued unabated to his death, which took place April 2,
1772, aged 57, and in the 28th of his ministry. |

- Mr. Eaton in his person was tall and slim, lacking some-
what of that rotundity of figure which implies a healthy
and sound constitution. In fact he was, during the greater
part of his ministry, predisposed to consumption, and of
which disease he died. Although his religious zeal had con-
siderably abated, yet his piety continued ardent, and his con-
duct and deportment throughout his life was consistent with
his profession as a christian. Possessing a kind and affec-
tionate disposition, of tender sensibility, and overpowered by
emotion, he sometimes addressed his people from the desk,
in tears. He never regretted the exchange from alucrative
profession to one that gave him but a meagre support. Be-
ing, on some occasion, called to attend court at Worcester,
he exclaims, “O, the tumult and dissipation and snares that
attend courts. I think I would not return to the practice of
the law on any consideration.” His preaching was plain

and practical, and he seldom or never delivered doctrinal dis-
9
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courses. After his death, a volume of his sermons was
printed, which were characteristic of his general preaching.
To this volume was added a memoir of his life, together with
the sermon delivered at his funeral, by the Rev. Eli Forbes
of Brookfield. He was married to Sarah Elliot, ¢ of an an-
cient and honorable family,” December 26, 1739. She was
sister to John Elliot, Esq., of whom some account is given,
in another place in this work. She died October 28, 1770.

REV. JOSEPH POPE.

After the death of Mr. Eaton, Daniel Grosvenor supplied
the pulpit two sabbaths,* and a Mr. Z. Butler, four Sabbaths.
Next, Rev. Joseph Pope preached as a candidate, and con-
tinued to supply the pulpit until he was ordained. Mr.
Pope was born in Pomfret, afterwards a part of Brooklyn,
Conn., September 28, 1746, and was a neighbor of General
Israel Putnam, of revolutionary memory, with whom he ex-
changed social visits until the death of the General, which
took place 1790. Mr. Pope was graduated at Harvard
University in 1770. After leaving college, he was employed
one year teaching a Latin School in Worcester, where he
fitted several young gentlemen for college. He commenced
the study of theology with the Rev. Mr, Searl of Stoneham,
Mass., and completed his course under the Rev. Mr. Putnam
of Pomfret, the minister of his native town. After preach-
ing about three months at Uxbridge, Mass.,, he came
by invitation to this town, and giving satisfaction to the
people of this place, they with great unanimity gave him a
call, February 15, 1773, to settle with them as their min-
ister. He was offered the sum of £133 6s. 8d. (§444.,45)
as settlement, and $244, as salary, « during the time he shall

@ Rev. Daniel Grosvenor, also a native of Pomfret, Conn. He was or-
dained at Grafton, October 19, 1774, and dismissed January 1, 1788, after-

wards installed at Paxton, November 5, 1793, and dismissed November 17,
1802. He died at Petersham at an advanced age.
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supply the pulpit in this place.” The settlement and salary,
for aught that appears, was satisfactory, but the conditions
were rejected. The offer was then qualified, so as he should
receive his salary “so long as he shall continue in that
office in this place.” These terms were accepted, and he was
ordained October 20, 1773. Eleven clergymen, with their
delegates, assisted at the ordination, viz: Mr. Putnam of
Pomfret, Mr. Hall of Sutton, who also assisted at the ordi-
nation of Mr, Eaton twenty-nine years previously, Messrs.
Ward, Forbes and Fiske, from the three parishes in Brook-
field, Mr. Searl of Stoneham, Mr. Conklin of Leicester, Mr.
Paine of Sturbridge, Mr. Maccarty of Worcester, Mr. Sumner
of Shrewsbury, and Mr. Thayer of Paxton. Mr. Pope was
married to Miss Anna Hammond, daughter of Col. Benjamin
Hammond of Newton, October 9, 1777. During his long
ministry, nothing occurred of a serious nature to disturb the
harmony between him and his people. A considerable por-
tion of the time of his ministry, and especially during the
period of the revolutionary war, owing to the depreciation of
the currency, the salary was unreasonably small, and was by
no means an adequate remuneration for his services, and
especially for the support of his family. But this was a
time of universal distress, when not only ministers were de-
prived of an adequate support, but the people also were lit-
erally crushed to the earth, beneath the enormous burthens
heaped upon them, and were scarce able to support them-
selves and families. Occasionally however, an allowance
was made to Mr. Pope, but seldom sufficient to compensate
for the depreciation of the currency or the rise in the articles
of living in modern times. During some part of the time,
while the American army was stationed in the vicinity of
Boston, he gratuitously performed the service of chaplain.
He continued to supply the pulpit until November 1818,
when a sudden stroke of paralysis rendered him nearlyhelpless
during the remainder of his life. He continued however to
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linger for more than seven years, when death, who must have
been a welcome messenger, put a period to his almost worn
out existence, March 8, 1826, in the eightieth year of his
age, and fifty third of his ministry. After he was unable to
officiate at the sacred desk, a junior pastor was settled, and
again dismissed before the decease of the venerable senior.

Mr. Pope’s literary acquirements were superior to the gen-
erality of his ministerial brethren. He was a good classical
scholar, and during his ministry, prepared several young gen-
tlemen from Worcester and other towns for college, and
among others, the Hon. Timothy Bigelow, who always re-
membered him with gratitude, and frequently with some-
thing more valuable than compliments, as the writer of this
work can attest. In his religious sentiments, like his prede-
cessor, he was Calvinistic, and like him too, his sermons
were plain, practical discourses. He seldom preached upon
controversial subjects, except occasionally, when he regaled
his hearers with a discourse upon the doctrine of predesti-
nation, which always gave offence to some of his most seri-
ous people.®

Mrs. Anna Pope, widow of the Rev. Joseph Pope, survived
him more than thirty-three years, and died July 14, 1859,
at the great age of one hundred and four years, siz months
and twenty-eight days, having been born at Newton, De-
cember 16, 1754. The anniversary of her one hundreth
year was celebrated December 16, 1854, when a pleasant
gathering was had at her habitation, formerly the residence
of the Rev. Mr. Eaton. This ancient house was built by
him in 1745, being now 115 years old, and still in good
repair, and now owned by William Pope, Esq., the only sur-
viving child of his parents. The following is an account of
the anniversary, taken from a newspaper printed at the
time, written by the Rev. S. G. Dodd.

@ The only printed discourse of Mr. Pope’s, is a sermon delivered at the
funeral of the Rev. Mr. Williams of Brimfield.
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A FAMILY CENTENNIAL.

On the 16th instant, Mrs. Anna Pope, widow of the Rev.
Joseph Pope of Spencer, completed her one Aundredth year.
This interesting event, drew together her descendants, in-
cluding several of the third generation, with a number of
others, relatives and friends.

A generous entertainment was provided for the guests, at
the residence of her son, William Pope, Esq. The divine
blessing was invoked by the Rev. Dr. Vaill of Palmer. The
100th Psalm, old version, beginning, ¢ All pcople that on
earth do dwell,” was sung, after which the company united
in Thanksgiving with the Rev. Mr. Park of West Boxford.
The occasion was one of deep and touching interest.

Mrs. Pope, though feeling the infirmities of age, still en-
joys a good degree of health and strength. With the aid of
magnifying glasses, she can read the large print of the
Bible Society’s edition of the Gospels and Psalms, and readily
hears conversation, raised but a little above the ordinary
tone. On the sabbath following, she was able to attend
church, and worship once more with her descendants and
kindred. Her memory of the scenes and events of her early
life, is yet fresh and accurate, and she delights to indulge
in reminiscences of the revolution.

In 1777, at the time of her marriage, she removed from
Newton, her native town, to Spencer, and has since, during
the period of 77 years, resided in the same house, and occu-
pied the same room. She has survived her husband 28
years, who had himself reached the age of nearly four score,
having been the able and faithful Pastor of the Congrega-
tional church in Spencer. Of those who were born in the
town, previous to her removal hither, only ten remain. It
is believed that no other clergyman’s wife or widow is now
living in New England, at such an advanced age. |

g¥
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Honored and beloved by all, she affords in the serenity
and cheerfulness of old age, a beautiful illustration of that

«“ perfect peace,” vouchsafed to those whose souls are
“ stayed on God.”

The following appropriate lines, written by one of her
grand-children, were read at the festival.

Beneath the venerable roof,
So long thine happy home,

With loving hearts and clasping hands,
Thy children’s children come.

Those stalwart elms, whose branching arms
Spread forth in welcome wide,

When here thou cam’st in all thy charms,
The Pastor’s cherished bride,—

One is not here—the axe of time
Has laid its greeness low;

One still remains—its aged head
Clad in the winter’s snow.

And where is he, thine early choice,
‘Who led thee here a bride ;

Who prayed so oft with earnest voice,
That God would here abide ?

‘Who led the people of his flock,
Childhood, and age, and youth,

And gathered honey from the rock
Of God’'s most holy truth ?

And she who claimed a daughter’s place,
In childhood on his knee,

Who lit this home with maiden grace,
The daughter, where is she?

The reverend head has long laid low,
And they whose christian love

Was seen so brightly here to glow,
Now sing with those above.
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The brothers—two have gone from earth,

One well-beloved remains ; |
Long may he live, who still thine age
With reverent care sustains.

All are not here—the grave has closed
O’er love, and youth, and grace ;

But memory brings the loved ones back,
And gives to each a place.

All are not here—if one has gone
Far upon error's track,

May God in mercy interpose,
And bring the wanderer back.

We bring our little ones to thee,
And beg that thou wilt lay

Thine aged hand upon each head,
And for God’s blessing pray.

We dare not ask for length of days,
Like that vouchsafed to thee,

But while they live, that all their ways
Be ways of purity.

Where'er they go—whate’er their lot
Through life’s uncertain ways,
Thy covenant God be ne’er forgot
In errors blinding maze.

Here may they learn these words of truth,
From thy life’s varied page;

Who make the Lord the choice of youth,
Find him the staff of age.

And when the Heavenly message comes,
To lead thee to the sky,

May He in whom thou hast believed
Still with his grace be nigh.

99
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And may we all, when o’er this spot
An hundred years have rolled,

Be gathered, not one name forgot,
Safe in the Heavenly fold.

After the pulpit became vacant by the sickness of Mr.
Pope, Mr. Stephen Crosby was employed as a candidate. He
had preached here only ten sabbaths, when the society by a
unanimous vote, March 15, 1819, invited him to become
their minister. They offered him for salary $650 per
annum, “ as long as he should remain in that office, and
should regularly supply the pulpit in this place.” The prop-
osition and the condition were couched in explicit terms,
and required an explicit answer. The answer was given
April 10, 1819, wherein he says, “ your unanimous call is
prayerfully received and cheerfully accepted. Understand-
ing the clause ‘shall regularly supply the pulpit in this
place,” not as referring to occasional absence and temporary
sickness, but as importing merely that my salary shall
cease whenever my ministerial connection with you shall be
dissolved in the manner specified by the town, that is by a
mutual council.” The answer was received on the third day
of May, when the people were assembled in legal meeting
for that purpose. There was not a little disagreement man-
ifested in the minds of the people as to its true purport. It
is obvious the town# intended his salary should continue
no longer than he regularly supplied the pulpit. But ac-
cording to his understanding, it was to continue until he
should be dismissed by a mutual council, whether the pulpit
was supplied or not, whether by permanent inability or any
other cause. After considerable discussion and deliberation,

@ At this time, all parish business was transacted in the name of the
town, as was formerly done in all the towns in the state since its first set-
tlement, and the words * town ” and * society,” are here indiscriminately

used.
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it was voted ¢ not to accept of the answer ;”” and the meeting
was adjourned to the sixth of the same month, and a com-
mittee was chosen to confer with Mr. Crosby and report at
the adjournment. But Mr. Crosby declined and utterly re-
fused to make any further explanation or communication
through this committee to the town. The meeting was
again adjourned to the 20th of the same month, and the
same committee were directed to have further conference
with Mr. Crosby upon the subject. But this intended con-
ference, however, resulted like the former, Mr. Crosby still
remaining obstinately mute, refusing to make any answer
to the questions put to him relative to the matter. At the
last adjourned meeting, after much debate the friends of Mr.
Crosby prevailed, and a majority were infatuated enough to
accept of his answer with all its ambiguity, and he was
ordained June, 1819.

By some unaccountable fatuity, a majority of the society
were deceived as to the true import of the answer. However,
nothing material occurred to disturb the harmony between
the parties for four years, but a portion of the people were
still dissatisfied, not only with the terms of the answer, but
also with the disrespect to the society shown by him,
throughout the whole negociation relative to the matter.
The matter having been held in abeyance for this length of
time, began again to be mooted by the people, and at last
the society felt called upon to act again in the matter.

Accordingly, a committee was chosen in March, 1823,
again to confer with Mr. Crosby relative to the matter. Al-
though he again refused to make any written communica-
tion to the town, he disclosed to the committee his own
views relative to the nature of the contract, which fully con-
firmed the suspicions as to its true import, when immediately,
by the direction of the society, the following communication
was transmitted to him.

“ Dear sir, You will recollect that when the society gave
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you an invitation to settle with them in the ministry, one
condition upon which said invitation was given was, that
your salary should annually continue, so long as you should
regularly supply the pulpit in this place, and their intention
was, that whenever your regular ministrations should cease,
your salary should cease also. But your answer contains
some ambiguity of phraseology, which at that time was not
understood by a majority of the society, but is now under-
stood by them to imply that your salary should continue to
any indefinite period whatever, without any regard to the
regular performance of your ministerial labors with the
society, unless an ecclesiastical council should see fit to dis-
solve the connection thus subsisting between you and the
society. And this, sir, the society has been informed is your
construction of the contract. Now, sir, the society cannot
but view this contract, as it is thus understood, as entirely
destitute of that reciprocity which is the only firm basis of all
equitable contracts, and which is so essential to promote the
harmony and the good understanding, as well as the interests
of the contracting parties. Viewing it in this light, sir, and
prompted by the dictates of prudence to ourselves and jus-
tice to our posterity, and being desirous of averting the dis-
astrous consequences which would inevitably ensne, should
such a contingency happen as has been alluded to in this
communication, the society has thought fit to enter anew
into a negociation with you, and to solicit your compliance,
that the aforesaid contract may be so altered or amended as
to conform to the wishes of the society, and to the spirit and
intention of the instrument, wherein they gave you an invi-
tation to become their minister. Accordingly, at a legal
meeting of the society convened for that purpose, they have
voted, that you be requested to consent to a modification of
the aforesaid contract, so that it may conform to the views
and wishes of the society as herein expressed, and that you
be also respectfully requested to signify your assent to, or
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dissent from, this proposition, in writing, to the committee
who may present this to you, if convenient, on or before the
first Monday in May next, when the society will again be
convened for the further consultation and determination of
this subject. April 7, 1823.”

The answer was received May 5, and although of great
length, it was in its character altogether non committal. He
neither admitted nor denied that the construction now put
upon the contract was or was not the true one; he neither
consented nor declined to alter or amend, or make a new
contract. In fine, he entirely avoided coming to the point
at issue between them ; professed to be somewhat indignant
at the “charge,” as he was pleased to term it, of ambiguity,
and finally stated that if the town would call another mcet-
ing, he would present a proposition upon the subject.

Accordingly, another meeting was held on the 26th of the
same month, agrecable to his request. At this meeting he
read a paper, but stated that he did not mean to have it
considered a formal communication. Consequently, no ac-
tion was had on it, and the paper was withdrawn, the meet-
ing was adjourned to the 16th of June, and a committee ap-
pointed to confer with him further upon the subject. At
the adjournment, the committee reported that they had
“ held a conference with him, but notwithstanding, had no
new communications to make to the town.”

March 15, 1824, another committee was chosen, ¢ to re-
quest the Rev. Mr. Crosby to alter the contract between him
and his people, or join with them in calling a council to
dissolve the connection.” The meeting was adjourned to
the 5th of April. At this meeting Mr. Crosby wished the
town to vote on the following proposition : ¢ Those who de-
sire my continuance with them, on fair and equitable terms,
would signify it.” The votes were 44 in favor, and 3
against it. He then read his communication, but it was not
satisfactory to the town, and it was withdrawn. It was then
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voted, that the town request Mr. Crosby to unite with them,
in calling an ecclesiastical council, for the purpose of dissolv-
ing the contract. A committee was chosen to present the
vote to him, and the meeting was further adjourned to the
19th. At this meeting, a vote was taken on the following
proposition. All who wish the Rev. Mr. Crosby to continue
with us, under existing circumstances, will please to signify
the same by voting.” Voted in favor one—against it, forty-
five. The meeting was further adjourned to the third day
of May. At this meeting, Mr. Crosby made another dis-
satisfactory communication, and the town then chose a large
committee, and delegated to them full power to act for them
in any circumstances which might arise, and they were ex-
pressly charged to call an exparte council, if necessary, and
then dissolved the meeting.

The committee had not proceeded far in the execution of
their commission, when the town was again called together,
August 30, 1824, to consider a new proposition from him.
One condition in this was, that whenever two thirds of the
society should desire his dismission, and should give him six
months notice in writing, and the reasons for such desire,
and the same privileges on his part, should he desire a dis-
mission, in either case, at the expiration of the term, a dis-
solution of the contract was to take place, and a mutual
council was to be called for that purpose. The society ac-
cepted this proposition, by a vote of 30 in favor, and 19
against. ‘

Although nothing new had taken place between the par-
ties, yet the people had become so much disaffected towards
him, that within two months, viz. : November first, another
meeting was called, to see if two thirds of the society would
agree to give him six months notice for a dismissal. The
vote was, for his dismissal 56, against it 26, being more than
two thirds in favor of dismissing him.

Many attempts and fruitless negotiations were made be-
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tween the parties, to effect an immediate dissolution of the
contract, without the formality of waiting six months, but it
only served to increase the mutual irritation. A mutual
council was at length convened, consisting of all the neigh-
boring ministers, with each a delegate, and, though Mr.
Crosby earnestly contended and protested before the council,
against their dissolving the contract, yet they were unani-
mously in favor of effecting it, and he was dismissed, May
31, 1825.

The Rev. Stephen Crosby was the son of a respectable
farmer, of Thompson, Conn. He commenced his education
at Brown University, but was finally graduated at Union
College, Schenectady, N. Y. in 1816 or 1817. He comple-
ted his theological studies with Doct. Nott, President of the
last-named college. After being settled in Spencer, he was
married to Miss Julia Cowles, daughter of a wealthy mer-
chant in Farmington, Conn., by whom he had one daughter,
named Mary Cowles, born May 30, 1823. After his dismis-
sion, he was installed at East Granby, Conn. He was dis-
missed from that place, and was settled in the western part
of New York. He left there, and was finally settled in or
near Norwich, Conn., where he died in 1839.

After the dismission of Mr. Crosby, the society was sup-
plied by occasional clergymen, during the remainder of the
year, when application was made to Mr. Levi Packard, to
preach a few weeks as a candidate. He continued to sup-
ply the pulpit until the third day of April, 1826, when the
church and society gave him a call by a unanimous vote, to
be their minister, offering him a salary of $550, per annum,
on condition, that the contract should be dissolved afier six
months notice, by either party. Mr. Packard accepted the
proposition, with the qualification, that the society should
pay him $475, as salary, and should also furnish him with
a respectable dwelling house, for him and his family, during

his continuance with the society as their minister. This
10
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was complied with, and he was ordained, June 14, 1826.
The following clergymen assisted at his ordination. M.
Huntington of North Bridgewater, Mr. Ide of Medway, Mr.
Sweet of Palmer, Mr. Nelson of Leicester, Mr. Clark of Rut-
land, Mr. Conant of Boston, Mr. Snell of North Brookfield,
Mr. Tomlinson of Oakham, Mr. Park of Southbridge,
Mr. Newhall of Oxford, Mr. Pond of Ward, and Mr. Bond
of Stockbridge. Agreeable to the contract, the society
furnished him with a commodious dwelling house, with
suitable outbuildings, and one acre of land. After a few
years, he was enabled to purchase the estate of the society,
where he continued to reside during his continuance in
Spencer.

Rev. Levi Packard was son of Mr. Levi Packard of North
Bridgewater, and was born in that town February 4, 1793.
He was graduated at Brown University in 1821. He com-
pleted his theological education with the Rev. Jacob Ide of
Medway, and was married to Miss Clarissa Sandford, daugh-
ter of Mr. Philo Sandford of Medway, August 16, 1820.

Rev. Mr. Packard was a gentleman of a generous and be-
nevolent disposition, honorable and conscientious in all his
transactions and intercourse with society, of unblemished
moral character, and in his course of life strictly exemplified
his religious principles and profession. He lived in peace
and harmony with his parishioners for twenty-seven years.
But being somewhat ultra against certain amusements, which
some of his people indulged themselves with occasionally,
which they considered innocent, and sometimes preaching
with severity against those indulgences, which he character-
ized as sin, he gave offence to some of his people, and under-
standing they were about making some demonstration of
their feelings, he gave the required notice for taking his dis-
mission, which took place September 23, 1853. After his
dismission, he was installed over a society in Woonsocket,
R. L., but was soon obliged, through increasing ill health, to
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resign his charge. He retired to Stafford Springs, Conn.,
where, after lingering for sometime, he died of consumption,
January 11, 1857. His remains were brought to Spencer,
and interred in the old cemetery, where Mr. Caleb M. Morse
has generously placed a handsome marble monument over
his- grave, with appropriate inscription upon it.

The next minister was the Rev. Stephen G. Dodd. He
was born in the town of Bloomfield, New Jersey, in the im-
mediate vicinity of the city of Newark, March 24, 1826, and
was graduated at the college of New Jersey, Princeton, in
that State, 1846. After completing his theological educa-
tion, he was settled over one of the Presbyterian societies in
the large village of Milford, Connecticut, 1852. Having
continued in that place about two years, he asked and ob-
tained a dismission, and was soon after invited by this socie-
ty to preach for them as a candidate. After preaching a
suitable time and giving satisfaction to the people, they gave
him a call to settle with them, which was aceepted, and he
was installed August 23, 1854. His salary, including a
house, furnished for him by the society, is $§825 per annum,
paid quarterly. He was married to Miss Eliza S. Shaw, of
Marietta, Ohio. Their only child, a son, named Amzi, was
born August 10, 1855. On the last day of March, 1860,
Mr. Dodd gave the society notice, according to the articles of
his settlement, that he should take a dismission from them
within six months. Accordingly, on the first day of Octo-
ber of the same year, he peaceably relinquished the charge
which he had held for more than six years, without the form-
ality of a council, and retired from the place without any
disaffection of either the minister or people, but with mutu-
al good will and respect.
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SINGING.

Sacred musie, as anciently performed, would hardly add
much to the edification of modern christian assemblies.
After the psalm was read by the minister, some one, who
acted as chorister, and this was generally some person who
had the loudest voice, gave out the tune to be sung. As but
few had books who joined in singing, one of the deacons
read the first line of the psalm, which was responded to by
the singers, who were promiscuously seated over all parts of
the house. The next line was then read and alike respond-
ed to, until the whole psalm was sung. By this method
those who were destitute of books were enabled to sing with
those who were fortunate enough to have them, as they could
repeat each line by memory after it had been pronounced by
the deacon. After practising several years in this manner,
the minister recommended, that instead of one line only, a
whole verse should be read by the deacon. Complaints were
immediately made, by those who had no books, against this
proceeding, ag an innovation from the ancient and sacred
manner of performing that part of public worship, as it de-
prived several from the ability to take a partin the perform-
ance thereof. But the perseverance of the minister overcame
all opposition or remonstrance, and this practice was contin-
ued for many years. At length it was found expedient for
the congregation to supply themselves with books, and to dis-
pense altogether with the services of the deacon in reading
or “ deaconing ”’ the psalm, and this practice universally pre-
vails to the present time.

At this time there had never been a school in the town,
for giving instruction in the science of musie, and every one
was at liberty to sing as the spirit moved, or as best he
might, without much regard to tune or time, and deacon W.,
whose soul was completely insensible to the ¢ concord of sweet
gounds,” would yet, with dismal tone, and in unison with no
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other voice, accompany the singing, if such it may be called,
throughout, the effect of which must have been anything but
harmony. It has been mentioned, that the singers originally
sat promiscuously in all parts of the house. Many efforts
were made to effect a reform in this matter, and have them sit
together, as manifestly more convenient for them, and more
edifying to the audience. But this, too, was considered an
innovation not to be quietly acquiesced with. Even aslate as
1782, an article was inserted in the warrant at the annual
meeting, “to see if the town will grant seats in the gallery in
the meeting house to the singers, that they may sit together.”
But it passed in the negative. DBut the town, having been
favored with the instruction in music with a Mr. Spear, and
afterwards with the celebrated Solomon Howe, a composer of
music, who, substituting some of the sweet and pleasing tunes
of Billings for the slow movements of Williams and Tansur,
effected such a reform in church music that the singers were
allowed to sit together, and the east half part of the front
gallery was appropriated for that purpose.®

Formerly, the chorister was chosen by the united votes of
the church and congregation, and not as now, and ever ought
to be, by the singers. Accordingly we find it recorded in
the records of the church, “ March 22, 1770, the church and
congregation voted for a chorister. Doct. Ormes had 23
votes, Mr. Mason had 18 votes. March 2, 1775, the church
chose John Muzzy, jun., for chorister. December 25, 1782,
the church and congregation chose Lieut. Jonas Muzzy for
chorister, and Mr. Oliver Watson, jun., as assistant.”

The Book of Psalms had at an carly period, been meta-
morphosed by Sternhold and Hopkins, into what might with
propricty be called doggerel poetry, for the use of religious

“ One old gentleman felt himself so much outraged, with what he consid-
ered such an improper manner of performing public worship, that he told
the Rev. Mr. Pope that, if he gave his encouragement to such improprieties,
he would serve them a trick that the devil wouldn’t—he would lenve them !

10%



110 HISTORY OF SPENCER.

assemblies. This production had experienced some changes
and revisions by Doct. Cotton Mather and Doct. Thomas
Prince, and others, until at last it had become stationary,
and was called the ¢ Old Version,” and if one was compelled to
read it at this time, he would consider it a more severe pun-
ishment than that inflicted on Galileo, who was condemned
to read the seven penitential psalms many times for the sin
of heresy. This “Old Version” continued to be used
throughout the greater part of Mr. Eaton’s ministry. It
had become stale and obsolete, and the ministers generally
(whose poetic taste was much superior to the generality of
their parishioners) were desirous of a change. But the old
people cherished this version with great reverence; it being
often bound in the same volume with their bibles, it was
considered as part of the same, and quite as sacred; while
the beautiful poetry in the versions of Brady and Tate and
Doct. Watts, was considered but little short of profanity.

In June, 1761, the church met to take the matter into
consideration, and after some debate it was voted, ¢that
having made trial of Brady and Tate’s version for sometime,
they would try the old version four Sabbaths, and Dr.
Watts until September, ¢ that then the church and congrega-
tion meet and choose which of the three versions they think
best to use.” After having made trial as aforesaid, the
church and congregation met, and the vote was, for the old
version, 33, for Doct. Watts, 14, for Brady and Tate, 6. So
the old version preponderated, and Watts, with Brady and
Tate, kicked the beam. After this, they voted to refer the
matter to three ministers, viz., Mr. Ruggles of New Brain-
tree, Mr. White of Hardwick, and Mr. Forbes of North
Brookfield. These gentlemen advised them to make use of
Brady and Tate on trial for six months, and then determine
which should be used, by vote, concluding their advice by
recommending them for ¢ constant use, as we do apprehend
it most for the glory of God, and the edification of the
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church.” Here the matter rested, the old version was used
eight years longer, and no action was taken upon the advice
of these ministers until May, 1769, when it was voted to
accept of their report and make trial of Brady and Tate.
But the minority were so much dissatisfied that the old ver-
sion was continued two weeks longer, when it was voted that
the old version, with Dr. Watts, should be used unitedly,
“till the church and congregation shall come to a better
understanding as to what version may be sung.” This
method would place the two versions in contrast every Sun-
day. This was continued until October 19, 1769, when the
good sense of the people prevailed, and the church and con-
gregation voted to make use of Doct. Watts’ Psalms and
Hymns. The votes were, for Doct. Watts, 26, and * about
6 votes for the old version.”

BAPTISTS.

The first Baptist Church in Spencer was constituted June
30, 1819. Their meeting house was built the next year,
1820, and is situated at the northeast part of the town, near
to the line of the town of Paxton. The society is not large
and is composed of members from Spencer and the adjoining
towns of Rutland and Paxton, and perhaps a few from Lei-
cester and Oakham. Their first minister was the Rev.
Amos Lefavor, who was ordained in the winter of 1821.
How long he continued with them is uncertain. The next
minister was Mr. George Phippen, who preached for them
1827 and 1828. Edward Kenney was employed in the
ministry for them 1829 and 1830; Rev. Moses Harring-
ton preached for the society 1834 and 1835 ; their next
minister was Willard Glover, who continued only for the
year 1837. Elder Luther Goddard of Worcester preached
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occasionally for 1838 and 1839. Mr. Urijah Underwood was
their minister for 1840. The above account is meagre and
imperfect, but as the records of the society are unfortunately
lost, it is all that could be obtained.

Thus far was written in 1841, For a few years succeed-
ing that date, the society seemed to be dwindled to a smail
remnant, and was not supplied except casually, with preach-
ing. Bat lately it has seemed to have arisen from its low
estate to a prosperous condition ; they have repaired their
meeting house, their numbers have increased, have regular
preaching, accompanied with improved church musie, and
appear to be in a state of prosperity.

UNIVERSALISTS.

The Universalist Society in Spencer was incorporated,
April 22, 1830. At this time it consisted of ten members
only, viz.: Phinehas Jones, Jacob Wilson, Rufus Sibley,
Caleb Sibley, Jonas Sibley, Oliver C. Watson, Wilber How-
land, Nathaniel Wilson, Alonzo Temple and Lemuel Smith.
It was organized by the formation of a constitution and the
choice of officers, on the day of incorporation, since which
time, thirty-eight other members have joined, with their
families. The meeting house was built in 1833, and dedi-
cated November 20, of the same year. Dedicatory sermon
by the Rev. L. S. Everett, then of Charlestown. The church
was formed October 29, 1834, and the same day, Rev. Gil-
man Noyes was installed ; sermon by Rev. Sylvanus Cobb
of Malden. The first two years, the society was partially
supplied by occasional preaching. William A. Stickney
preached for them, 1832. Rev. Gilman Noyes was their
regular minister for six years, from 1833 to 1839. Mr.
Noyes was a graduate of Dartmouth College, and studied
theology with the Rev. Sylvanus Cobb. The Rev. John
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Harriman, was their minister for the years 1839 and 1840.

In a few years after this, by deaths, removals, and other
causes, the society became extinct, and the meeting house
was sold and used for quite a different purpose. Within two
or three years, however, a number of citizens of the town
have united, and procured ministers of that faith to preach
for them, every other Sunday. The Town Hall is occupied
by them for that purpose, with respectable members in
attendance.

METHODISTS.

In 1841, Nathaniel Eldridge, Silas Eldridge, William
Henshaw, Danforth Burgess, and a few others, united and
formed themselves into a society, agreeable to the rules and
regulations of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and the
Town Hall was obtained for the use of holding religious
meetings. Their numbers continued to increase by many
additional members, among which were, Pliny Allen, Amos
Kittredge, Foster Bemis, Amos Bemis, Edward Hall, Lewis
W. Snow, James B. Holmes, Thomas Hersey, Isaac L. Stearns,
Dwight D. Prouty, Joshua Sylvester, and others, when,
1847, a commodious lot of land was obtained on which, was
erected a handsome church, with cupola and steeple, the
same year, the whole costing about $4,500. The next year,
a board of trustees was organized, to manage and take care
of the interests of the society. The following are the names
of the first board.

Pliny Allen, President; Amos Kittredge, Treasurer;
Silas Eldridge, Secretary; Nathaniel Eldridge, Foster
Bemis.

Lately the Trustees have procured a convenient Parson-
age, for the accommodation of their ministers, at the cost of
about $1,500, and the society appears to be in a prosperous
condition.
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CATHOLICS.

According to the census of 1860, there are more than 700
foreigners in this town, consisting principally of Irish and
Canadian French, with a few English. Most of these, ex-
cept the English, profess the Roman Catholic religion. In
1853, they built a handsome church, with cupola, steeple
and bell. The meetings are held weekly, attended by a
priest from the college in Worcester. Their religious servi-
ces are accompanied with an organ, according to the rites of
the catholic religion.

ROADS.

The great Post Road, anciently called the ¢ Country Road,”
was formerly an avenue of great importance, being the great
thoroughfare from Boston to New York. The route was
from Boston, by the way of Marlborough to Worcester,
thence through Spencer to Springfield, thence down by Con-
necticut river to Hartford, thence by the way of New Haven
to New York. This road was not located by any legal
authority, until many years after the traveller or wayfaring
man had passed through this region. The first settlers of
Massachusetts had not migrated westerly of Watertown,
until January 27, 1632. On that day, Gov. Winthrop and
others went up Charles river about cight miles, and from
an eminence, they discovered a high hill, about 40 miles
distant, which is supposed to be Wachusett. This is the
earliest notice taken of any of this part of the country by
the earliest historians of New England. But no attempt is
known to have been made to penetrate any farther into the
country until the next year, 1633, when it is said that Mr.
Oldham and some others, traveled from Dorchester through
the wilderness to Connecticut, to view the country and trade
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with the Indians. They brought back such a flattering
report, that it determined many of the Dorchester people to
remove thither. Accordingly, November 15, 1635, a com-
pany of about six{y men, women and children, with cows,
horses and swine, went from Dorchester by land, to Wind-
sor in Connecticut, to commence a settlement there. This
must have been a tedious and difficult journey. Governor
Hutchinson says, ¢ it was near a fortnight’s journey, having
no pillow but Jacob’s and no canopy but the heavens; a
wilderness to go through, without the least cultivation ; in
most places, no path nor any marks to guide them, depend-
ing upon the compass to steer by. Many hideous swamps
and very high mountains, besides five or six rivers, or differ-
ent parts of the same winding river, (Chicopee) not every
wherc fordable, which they could not avoid.” They prob-
ably passed a little south of this town; because, taking a
direct course by the compass, until striking the Chicopee
river, they must have passed near here. Although the in-
tercourse between Boston and Connecticut was mostly by
water, yet every year after this, more or less people passed
from one to the other place, by land. This course of travel,
after a while, would leave some traces or landmarks on their
route; succeeding travelers would be likely thus to be
guided, until at length a visible track or trail would be
made. As the tide of emigration continued to set into the
the country further west, buildings and fences would be
erected on these tracks, with some variations, until ulti-
mately, they became roads. In 1648, says Winthrop, “a
new way was found out to Connecticut, by Nashua, avoiding
much of the hilly way.” This must have been a circuitous
route, passing by the way of Lancaster, and then probably
to Worcester. Another was, to pass through the southerly
part of Northborough, then a part of Marlborough, thence
to Westborough and Grafton. This has since been called
the ¢ old Connecticut Road.” Afterward, it was varied,
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or rather a new way was found. Coming from Marlborough,
it passed through the centre of what is now Northborough,
from thence through Shrewsbury, Worcester, Leicester, and
Spencer, to Brookfield, on or near the line of the present
road. This was called the “ New Connecticut Road’”’ from
Marlborough to Worcester, and from Worcester to Brook-
field the “Country Road.” This last-described route, was
merely a path cut through the woods, and practicable only
for passengers on foot, or with horses, and was traveled as
early as 1674, at which time there was not a single habita-
tion on it, between Marlborough and Brookfield, except a
few log houses in Worcester. It had no definite location
through this town, as late as 1722, for the town of Leicester,
this year, voted that “ the selectmen make application to the
quarter sessions at Cambridge, to have the country road
laid out through this town.” The application was not suc-
cessful, and the next year a similar vote was passed. These
applications being unsuccessful, Governor Washburn says,
the selectmen of Leicester, in 1773, laid out the road through
Leicester to Spencer line, by marked trees, &. When the
road was located by competent authority, is not now known,
but in 1725, the town was presented at the quarter sessions
for want of a bridge over seven mile river. The road then
passed the river by a fordway, a short distance north of the
present bridge. The location, however, was made previous
to 1728, as the town that year raised a tax of £12 2s. 5d.
to defray their proportion of the expense, for the location.
In 1729, the first bridge was built over the river, the town
having been again presented or indicted, for the want of one.

Recently, the towns through which this road passes have
made many valuable improvements and alterations, to ac-
commodate the great amount of travel which passed over it,
and which had been gradually increasing for more than a
century, but the opening of the Western Railroad has de-
prived it of most of the public travel.
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About three miles of the Western Railroad is located in
Spencer, passing through the south-westerly part of the
town. A station for the accommodation of passengers and
freight is established upon it, being, however, more than two
miles from the central village.

The county road from Sturbridge to Worcester, called the
South County Road, was located through this town, on the
petition of John Newhall of Spencer, and others, in 1756.
There was formerly some public travel upon it, but the lo-
cation of the Stafford turnpike, and more recently, the es-
tablishment of the Western Railroad, has deprived it of all
public travel,

The county road from Hardwick to Worcester, called the
North County Road, was located in 1757, on the petition of
the celebrated Brigadier Timothy Ruggles, of Hardwick,
he being at that time one of the judges of the Court of
Common Pleas and General Sessions for the county of Wor-
cester, and for his special accommodation; the petition being
from himself to himself, could hardly fail of being success-
ful. In 1830, a new county road was made, commencing on
the North County Road at North Spencer, and passing
through the centre of Paxton to Worcester. Some consider-
able travel passes over this road.

Many of our town roads were not judiciously located,
passing over hills and ledges. The original proprietors of
the town, when they sold their lands, made no reserve for
roads, and the first settlers coming into an entire wilderness,
built their houses to accommodate their own interests or
caprice, without the least reference to the future wants of
the public. Their intercourse with each other, however,
compelled them to make some sort of paths or passage way
to each others’ residence, which were often perched upon
some of the highest hills. This was first done by marked
trees, next by cutting a few, that most obstructed a passage,
until at length, by long use and some trifling repairs, they

11
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received the name of roads. And as new settlers continued
to be added, until their humble dwellings became promiscu-
ously scattered over the town, new paths of the same char-
acter were made, or old ones continued, and these were all
the roads for the accommodation of the inhabitants, with the
exception of the great post road, for thirty years.

The first road made by legal authority was in 1750, and
when Leicester and Spencer were both one town. Immedi-
ately after Spencer became incorporated as a town, many
roads were located, and many alterations in the old trodden
paths were made, but in most cases, each was accommodated
with a road by his dwelling, and hence many are hilly and
circuitous to this day. Those recently constructed, exhibit
skill and judgment, as the people have become satisfied that
it is easier to pass around than over a steep hill. The whole
length of all the roads in this town is about one hundred
miles, and kept in repair by the inhabitants, exclusive of the
large bridges, and special grants, at an annual tax of 1200
dollars, or about twelve dollars per mile.

LOCALITIES.

The town abounds with hills, but none remarkably high,
or that merit a particular description, and few that retain
their ancient names. Moose Hill is situated partly in Lei-
cester, the town line running over its centre. This hill de-
rived its name, according to Mr. Whitney, “Dbecause of the
great number of those quadrupeds which were wont to har-
bor there.” Buck Hill is in the Northeast part of the town,
and probably derived its name from being a favorite resort
of thosc animals. Flat Hill is on land lately owned by Ca-
leb Sibley and others. Oak Hill on land lately owned by
Caleb M. Morse. Orchard Hill is on land owned by Russel
Sibley, so designated in somec ancient deeds. Bare Hill is
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situated southerly of the station on the Western Railroad,
and was so called because being destitute of trees at the first
settlement of the town. The highest land in the town is
supposed to be on the hill southerly of the house of Paul
Sibley.

There is a large and fertile meadow, containing about one
hundred acres, situated on Seven Mile River, called the
“ Great Meadow,” divided into lots and owned by various in-
dividuals. Branch Meadow is situated on Turkey Hill Brook,
in the northeast part of the town, and, of late, is partly in-
undated with water. Burnt Coat Meadow, the greatest part
of which is in Leicester, and Cranberry Meadow, in the south-
west part of the town, are now both overflowed, as reservoirs
for mills. Cedar Swamp is a tract containing about seventy-
seven acres, in the southeast part of the town, and when the
town was divided into lots between the original proprietors,
this was excluded from the division, and reserved in common
ownership ; now owned by the heirs of William Baldwin,
Esq. Hemlock Gutter is a ravine which crosses the great
post road cast of the house of Henry Kames, and was for-
merly a terror to the teamster, being difficult to pass; but
now rendered perfectly safe and easy for the passage of all
kinds of carriages. Alder Swamp is near the house of Josh-
ua Bemis.

PONDS.

The only natural pond wholly in Spencer, is Moose Pond,
sometimes called Whittemore Pond. This is a small collec-
tion of water, containing about sixty acres, about three-
fourths of a mile Northeasterly of the Congregational meet-
ing-house. It is supplied from springs arising from its im-
mediate margin, no streams of consequence flowing into it.
Browning’s Pond is a considerable sheet of water, not more
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than one-fourth of which is in Spencer. The remainder is
in Oakham. Another, called Johnson’s Pond, lies almost
wholly in North Brookfield, only about four or five acres be-
ing in Spencer.

STREAMS.

This town, being situated partly on the height of land, be-
tween the Atlantic ocean and the Connecticut River, contains
no large streams within its borders. Seven Mile River is
the largest. Taking its rise from Browning’s Pond, it runs
southerly about five miles, then southwesterly into Brookfield,
and discharges itself into Podunk Pond. Five Mile River
has its source principally in the southwesterly part of Oak-
ham. It runs southerly, on the western borders of Spencer,
into Johnson’s Pond, at the outlet of which there were mills.
From thence it soon passes into North Brookfield, and unites,
at East Brookfield, with Seven Mile River. There is a small
stream issuing from Shaw Pond in Leicester, which passes
into Spencer; also another, issuing from Turkey Hill Pond,
lying partly in Paxton and partly in Rutland, which also
passes into Spencer. These two streams unite in the easter-
ly part of the town, and running a southwesterly course,
unite with Seven Mile River near the house of Daniel Whit-
temore. Another stream issues from. Moose Pond, and pass-
ing through the Central Village, joins Seven Mile River in
the Great Meadow. Another arises from Cranberry Meadow,
and unites with Seven Mile River near the house of Mr.
Robinson. Another small brook empties into the last men-
tioned stream near the house of Mr. Butler. These aH
unite in forming the Seven Mile River, which is a branch of
the Chicopee, which empties into the Connecticut River. A
brook arises from Alder Swamp, and running a southeaster-
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ly course, receives the waters of Cedar Swamp, passes into
Leicester, and is one of the sources of French River. Some
of these streams are small, but they have been here deseribed
because mills have been erected on all of them, and various
kinds of business carried on by their operation.

POST OFFICES.

There are two post offices in the town ; one in the central
village, Luther Hill, Esq., Post Master ; the other, five miles
north of the centre, called North Spencer, Jonas Wilson,
Post Master.

TOWN HOUSE.

In 1839, the town erected a handsome building for the
transaction of the municipal and other public business. This
building is 50 by 40 feet and two stories high and cupola.
Lately a bell has been hung in the cupola, which is now
rung at noon and nine o’clock in the evening, and tolled at
the decease of a person, striking the age. The lower story
is divided into a number of apartments, one for the use of
town officers, one for the use of the Fire Department, ard
other rooms for various other uses. The Town Hall occu-
pies the whole of the upper story, being twelve feet in height,
and appropriated for the use of holding town meetings.
The Hall is also used for lectures, fairs, shows, religious
meetings, and occasionally for balls.

Near to the Town House is a commodious building, two
stories high, for the use of the Fire Engine, and the appa-
ratus belonging to the department.

11%



PRODUCTS OF INDUSTRY IN 1850.

NAME. BUSINESS, ) CAPITAL, RAW MATERIAL.| QUANTITIES. KINDS, VALUE,
A.T. & E. Jones, Boot Manufacturers, $10 000 $20 000 |29 000 pairs, |Boots, $10 000
Charles E. Denny, Boot Manufacturer, 10 000 20 C00 (27 Q00 ¢ Boots, 40 000
Josiah Green, Boot Manufactuarer, 11 500 24 000 (24000 ¢ ‘Boots, 43 000
Nathaniel Eldridge, |Cotton Manufacturer, 12 000 10 500 |200 000 yards, Cloth, 14 000
Grout, Bush & Co.,  Boot Manufacturers, 8 000 21 000 |25 000 pairs, ;Boots, 36 000
Watson, Bemis & Co., {Boot Manufacturers, 3 000 11 500 {15 000 ¢ Boots, 20 000
Isaac Prouty, Boot Manufacturer, 10 000 16 200 |28 000 ¢ Boots, 36 000
H.J. Lyman & Co., Satinet Manufacturers, 6 000 5 000 |80 000 yards, |Satinet, 20 000
Thomas H. Shorey, !Satinet Manufacturer, 5 000 7 GO0 {46 000 ¢ Satinet, 15 000
William Henshaw, Satinet Warp Manufacturer, 8 000 7 000 [234 000 ¢ Satinet Warp, 9 300
Myrick & Sugden, iWire Manufacturers, 7 000 6 5600 (25 tons, Fine Wire, 10 800
Liberty Irouty, Wire Manufacturer, 1 500 2100 |1 500 pounds, |Fine Wire, 3 300
Ziba Eaton, Scythe Manufacturer, 500 255 {120 dozen, Scythes, 1 200
Bemis & Hall, Powder Manufacturers, 3 000 8 350 |25 tonms, Powder, 45 000
Sullivan Hill, Chair Maker, 500 500 {2 500, Chairs, 1 500
Liberty Bowen, iCabinet Maker, 1 000 500 [Secretaries, &c., Bedsteads, &e.,| 1500
Winthrop Livermore, |Box Maker, 500 1500 {7 500, Boxes, 2 500
Reuel Jones, Box Maker, 800 350 |l 750, Boxes, 560
Worker in Tin, C Stove Funnels,
Samuel C. Marsh, O Sheet T opper, 550 650 Tin & Copper | 1000
and Sheet Iroz, Ware,&Trim’gs,

$340 660

00l

0 X YOLSIH -
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PRODUCTS OF INDUSTRY IN 1860.

NAME, BUSINESS. CAPITAL. RAW MATERIAL.| QUANTITIES, KINDS, VALUE.

Edward Proctor, Currier, $1 000 $15 960 15 00O sides, Upper Leather,| $18 300
Joseph W. Morse, Currier, 5 000 | 38 300 {12 000 ¢ Upper Leather,| 44 000
Grout, Bush & Co., Boots, 20 000 | 69 875 155 500 pairs, |Boots, 100 000
Isaac Prouty & Co., [Boots, 20 000 ! 101 500 90 000  « Boots, 150 000
Livermore & Drury, {Boots, 10 000 ‘, 45 000 40000 ¢«  {Boots, 66 000
A.T. & E. Jones, Boots, 30 000 93 000 (80 000 ¢« Boots, 140 000
Josiah Green & Co., Boots, 10 000 26 €00 24 000 ¢ Boots, 48 000
David Prouty & Co., {Boots, 18 000 44 100 |36 000 ¢ Boots, 66 000
C. & G. Watson, Boots, 26 000 25 600 25 000 ¢« Boots, 50 000
Samuel C. Marsh, Tin Smith, 3 000 685 1475
Myrick & Sugden, Wire Works, 25 000 26 900 |240 tons, Wire, 45 000
J. R. & J. E. Prouty, Wire Works, 30 000 19 800 Wire, 35 000
William Upham, Satinet, 5 000 16 400 |150 000 yards, |Satinet, 40 000
Hiram P. Dunton, Tailor, 1 500 3 000 5 000
Charles A. Bradley, Carriage Maker, 3 000 800 |24 carriages, |Wagons, 2 600
Winthrop Livermore, {Boot Boxes, 5 000 6 000 |24 000, Boot DBoxes, 7 680
Hiram Howe, Boot Boxes, 4 000 . 3 600 116 000, Boot Boxes, 5 800
Barnes & Mullet, Sash aund Blinds, 6 000 2 000 350 D., 200 W..;250 Blinds, 5 000
Thomas Clark, Saw Mill, 4 000 1 000 (200 000 feet, [Boards, 2 000
Joshua Bemis, Saw Mill, 1 5600 2 000 (250000 ¢ Boards, 3 000
Myrick & Sugden, Saw Mill, 2 000 1500 {200 000 ¢« Boards, 2 50u
1 '$837 855

1860, Capital Invested, - - $229 000 1860, Value of Production, - - $837 355

1850, " “ - - 98 850 1850, “ “ - - 340 660

$130 150 $496 695

*€I1O0NIIS 40 XFTOLSIH
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PRODUCTIONS OF AGRICULTURE IN 1860.

Farms 197 ; horses 344: oxen 222; cows 761 ; bushels
of wheat 352 ; rye 206; corn 8632: oats 11,142; potatoes
18,275 ; tons of hay 3,371. Taxable property in 1855,
$1,165,733. Taxable property in 1860, §1,286,333.

Besides those business operations above enumerated, there
are two satinet manufactories, one woolen manufactory not
now in operation, one boot manufactory, five saw mills,
three grist mills, and the usual proportion of mechanics.
Four stores for the sale of dry goods and groceries.

MINERALS.

Considerable quantities of upland iron ore were formerly
taken from this town, and used in the foundries in Stafford
and Brookfield, but is now nearly exhausted; and Professor
Hitchcock states that there is iron ore in some of our mead-
ows. Peat of good quality has been found, and probably
much of it abounds. Clay has been found in different parts
of the town ; sufficient quantities of brick were furnished
formerly to supply the demand for home market, and some
for other towns, but the rise in the price of wood, and the
large quantities furnished at East Brookfield, has much
diminished the business here. The town contains no granite
or other stone suitable for good building materials.

SOIL AND PRODUCTIONS.

Mr. Whitney says, this town is “an exceedingly fertile
township.” It contains a considerable quantity of excellent
lands for pasturing, grass and other agricultural purposes,
and many tons of beef, pork, butter, cheese, &ec., are annu-
ally produced, and formerly sent from town to market; but
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of late, by the introduction of manufactures, and consequent
increase of population, the home market furnishes a demand
for all our surplus produce. Many beautiful swells of land,
of great fertility, are interspersed through the town, pro-
ducing grass, Indian corn, barley, oats, potatoes, &c., in
abundance. There are some excellent meadows, especially
the Great Meadow on Seven Mile River, Mr. Cheney Sum-
ner’s on Moose Pond Stream, and other places. Much of our
swamps have become nearly worthless for grass, but lately
many of them have been eonverted into tillage lands
with quite satisfactory results. In the first settlement of
New England, it was considered indispensable that a few
acres of meadow or swamp should be allotted to each farm ;
and for a short time they afforded a considerable supply for
grass, but soon degenerated. The natural growth of trees
is the usual varieties of oak, walnut, chestnut, maple, birch,
hemlock, poplar, elm, &c. Our forests have also produced
much white pine, of good quality, for building materials.
The apple, pear and cherry, when properly -cultivated,
flourish well, but the circulio has killed our plums, and the
cold winters our peach trees. |

THE OLD CEMETERY.

It is probable that all who died here previous to 1740
were carried to Leicester for interment, the place for which
was In the immediate rear of the meeting house, which has
long since been disused for a burial place, and is partly cov-
ered by the meeting house and other buildings. In 1740,
Mr. Nathaniel Cunningham, who will hereafter be men-
tioned, conveyed two acres of land to the inhabitants of
Spencer, “ for the accommodation of a meeting house,” and
for other parochial and municipal purposes, more than half
of which was appropriated for a place to bury their dead.
In 1791 about half an acre was added for the same use, and
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in 1817 it was further enlarged by the addition of nearly
one and a half acre more. In 1857 it was found necessary
for further enlargement, and another half acre was added,
making in the whole not more than three acres. This con-
stituted the only burial place for considerably more than a
century, in the town, and nearly all who have died here
during that period, besides many from other towns, have
been interred in this place. At the time of the first pur-
chase, it was an entire forest, and the trees were not all
taken away for many years, and was not and could not be
divided into lots; there was no sexton, every family was
obliged to prepare the vaults for their own dead, and em-
ploy whom they could for that purpose, and of course the
graves were opened promiscuously, and in most gross dis-
order. Slabs of slate stone are erected at the graves of a
portion of the dead, “ with uncouth rhymes and shapeless
sculpture decked,” but the greater part have no memorial
to mark their resting place. In those parts of the grave
yard more recently purchased, the ground has been laid out
in ranges and divided into lots, with marble stones, and some
of them,clegantly wrought, are placed at the head of every
grave ; besides there are several handsome marble monu-
ments, which reflect honor both to the living and the dead.

¢ Through devious ways and paths unknown,
Through forests dark and drear,
Our fathers sought these mountain streams,
To plant their offspring here.

““ Through years of toil, through years of want,
They bravely struggled on;
And lo! the forest melts away ;
The sturdy oaks are gone.

¢ Their names are left for us to bear;
Their spirits, they are fled ;
On yonder hill their bones repose,
Among the slumbering dead.”
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PINE GROVE CEMETERY.

A few years since, a number of the citizens of this town
procured a commodious lot of land for a burial place. After-
wards they became a corporation, with all the necessary
officers and suitable by-laws, for more conveniently manag-
ing the concern. This lot is situated about a mile and a
half northwesterly of the central village, mostly on a plain,
at the margin of Seven Mile River, and named * Pine Grove
Cemetery.” It is scientifically laid out into lots, conforming
to the configuration of the ground, with carriage roads and
foot paths conveniertly located. Many lots are enclosed
with ornamental iron fences, and handsome marble monu-
ments erected, whose glistening white forms exhibit a grace-
ful appearance to the passenger. Many of our citizens have
become proprietors, and bury their dead in this peaceful
resting place.

CONTAGIOUS DISEASES.

Those terrible diseases, the cholera and yellow fever, have
never visted this town, and but few cases of the small pox,
four only of which proved fatal. Elijjah Tucker died May
11, 1777, aged 27 ; Eli Hatch, January 10, 1836, aged 46 ;
George Maddock, May 9, 1849, and Angelina A. Powers,
daughter of Mr. Levi Powers, January 10, 1853, aged 19,
all of the small pox. The measles, mumps and chicken
pox, occasionally make their appearance here, as they do in
all other places, but generally of a mild type, especially with
young people, and seldom prove fatal. Two singular cases
happened here in 1842. Mr. Elias Adams and his wife Han-
nah, both lived to old age, he 77, and she 74, without taking
the measles, when they were both attacked with that disor-
der about the same time. He died Iebruary 23, and she
March 9, of that year.
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EPIDEMIC DISEASES.

The dysentery and scarlet fever, or canker rash, have
each, at different periods, prevailed, and sometimes quite ex-
tensively, especially among children. In 1778, the dysen-
tery spread throughout a large part of the town. Many
families lost more .or less of their young children, frequent-
ly two or more within a few days of each other. A few in-
stances only can be given, which will be sufficient to show
the ravages made in families by these disorders,

This year (1778) two children of Capt. John Draper died,
one on the twenty-fourth, and one the twenty-seventh of
August. Mr. James Draper lost two, one the fourteenth
and one the fifteenth day of September.

1792. The dysentery again prevailed. Maj. Isaac Lamb
had two die, being all he had, one on the second and the
other the fourth of December.

1795. The scarlet fever visited the town, and Maj.
Lamb’s family was again smitten, and once more two chil-
dren were stricken down, leaving him a second time lonely
and childless.

1802. Another disastrous year by the dysentery. The
family of Ezekiel Newton suffered most severely, losing five
children in five days, two dying on the twelfth of Novem-
ber, one on the fifteenth, one the sixteenth and one the sev-
enteenth of the same month. 1841 was the memorable
year of the dysentery, forty persons dying of this disorder,
mostly in the central village, eight adults and thirty-two
children, being emphatically a “ slaughter of the innocents.”
“In Rama was there a voice heard, lamentation and weep-
ing, and great mourning. Rachel weeping for her children,
and would not be comforted, because they were not.” A se-
vere drought continued through the warm season of the
year, and except two or three showers in August, there was
scarcely any rain for four months, that is, through the
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months of June, July, August and September. The water
in the wells failed, or became low, stagnant and impure,
which was supposed to increase the virulence of the disorder.
The first victim was a child who died the fifth of July, and
the deaths continued to take place, averaging nearly one ev-
ery other day, until the first day of October, when the last,
Mrs. Willard Rice, died. Death stalked fearfully in our
midst, and on every side, and the scene became truly appall-
ing. But the destroying angel at length sheathed his sword.
At the burial of Mrs. Rice, October third, a powerful storm
of rain commenced, which soon became snow, and continued
through the night and a considerable portion of the next
day. This put a period to the disorder. No more were ta-
ken sick, and all the sick immediately recovered.

In the summer of 1843, a severe influenza universally
extended throughout the United States, visiting every fami-
ly and nearly every individual, leaving many in a poor state
of health, and carrying away some aged people and others,
who were in a feeble state. Mr. Caleb Sibley died of this
disorder, in December of that year, aged 71.

Consumption, the great destroyer of human life, formerly
made havoc among our people, sometimes sweeping away
whole families. Out of eight children of Capt. Wilbur
Watson, seven fell victims to consumption. Mr. Simeon
Wood lost six out of eight children, by the same disease.
Nathaniel Williams, having six or seven children, all but one
died of consumption. A sad breach was often made in other
families, and sometimes one or both parents were cut down.
For the last quarter of a century, it has been much less prev-
alent, and few comparatively die of it. In conclusion of
this subject, Spencer may be called a healthy town: many of
the inhabitants live to old age.

12
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SLAVERY.

It is true that slavery once existed in Massachusetts, but
never by positive authority, but by force of circumstances.
At the time our ancestors came to this country, it does not
appear there was any law in England, either allowing or
prohibiting slavery, consequently individuals could purchase
and hold slaves, there or here, if they chose. The first set-
tlers at Plymouth and Massachusetts, were entirely opposed
to it, but as there was no law against it, negroes, kidnapped
from Africa, and Indians from South America and the West
India Islands, were brought to our shores by unscrupulous
traders, and sold to some of our people. This barbarous
traffic being contrary to the principles and policy of the peo-
ple generally, soon arrested the attention of government,
and as early as 1641, the General Court passed an act,
wherein they say, “ It is ordered by this court, that there
shall never be any bond slavery, villanage or captivity
among us,” &c. Still, however, English ships, and possibly
some of our own ships, continued this most odious traffic.
And while this was done by the connivance, if not by the
authority of England, Massachusetts was powerless to pre-
vent it. However, in 1666, the General Court passed an-
other act, as follows: ¢ The General Court, conceiving them-
selves bound by the first opportunity, to bear witness against
the heinous and crying sin of man stealing, as also to pre-
scribe such timely redress for what is past, and such a law
for the future, as may sufficiently deter all others belonging
to us, to have to do in such wvile and most odious course, ab-
horred by all good men ;" and ordered all slaves thus brought
here, to be sent back to Guinea. If this law was carried into
rigid effect, it would, of course, effectually stop this wvile
course; but whether it did, or did not, slavery existed still,
by those already here.

At length, either by the unpopularity or unprofitableness
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of the business, or some other cause, many began to liberate
their slaves, but having been so long under a state of sub-
jection, were become unfitted to provide for themselves, and
they became a nuisance in society. And now the General
Court found it expedient to reverse or change their course of
legislation with slavery, and in 1703, it was forbidden for
any person to emancipate his slaves, unless he gave security
for their support, should they become chargeable. Slavery
in Massachusetts, was of the mildest type of servitude, and
the word slave was an offensive term, and they were gener-
ally called servants. They were but one grade below a hired
laborer. The same roof sheltered the master and the ser-
vant, and both often fed at the same table, and they were
intrusted with responsible transactions. Their marriages
were not always executed in orthodox form, but sometimes
took place, very much like their white brethren. We find it
recorded in our town records, “ February 19, 1778, Saunl and
Dinah, negro servants of John Sumner, Esq., were married.”
But few in Spencer were owners of this kind of property.
Rev. Mr. Eaton held two or three, one named Pomp. John
Sumner’s Saul and Dinah have been mentioned. John
Elliot, Esq., had a man named Sloane, who issaid to have
planted the large elm now standing before the tavern house
of William C. Watson. John White, senior, had a female
slave, named Zilpah. By a sham marriage, Sloane and
Zilpah were allowed to cohabit together. Mr. Isaac Jenks
had a man by the name of Hendrick. Rev. Mr. Pope had
a female named Naomi. Mr. Robert Luther, a girl named
Fanny. After emancipation was fully established, some
eontinued voluntarily to remain with their former owners.
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REMARKABLE PHENOMENA OF NATURE.

The following occurrences in the natural world are of a
general nature, and took place more or less in every part of
New England, and of course must have been seen and felt
in this town, and they are inserted as interesting memoranda
for local, as well as general history.

GREAT SNOW.

The winter of 1717, is remarkable for what was long after
remembered as the ¢ Great Snow.” On the 20th of Febru-
ary, the snow commenced falling, and continued through
the night. The next day, it increased to a most violent
storm, so that all communication between neighbors was
nearly impossible, and for some hours were unable even to
pass across the street. On the 24th of the same month,
was another furious snow storm, which, adding to the former,
produced a most extraordinary and unprecedented amount
of snow. The churches were blocked up, and no meetings
were held throughout the country. Cattle, sheep and swine,
were buried. Great numbers of cattle died, and some were
found standing dead on their legs, as if alive, after "the
snow had melted away. One man lost above 1100 sheep ;
two, however, were found alive, after being twenty-eight
days under sixteen feet of snow, having fed upon the wool
of their dead companions. Swine and poultry shared the
same fate, a few being preserved in the same remarkable
manner. Cattle were seen walking upon the frozen crust
of snow, twelve feet above the ground, browsing upon the
fruit trees. Small, Jow houses, were buried so deep, that
the tops of their chimneys were not visible. I remember
when a lad, hearing an old lady state, (who could remember
the time), that in some cases, people in leaving their houses,
were obliged to make their exit through the chamber
windows.
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EARTHQUAKES.

October 29, 1729, in the evening, was the Great Earth-
quake, so called, being the most remarkable that ever hap-
pened in New England. In the county of Essex, the earth
burst open in many places, from which were thrown large
quantities of earth and stones, cellar walls fell in, and tops
of chimneys were shaken off. November 18, 1755, another
memorable earthquake in New England, though not so vio-
lent as the former, yet, in many places, stone walls were
thrown down, and tops of chimneys shaken off.

COLD WINTER.

The winter of 1780, is remarkable for its severity. The
snow was of great depth, accompanied with almost insup-
portable cold weather, so that for six weeks, while the sky
was clear, and the sun shining in full splendor, was yet
unable to thaw the snow in any degree, on the south side of
dwelling houses. Roads were not broken out, and most of
the intercourse among the people was by ¢ snow shoes,” or
hand sleds, on the frozen crust of snow. The weather was
so intensely cold, that some people were unable to get to
their wood lots for fuel, and were obliged to cut down their
fruit trees for that purpese.

DARK DAY.

May 19, 1780, was distinguished as the “dark day.” In
most parts of the country, where the darkness prevailed, it
was so great, that persons were unable to read common
print, determine the time of day by their clocks or watches,
or manage their domestic business, without the help of addi-
tional light. Candles were lighted up in their houses, * the
birds sung their evening songs, disappeared and became si-

lent; fowls retired to their roosts; the cocks were crowing
12+
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around as at break of day; objects could be distinguished
but a little distance; and every thing bore the appearance
and gloom of night.”” The succeeding night was as propor-
tionably dark as the day. No object could be discerned,
even when coming in contact with it, and those who were
so unfortunate as to be from home, were guided in their re-
turn to their dwellings, solely by the sense of feeling.

SOLAR ECLIPSE.

In June, 1806, there was a total eclipse of the sun. The
sky was clear, and presented a fairopportunity for observing
the phenomenon. At the total obscuration of the sun’s
disk, which continued about two minutes, all objects appear-
ed to be shrouded in dense gloom, causing a sensible depres-
sion of the spirits. Fowls, in many places, retired to their
roosts, labor was suspended, nature, for a moment, seemed
to have come to a pause, while all eyes were directed, stead-
fastly, to the sky. But the moment the moon emerged the
least possible space from the face of the sun, permitting a
single ray of light to reach the earth, the scene instantly
changed, the grass and the flowers assumed their original
hues, and all nature, by the contrast, seemed arrayed in
unusual beauty and splendor.

HIGH WIND.

September 25, 1815, this part of Massachusetts experi-
enced the most powerful wind that has yet occurred in the
present century. It commenced late in the morning, and
increased rapidly in violence, so that it soon became a com-
plete hurricane. Vast quantities of valuable wood and tim-
ber were prostrated, small buildings blown down, and others,
in many cases, seriously wrecked. Indian corn and other
vegetables levelled with the earth, fruits torn from the
trees, and much damage done to the former.
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COLD SUMMERS.

The whole of 1816, was an ungenial year, especially the
summer, which was unusunally cold, producing deadly frosts,
even in July. There was scarcely one bushel of sound In-
dian corn raised in the town, and not half of the usual crop
of grass. The prospects of a short supply of fodder for the
coming winter being so imminent, that good milch cows
were sold in the autumn, for eight dollars each. During
the summer meagre famine began to stare the people in the
face, but happily averted, by unusual good crops of English
grain and potatoes. 1817 was likewise a cold year, but
less in Massachusetts than the previous year. These cold
seasons extended to the state of Maine, producing there al-
most a total failure, both years.

GENERAL WASHINGTON.

In 1789, being the first year of General Washington’s
Presidency, he made a tour through Massachusetts, and
some other of the eastern states, and October 22 of that
year, he passed the night at Jenks’ tavern. As but few
knew of the coming event, consequently but few had the
pleasure of seeing him. I remember the time very well,
being then nearly twelve years of age, and I also remember
hearing one of my neighbors, who saw him, give a descrip-
tion of his appearance, it being plain and unadorned, but
venerable and dignified. The landlady, Mrs. Jenks, was
often afterwards heard to relate, with harmless pride, the
remark that the General made, the next morning at break-
fast, ¢ Madam, your bread is very beautiful.”
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COMMITTEE OF CORRESPONDENCE.,

During the agitations and struggles, previous to the rev-
olution, most of the public officers were found on the side of
loyalty, supporting power and prerogative, and the people
had withdrawn all confidence from them. As there were
few post offices at that time, and the postmasters were gen-
erally tories, the correspondence of the whigs was subjected
to a system of rigid espionage; they had therefore, to seek
for other than the usual channels of conveying the necessa-
ry information among the people. Boston was the head
quarters of the opposition to the arbitrary measures of
royal authority, and there most of the great plans were
matured, and thence sent abroad among the people, the in-
fluence of which, like a mighty wind, moved the whole
country. It became necessary that there should be some
confidential persons appointed in every town, to whom such
communications might be made with safety and effect.
Hence originated the “Committees of Correspondence.”
They were composed of some of the most influential persons
among the whigs. These officers were appointed in Boston
and other large towns, in the earliest part of the political
contest, but were not general, until about 1774. They be-
came a very important means of enlightening the public
mind, of devising plans, of developing the physical resources
of the couniry, and of finally carrying to maturity the
events of the revolution. In many cases, they had concur-
rent jurisdiction with the selectmen of the towns. They
were soon recognized by the legislature as of legal and
official authority, and important duties were devolved upon
them, by the General Court. They were, in fact, the
directors and managers of the great political drama, which
was in preparation for general action throughout the coun-
try, and we owe much to this little band of patriots, who
spent many anxious days and nights, who freely contributed
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their treasures, and many of them their blood, to effect and
secure to themselves and their children the blessings of lib-
erty. They were elected in the several towns in the same
manner as other municipal officers. The following are the
names of the persons, who were chosen in this town, during
the several years of the revolution.

1774, John Cunningham, Oliver Watson, Asa Baldwin.

1775. Oliver Watson, Moses Livermore, John Muzzy.

1776. Asa Baldwin, Jeremiah Whittemore, Joshua Dra-
per, David Prouty, Knight Sprague, Benjamin Gleason.

1777. Asa Baldwin, Jeremiah Whittemore, Knight
Sprague, Joshua Draper, Benjamin Gleason.

1778. Joshua Lamb, John Muzzy, Joshua Barton, John
Worster, John Watson.

1779. James Livermore, Benjamin Gleason, John Wor-
ster, John Muzzy, Jacob Upham.

1780. John Muzzy, Johnson Lynde, John Sumner, Ben-
jamin Bemis, Jonas Muzzy. . '

1781. John Sumner, Jonas Muzzy, Johnson Lynde, Jere-
miah Whittemore, Nathaniel T. Loring.

1782. Asa Baldwin, Jeremiah Whittemore, Capt. Ezekiel
Newton.

1783. James Hathaway, Jonas Muzzy, Isaac Morgan.

PROPERTY OF OUR ANCESTORS.

By a culpable neglect on the part of some of our former
town officers, the records of the valuation of the estates, and
taxes of the inhabitants, have not been preserved until about
the year 1800. Consequently, there are no data, by which
a correct estimation may be formed of the wealth or relative
amount of property of th